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MILESTONE
2igw

Listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

REBBAXHMERLED

()
1961 1994

b Van Shung Chong Group was
established and engaged in the
import trade of construction steels

BIRESBEMKY - CFEEMENE S

VSCEll

— Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&HAIEKRAR AR

Set up “Leisure Plus” brand and
started to provide one-stop and
high-quality lifestyle outlet for
sanitary wares

BISLIFI IR b - B — S B
BARALEE

1997

P Set up Building Products
Distribution Business

DAVEE £V RESANE

Started property investment 4
business by acquiring “The Point
Jing’an” in Shanghai, China. After
renovation and upgrading, the
whole building was sold to Mary
Kay (China) Co., Ltd. in 2014 and
renamed as Mary Kay Building

BREBMLRPELEENER
FMM%%%%F%E%%
S %ﬁxﬁm
2o14¢ﬂjﬁ%ﬂzﬂ%fﬂ< =

o

p Opened Shanghai
offices to support the
continuous growth
and development of
Steels and Building
Products businesses

S BB ERARES
S N AR S
BERELAE

Acquired China CTS Building 4
(located at Changshou Road, Putuo

District,

was renamed as Central Park ¢ Putuo
in 2014 after renovation and sold
to BlackRock in 2017

WM RTE EEERBERSE S
FIRKE
2014 F % A EE ¢ L - WK
2017 FHNETEKE

2011

The 50th anniversary 4|
of the establishment
of the Group

AEBERI R+ EAF

'(

VSCTIRE
5. paratirerso 4
L2 S B R

¢

Shanghai, China) and

RETBINSER  #

2013 2014

Acquired Metropark Serviced Apartment <
which is located at Dongzhuanbang
Road, Changning District, Shanghai,
China, upgraded the whole building
into luxury-style residential building,
renamed as Park Lane in 2015 and was
sold in 2017

WEMATR L ERERRBELEBRNES
BEAE  BEREFHEAABNEE
R2015FHH ARHFTEWR 2017 FHE
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from Van Shung Chong Holdings
Limited to Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited to
clearly denote the Group’s main
businesses concentrating in
Yangtze River Delta Region and
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area

Changed the company name 1

Acquired the office building
project of Shanghai Electric
Group located at the junction
of Zhangyang Road and
Gushan Road in Pudong New
Area, and changed its name
to Central Park ® Pudong after
renovation

AR FATE SR EIEE R EARA AN
RESHAIERARDA - UEEE
B bt R B A S B ) B TS P R
ZAREBRXEE

Ui B R 70 R SR [ SR 45 0K FL
IWERREN L EEREER
EBEE B SCERER AT
FBIE o R

O

PREKE

2014
(o)

Co-invested with Singapore NatSteel to establish an
offsite Automated Rebar Processing and Assembly
Plant - “TVSC Construction Steel Solutions Ltd.”
in Tsing Yi, Hong Kong. Wholly acquired TVSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited and renamed as
VSC Construction Steel Solutions Limited in 2018

ER T NI (> % NatSteel 68 * RBEBBFXRENLBZINE L
SHAR N TAZEE M — [TVSC Construction Steel Solutions
Ltd.] > R 20184 &= & W BE[TVSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited| : WA EIFE & AIVSC Construction
Steel Solutions Limited |

I (T i
i um‘uWwW i

MWH ju

l 4 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&HAIEKRAR AR

2018

[ Worked with a leading sovereign
wealth fund to acquire Longyu
International Plaza (located at
Hengfeng Road, Jing’an District,
Shanghai, China) and was renamed
as Central Park e Jing'an after
renovation

H-FALTEMEES A FRBLR
B LR 18 S R R T B R m
B B BERERBRTIEBE « &
@

Worked with a leading private 4
equity fund to acquire Great Wall
Financial Building (located at Dapu
Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai,
China). After renovation, the
building was renamed as Central
Park e Huangpu

HE-HRBANLEREES S FERE
R EEEERRITERNERS
MAE - KELBHHNEZREZRT
FBIE o TR

Installed solar photovoltaic system on
the rooftops of the offsite Automated
Rebar Processing and Assembly Plant
in Tsing Yi, Hong Kong to increase the
use of renewable energy and reduce
carbon emissions

REEB KGN B B IN T A5
FEZERGREZERS - AEMAIBA
BERRER - WRAHREER

2024

The 30th anniversary <
of the listing on the
Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong

REEBMERXSMER LT
304

Listing on SEHK

“ZMN

ANNIVERSARY
REBBZF LH30EF
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny*

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Yinquan (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny*

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Xu Lin Bao (Chairman)
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Mr. Li Yinquan

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny*

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny*

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Ms. Wong Yuen Sze

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Yuen Sze
AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants and
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

* retired on 18th August 2023
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corporation Limited
Chong Hing Bank Limited

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
The Bank of East Asia, Limited

United Overseas Bank Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Rooms 11083-05, 11th Floor

East Town Building

41 Lockhart Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Website . https://www.hkshalliance.com
E-mail Address : enquiry@hkshalliance.com

SHARE REGISTRARS AND TRANSFER OFFICES
Principal Registrar

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor North

Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

1001

CORPORATE INFORI\/IATION

NEER

FEERRIT

PEIERTT(BR)BRAT
ZBIRITRDBR AT
PEERRITROBRAF
BIERTTAR AR
RITRITARAF
PEIERITROHBERAF
EBBRRTERAT
EERERBERRITROARAE
RERTAR AT
RERITAERAF

AMEE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

BERTEERMH

BABET

FRre B 41 5%

R K=

11 1103-05 %

494k . https://www.hkshalliance.com
B I enquiry@hkshalliance.com

BROBFERELE
TEBFRE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor North

Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

EBBESE

BN AFAEREBAT
BT

SRR 1835

BB L7
1712-1716 5548

IR A L8R

1001
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HIGHLIGHTS

S

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31st March

MBRE
BE=A=1—FIFE

For the year ended

31st March
BE-A=t—-HLEE
2024 2023
—E-NF ===
HK$ million HK$ million Change
BEET AEET BE)
Revenue WA 2,303.2 2,658.5 -13.4%
Gross profit E A 384.1 352.0 +9.1%
Operating profit K F 199.9 180.8 +10.6%
Profit for the year FEm A 77.0 82.2 -6.3%
Profit attributable to owners RATHEB A
of the Company FE(R 7 A 78.8 82.8 -4.9%
Basic earnings per ordinary BREBRERRR
share (HK cents) GBI 12.31 12.94 -4.9%
Interim dividend per ordinary BREBRP RS
share (HK cent(s)) GBI 1.50 1.00 +50%
Proposed final dividend per BReREBER
ordinary share (HK cent(s)) REARR B (L) 1.00 1.50 -33.3%
Gross profit margin ER & 16.7% 13.2% +3.5p.p. B E
Operating profit margin £ I K 8.7% 6.8% +1.9p.p. B
Net profit margin T i A 3.3% 3.1% +0.2p.p.BANE
REVENUE BY LINES OF BUSINESS RIBEKZUA

REVENUE BY LINES OF BUSINESS

BIREHZIA

7 §5 R N TR

Steels Distribution and Processing Business

Building Products Distribution Business

I BEEM KL ST

Property Investment and Fund Management Business

FHERERESELEH

o

14.8% «

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#&Ht AR AR AR



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEMBRE

AT RERBBEERARAR(ARTE])REHKE
RE)(FREAEE DR TSR FREZEEZEEM

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated
financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries HRTME -
(collectively, the “Group”) for the respective years as

hereunder stated.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT mEBERR

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31st March 2024 | 31st March 2023 31st March 2021 31st March 2020
BZ-E-_m§ | HE-EIC== BE-Z--F i
=A=t+-H E=Er=H = =A=1+-H
ILEE ILEE ILEE
HK$'000 HK$000 HKS 000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Revenue ON 2,303,176 2,658,481 2,807,900 2,073,632 2,325,031
Operating profit mEE 199,943 180,778 156,992 96,000 4812
Net finance costs ENBER (91,339) (76,097) (61,436) (62,914) (78,400)
Share of results of ElhRERENER
investments accounted for IREERE
using equity method - net —F8 (22,750) (11,297) (12,550) (19,724) (12,947)
Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ BRETERATEH /(&) 85,854 93,384 83,006 13,362 (86,535)
Income tax expense s (8,844) (11,201) (19,567) (9,539) (1,616)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREA/(B8) 77,010 82,183 63,439 3,823 (88,151)
Attributable to: FEMG
- Owners of the Company ~ARAHERA 78,782 82,846 65,503 1,673 (90,309)
- Non-controlling interests —JeiEf R (1,772) (663) (2,064) 2,150 2,158
77,010 82,183 63,439 3,823 (88,151)
Dividends e 15,992 16,010 19,212 6,412 —
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF mEMBRRE

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at As at As at As at As at

31st March 2024 | 31st March 2023 31st March 2022  31st March 2021 31st March 2020

Z R-ZZE-EF

=A=t-H

HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$000

FET FET FET FET FET

Non-current assets FRDEE 1,703,682 1,798,799 1,966,749 1,881,726 1,792,413

Current assets MEEE 946,220 1,158,622 1,401,472 1,079,044 940,636

Current liabilities mEBE (1,157,479) (1,713,835) (1,374,122) (1,065,294) (857,014)

Non-current liabilities ERBAE (450,564) (170,933) (879,871) (886,968) (959,267)

Net assets EEFE 1,041,859 1,072,653 1,114,228 1,008,508 916,768

Equity: 1

Share capital AR 63,860 64,041 64,041 64,123 64,123

Reserves i 876,714 897,108 926,794 823,598 741,722
Capital and reserves attributable A2 A A EIEREA

to owners of the Company REE 940,574 961,149 990,835 887,721 805,845

Non-controlling interests FEERIME R 101,285 111,504 123,393 120,787 110,923

Total equity BREE 1,041,859 1,072,653 1,114,228 1,008,508 916,768

2023/24 Annual Report | F ik 9 4
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITREMES

Strategic Planning and
Swift Adaptation to Facilitate
Business Transformation

E iR B E 2
MEREHITHE

BB ER T RER

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

wEiEE

2

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present you the audited consolidated results for the year
ended 31st March 2024 (“FY2023/24” or the “Year”).

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE#SEAIERABR AR
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During the last few years, we saw an increasingly dynamic
yet unpredictable operating environment, signified by rising
geopolitical risks, frequent disruptions in the global supply
chain, and diverging performances in the global economy.
Businesses need to learn and adapt to ensure business
sustainability, and that also applies to our operations in Hong
Kong and Shanghai. In Hong Kong, despite the expedition
for approval of public works and infrastructure projects,
there were more reservations from the private sector due to
the weakened traffic data, changing consumption habits,
and dropping property valuation. That has certainly raised
questions over the order visibility for our Steels Distribution
and Processing Business and Building Products Distribution
Business. In Shanghai, confidence in property investment
may take time to rebuild, and the new supply of commercial
property may also interrupt the existing equilibrium in
absorption and rent rates.

Nonetheless, we believe we have done well against the
challenges, and we are delighted to report another set
of satisfactory results. In FY2023/24, although revenue
decreased slightly by 13.4% year-on-year as a result of the
decrease in average steel price and the absence of one-
off milestone fee income, our gross profit increased by 9.1%
year-on-year to HK$384.1 million, driven by favourable steel
price movement and rising contributions from our Steels
Processing Business. Even with the hawkish rise in interest
rate causing the surge in finance cost by HK$15.4 million,
we were able to maintain profitability during the Year, with
profit attributable to owners of the Company reporting a
modest decrease of 4.9% year-on-year to HK$78.8 million.

To celebrate the resilient performance and our 30th listing
anniversary on the Stock Exchange, we recommend the
declaration of a final dividend of HK1.00 cent per ordinary
share. Together with our interim dividend of HK1.50 cents
per ordinary share, this would bring our annual dividend
payout ratio to 20.3%, highlighting our commitment to
shareholders’ return.

We also made great strides across business segments over
the last few years. For example, we were able to power
through the initial skepticism on our Steels Distribution
and Processing Business, as we continue to see growing
adoption for our cut-and-bend services across public and
private sectors in Hong Kong. This Year in particular, we
recorded a significant 48.4% increase in delivery quantity,
supported by our position as one of the largest as well
as one of the only five approved steel reinforcing bar
prefabrication yards in Hong Kong. The expanding revenue
contribution from servicing is also boosting our segment
profitability, giving us stronger operating cash flow to
prepare for the future.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FTEHMES

BERF  WEBUARR TR - 2IRH ST @A
o MERBERERRRE  SLEREAERE
EREBEERNDHETAIEN - —REEHFR2
MIRBENEE - AEREB A FERE - MEM
EEBEMNLSNEBTRAZNE - FAMNSIE
MEAKTREMEZEBNOFEEEAMER &
LA S AAmEZEEEEEARRLD BEBE
HEANEHEBETRETEEN  MERTE
R E AR STHOERAR o 15 RE IR 3 AP 8 #5 00 3K S pn
TEBURBREM D HEBOR EREMEFRKT
—EXE LBmEITH  REEHFEHENEDL
HFREE - ML EAYEHEIABEITHIR
BRAAEFE KT T & -

REWL - BRMVDBAZSEY Flke; - B—X
RHTEARENEE - — 2= /"N F  H
PRIREFIIER TRARRD TEEMEERRE
MEEN—XEBERRA - BROHKARLLEHT
B13.4% - A SEREFNMHEERED I
KB EIN TEBIURA BRI - HAINE
AR IE R 91% £ 384.1 B & BT ° FEHMEKIF
BAEYHERARLIEINI54EEETHER
T BAMERETFEEERFAFIKTE - KA EH
BABERFFLESHMTH®RLI0% E78.8FEB
5T o

REVHPREOEERRULERRZA EH =1
BF - ZAZRERAPBE SR EBR1.0078
fill o 0 £ HAAR B B E B AR 1.50 8l - RAIA
FEKRBLLEET20.3% » B—RRBHFEKRR
(o] 3 ) BX 455 B AR o

EBL RABEBFNARETREHER - flan
BAIS A TS L8 0 SR I T X TSRO EE S
FHE BB S EBQHLAIE B KRB HFHY)
EIME R IRTS - ERBBZ AN TAEIN TR
— BEATHERRIUMMBARIS 2 —  BAX
FENREEBINARILINA.4% - BEERBKRAT
BATE R - A D JFBEAKEREA - 5
Y2 ERERITEDEAARFALZ -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITREMES

For our Building Products Distribution Business, we were
able to sustain the impact of COVID-19, and further
expanded our offerings with the addition of smart toilet
solutions. We also participated in major projects, including
Hong Kong Airport, Four Seasons Hotel, and various
commercial and residential developments, etc.

As for our Property Investment and Fund Management
Business, we changed our investment style and strategy
in recent years, pursuing a more light-asset approach that
would avoid excessive gearing, finance costs, and business
risks, which could be highly beneficial given the high
interest rate environment. Our role also evolved from a pure
investor and expert in revitalisation, to a manager that is
capable of handling daily operations, property positioning,
marketing, and leasing activities. During the Year, in view of
the changing market dynamic and pressure on absorption
rate, we refined the positioning and leasing strategy of
Central Park ® Huangpu, specifically targeting the medical
and healthcare vertical. Riding on its comprehensive
conferencing and F&B facilities, as well as its proximity to
Grade A tertiary hospitals, our change in approach saw an
increase in occupancy rate from medical-related enterprises,
with one of our major tenants even setting up a medicine
innovation hub in the building. We believe by focusing on
industry verticals, we would be able to form clusters, drive
occupancy and rent rates, and offer more customised
services to our tenants.

We also took various measures to improve our financial
position and cash flow, as we understand financial stability
and liquidity would be the key to safeguarding our business
from further market shocks. Over the last few years, we took
proactive measures to streamline our business composition,
such as disposing our steel recycling and engineering
plastics businesses. This Year, to ease the impact of the
high interest rate environment, we used some of our cash to
repay our borrowings, and prudently managed our working
capital, leading to a notable drop of HK$173.8 million in total
borrowings. As a result, our gearing ratio decreased from
57.0% to 54.2% for the Year.

We believe all these achievements certainly showcase our

agility and execution, while giving us much optimism going
forward.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHAIEKRAR AR

BEEMBOHEEB T E - HIPIEEHAZ COVID-19
RENTE  WE-FEATHRMANERES @ 3
ATERICEFRBATER - HPTF2ET ZEX
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FIEEETHEIER o

EREMNFEHEREMESESEY - HFVE
RO TIRERR KR UEEEENT A2 HE
ZERE - FLBEBENEE - MBRANER
R - EESNERET/RMAGFRTHBAES -
S—hE BfNASHtBENEREENEE
FEER - BERERRERAESEMEEML - &
HANEERHNEEA - ERANFENTHEL
BANRTI5HERBEAR  RMSESRE T
FBIE » EOBMEM R BHERE  2EEMREMT
ENERLERREANIO=FEENES - F
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BREABECENABTER LA  RANTEEP
Z—BEEWMEARL T EERIF L - RAEE
BERFIERNEETTE - BRMABENEMERTK
EXR  —HARGEAXREESKT 57
EIEESRE P HREZ A BN ERCIRT

BRI [ERF - FRPIEREN T SRR ok &= R MRV BA RS
MRFIRER  WEBREOFBRESRIIE -
BEXBE—SIMBFE - BEHTF - AN
TEMRIEE S22 - a0 B & T P9 9 8 35 121 L A0
TREBBEK -AFE  AEESFNERENE
2. PHREEELEEs  THRTHE»BEEE
BEE BEBTERMABRD1738FESET -
EEBEBLLRMEEFNSTON NEEAFERN
54.2% °

FELRBERERR T RANRENNTH BEE
ZNRBRFHRLBHBEERFE



Looking ahead, we remain confident in the prospects of
our businesses. In Hong Kong, the recent property-cooling
measures should bring direct incentives for homebuyers
and property developers. Meanwhile, the introduction of the
Admission Scheme for Mainland Talents and Professionals
should also rejuvenate the local job and investment market
and bring additional demand for local real estate and
consumable products. Compounded by the proposed
increase in overall public housing supply over the coming
five years, as well as other road and infrastructure projects
such as the Northern Metropolis, we foresee a solid order
book to our Steels Distribution and Processing Business and
Building Products Distribution Business.

In Mainland China, we continue to have faith in Shanghai's
strategic role as the gateway to the bigger Chinese market.
With the Central Government taking multiple measures to
stablise consumption and investment appetite, such as
the significant reduction of the 5-year loan prime rate, the
easing visa policy, or the financing and land-use support to
foreign investors, we believe Shanghai will enjoy an increase
in property leasing and transactions, and in turn, supporting
a higher rental income and medium-to-long-term gain in the
future.

We will also maintain our prudent financial management
strategy, so as to minimise unnecessary exposure and
reduce relevant finance cost.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude towards our Board members, business
partners, staff, customers, shareholders, and other
stakeholders for your continued support and understanding. |
believe the worst is behind us, and | look forward to continue
working with you, and bringing the Group to new heights.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June 2024

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FTEHMES

BAIEEB A SERATTMED - REBTEMI B &
HEMETENRETREEHSEBESE X
BRETREAFAE 1B ERETSEHE
REAURIREMS - YRR MNEHERHE
M KER—EIEE o I EBUF AR L FH 8RR
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ItEHMEEE - RAEERMANME D HREMTE
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EXHE e

REIRREESE - JAAIRA LB KA RE L BR
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HAFHEREENE HEBRFRER - LRI
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LENFEHER S IBEREFIEM - B XHE
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HEMAR - RMEBEREREROYBERS
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE

l16

BERE W RO

Expanding Solutions and

Rising Market Penetration to
Solidify Competitive Advantages
UEEEERMEBKES

As the pandemic became under control in early 2023, the
global economy picked up its recovery momentum, with
high hopes on retail consumption and project investment.
Yet, the initial positivism shortly faded, as stringent
monetary policies, interest rate hikes, weak global trade,
and fluctuating investment markets took over, casting
doubts on the strength of the global economy. In Hong
Kong, the sustained high interest rate has greatly increased
the borrowing cost of corporates, leading to a weak
investment appetite, especially for new home renovation
and construction projects in the private sector. In Mainland
China, despite reporting a moderate GDP growth of 5.2% in
2023, the sluggish market sentiment and new supplies have
led to low lease absorption, putting pressure on rent rates in
the commercial leasing market. These have in turn, brought
notable challenges to the Group’s operations across Hong
Kong and Shanghai.

In the face of the difficult environment, the Group swiftly
adapted its business strategy and execution to maintain
profitability. On the one hand, the Group continued to
boost its offsite cut-and-bend processing efficiency and
maintained its cost-effective steel sourcing mechanism; on
the other hand, the Group refined its properties’ positioning
and leasing approach to improve its capital and cashflow
management. Supported by these efforts, the Group was
able to deliver another set of sustainable financial results for
the Year.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHAIEKRAR AR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IIIIHHHHh,.

BERR

TROCFY) BERBREHRE  DHREBEER
BEPR  HRmSHTEHERRABREERR
TEZ - A BRBREE  NEHE 22X
KIS - URBERRBNRETISRFEE RBEIRE
FEERRLRY  KYINTMSERTREER - &
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWE D

During the Year, the Group's revenue decreased by 13.4%
year-on-year, from approximately HK$2,658.5 million last
year to approximately HK$2,303.2 million for the Year,
as a result of the decrease in average steel price and
the absence of a one-off milestone fee income from one
of its properties under management. Nonetheless, gross
profit increased from approximately HK$352.0 million to
approximately HK$384.1 million, with gross profit margin
improved from 13.2% to 16.7%, due to favourable movement
in steel price, as well as the rising revenue contribution
of its Steels Processing Business. The gain in gross profit
was partially offset by the prevailing high interest rate, with
finance cost for the Year increased by HK$15.4 million and
fair value loss of investment properties of approximately
HK$13.4 million. Overall, the Group’'s profit attributable
to owners of the Company decreased to HK$78.8 million,
representing a modest decrease of 4.9% as compared with
the same period last year.

Amidst the dynamic market environment, the Group’s
business segments also had varying performances during
the Year. Thanks to the proven procurement strategy as well
as the growing adoption of offsite prefabricated solutions,
notwithstanding that the Group’s Steels Distribution and
Processing Business suffered a decline in revenue of
15.4% year-on-year, profit before income tax achieved a
remarkable increase from approximately HK$84.1 million to
approximately HK$116.0 million. For its Building Products
Distribution Business, the performance remained robust, with
a modest increase in revenue from approximately HK$325.5
million to HK$340.4 million, and profit before income tax
reporting a slight decrease from approximately HK$32.0
million to approximately HK$30.5 million. For Property
Investment and Fund Management Business, due to the
absence of a one-off milestone fee income, along with a fair
value loss of investment properties of approximately HK$13.3
million triggered by the weak investment sentiment, the
segment reported a loss before income tax of approximately
HK$10.6 million.
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For the Year, the basic earnings per ordinary share was
HK12.31 cents, as compared with HK12.94 cents in the
same period last year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Steels Distribution and Processing Business

Steels Distribution and Processing Business mainly
offers construction and industrial steels in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. In addition to its procurement and
distribution model, it operates one of the five approved steel
reinforcing bar prefabrication yards in Hong Kong, providing
customised offsite cut-and-bend services to its customers.
The prefabricated steel reinforcing bars are then ready
for immediate use, with consistent product quality and full
traceability that would reduce the works on site, thus yielding
better safety and less construction wastage.

During the Year, the Group’s Steels Processing Business
continued to gain popularity in the Hong Kong market,
with delivery quantity recording a significant increment,
supported by growing adoption across private and public
projects. Unfortunately, due to the notable fluctuation in
steel prices, segment revenue for the Year decreased
as a whole, from approximately HK$2,221.4 million last
year to approximately HK$1,879.5 million. Yet, benefiting
from its proven procurement strategy as well as the rising
contribution of the Steel Processing Business, the segment
reported a 37.8% year-on-year growth in segment profit
before income tax, from approximately HK$84.1 million to
approximately HK$116.0 million, fully offsetting the impact
from decreasing revenue and rising in interest cost.

The Group has participated in various civil infrastructure
works and private projects during the Year, including
the commercial complex in Hong Kong West Kowloon
Railway Station, Chinese Medicine Hospital and Joint-user
Government Office Building in Tseung Kwan O, Shek Wu Hu
Effluent Polishing Plant, the restructuring of Prince of Wales
Hospital, Hong Kong Airport Third Runway Concourse,
public housing project in Kwun Tong, and private residential
projects in Ting Wing station and Sai Kung, etc.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Building Products Distribution Business

Building Products Distribution Business represents a
comprehensive value proposition for architects and
designers. It offers an extensive, well-designed, and popular
portfolio of branded sanitary wares, smart toilet solutions,
as well as fitting and kitchenware products, catering the
needs of hotels, residential, shopping malls, airports and
commercial buildings. It strives to provide a full chain
of services covering design, installation, logistics, and
technical support.

During the Year, the segment saw a steady performance,
supported by the stable revenue contributions from various
renovation projects. Revenue for the Year reached HK$340.4
million, representing an increase of approximately 4.6%
year-on-year (FY2022/23: HK$325.5 million). Profit before
income tax decreased slightly by 4.6% year-on-year, from
approximately HK$32.0 million last year to HK$30.5 million
this year. Several iconic projects delivered by the segment
during the Year included the renovation work for Hong Kong
Airport and Four Seasons Hotel, a new hotel development in
Hung Hom, new commercial building developments in Kwun
Tong and Central, and residential developments in Kai Tak
and Wong Chuk Hang.

Property Investment and Fund Management Business

Positioned as a niche market specialist with a proven track
record in asset revitalisation and value optimisation, the
Group continues to embrace its “asset-light” model when
developing its investment projects in Shanghai. As at 31st
March 2024, the Group manages a total gross floor area
(“GFA”) of approximately 161,724 square meters, with its
assets value under management of approximately HK$8.4
billion. Among the three Central Park projects under
management, Central Park e Pudong is wholly-owned by
the Group, with a view to generating sustainable rental and
property management fee income, as well as achieving
capital appreciation in the medium-to-long term; the Group
is also partnering with leading investment funds for the other
two revitalisation projects, namely Central Park e Jing'an
and Central Park ® Huangpu, where the Group takes an
equity stake and acts as a general partner and/or investment
manager.

BEE W RO

BEMB D HER

BREM MY HER SRR MR Rt 2 E
WEEFR  RBE - T% - BYWEs - B5EE
ERUEEE 2 R B mIEES R
B BRATFRBANDE  URHEMESREEA
B EBAORHEDMURFARERT 2K - Y
R S

RAFE BRSIREBEENEELEBTHRA
FZOERBIPARBTIE - RFEWRAEIL04FE
Bt RLEENIE6% (- /=84
3255 B&EBIT) o BATE B AE F Rt & AUR
46% HAEFHI0EBETRLEARFL305
BEEL - 0 BRAFEERMNZMZHMEE
B BREEEHSRUE6EENRN LR - M0
—@¥FE/ERRIEE C BERTROTEEETE
BIEE URREEREMRAFEEREER -

FHERERESELEY

EREEE R REBERTHERRIFEELE
MHENTHEER - ARER LBHBEREFHER
ARAERSHIEEE B -R-_Z_ME=A
=t+—B AREEEMNEREER(ZEEE])
MR161724F 5K - EEBEEBEN/BAE
BT EEMZETBEHEB S PBE « HE
RAKER2EHRE  EEELATKEHSIYEE
BERA > TRPRHEREARIRE - NEENE
BEMNBREESAE  UEaRKAA TBABA
R/SREEEO G - SEPEE o FR LT
BIE » M ETTRELERER -

2023/24 Annual Report | ¥

19
a



.-

BERE W RO

During the Year, the competition for commercial leasing
in Shanghai remained fierce, as a result of weakened
investment and business sentiment, along with the rising
supply of new office space in the post-pandemic era. This
has also created notable pressure on occupancy and
rent rates, hindering the Segment’'s performance for the
Year. To ease the situation, the Group refined its leasing
strategies, expanded its leasing network by focusing on
particular industry verticals, strengthened its landlord-tenant
communication, and improved its value-added services to
retain and attract tenants.

Segment revenue for the Year was approximately HK$83.2
million, as compared with approximately HK$111.6 million
last year, due to the absence of a one-off milestone fee
income of approximately HK$15.2 million during the
Year. Compounded by the increase in fair value loss of
investment properties of approximately HK$9.1 million to
approximately HK$13.3 million, and the increase in share of
loss in investments under equity method from approximately
HK$11.5 million to approximately HK$22.8 million, the
segment recorded a loss before income tax of approximately
HK$10.6 million for the Year, versus a profit before income
tax of approximately HK$30.8 million last year. Nonetheless,
the Group’s rental income remained stable during the Year,
which should serve as a solid foundation for future financial
performance.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the global economy continues to lack
visibility, signified by increasingly frequent geopolitical
events and sustained high interest rates. Global steel prices
may continue to swing, and new home renovation and private
construction demand may need more time to recover. On
the other hand, property investment and business expansion
may be slow, putting pressure on both occupancy and rent
rates in short run as the market welcomes new supply.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Nevertheless, the Group remains cautiously optimistic on the
economic development of both Shanghai and Hong Kong. In
Hong Kong, various demand-side policies were introduced
by Hong Kong Government to boost the local residential
property market. The cancellation of special stamp duty,
buyer stamp duty and new residential stamp duty, the
introduction of the Admission Scheme for Mainland Talents
and Professionals, as well as the relaxation of supervisory
measures for property mortgage loans, are all expected to
immediately raise appetite for homebuyers and property
developers. On the supply side, the proposed 50% increase
in overall public housing supply over the coming five
years is also expected to further push annual construction
volume to a new high. All these, together with infrastructure
initiatives such as Northern Metropolis and other road and
transportation projects, should bring ample opportunities to
the Group’s Steels Distribution and Processing Business and
Building Products Distribution Business.

In Shanghai, the Central Government launched various
policies to stabilise market volatility and to attract foreign
investment. Specifically for the real estate sector, the
People’s Bank of China announced the reduction of the
5-year loan prime rate by 25 basis point in early 2024,
which was an enormous cut since the introduction of the
loan prime rate. This is expected to significantly increase
real estate transactions, favouring properties valuation and
market liquidity, and in turn, supporting the development
of the Group’s Property Investment and Fund Management
Business.

To maintain a stable performance in rental income, the
Group will also further refine its properties’ positioning
and leasing approach, targeting specific industry verticals
such as medical and healthcare, in order to transform its
properties into industrial agglomeration buildings that would
support high occupancy rates. One of the examples is
Central Park ® Huangpu, where one of its major tenants has
set up a translational medicine innovative industrial park in
the building for the commercialisation of medical clinical
results. By leveraging the property’s close proximity to
Grade A tertiary hospitals in Shanghai and its comprehensive
conferencing and F&B facilities, the Group saw increasing
tenants from medical-related enterprises during the Year.
The surge in occupancy would not only boost rental income
of the property, but its expanding medical sector presence
should also boost the property’s valuation, generating gains
in the medium-to-long term.
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Overall, the Group remains well on track to deliver
sustainable profit. The Group will continue to maintain its
prudent capital management measures, so as to mitigate
risks and headwinds ahead, and deliver sustainable
business growth and long-lasting values to its customers
and shareholders.

CORPORATE FINANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial Position

Compared with the financial year ended 31st March 2023,
the Group's total assets decreased from approximately
HK$2,957.4 million to approximately HK$2,649.9 million as
at 31st March 2024, mainly as a result of the translation
difference of the Group’s investment in Mainland China and
the reduction in working capital. As steel price declined, the
Group’s inventories decreased from approximately HK$473.1
million to approximately HK$380.6 million, while the Group’s
trade and bill receivables also decreased from approximately
HK$430.7 million to approximately HK$370.8 million. The
average inventory days of supply and overall days of sales
outstanding remained at 81 days and 57 days respectively.
Net asset value of the Group reduced to approximately
HK$1,041.9 million, mainly attributable to the translation
difference arising from the depreciation of Renminbi (“RMB”)
for the Group’s net investments in Mainland China. Net asset
value per ordinary share was equivalent to approximately
HK$1.47 as at 31st March 2024.

Compared with the financial position as at 31st March 2023,
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits decreased to approximately HK$147.1 million.
The Group’s borrowings decreased by approximately
HK$173.8 million to approximately HK$1,259.5 million as
at 31st March 2024. Gearing ratio (net debt, which is total
borrowings minus pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents, divided by capital and reserves attributable
to owners of the Company plus net debt) was slightly
decreased from 57.0% to 54.2%.

During the Year, the Group completed the refinancing of
long-term bank loans of approximately HK$352.6 million,
improving its current ratio from 0.68 to 0.82. To fulfil
the Group’s other short-term commitment, management
continued to negotiate with various banks for short-term and/
or long-term credit facilities. In the opinion of the directors,
after due and careful consideration and taking into account
of the internally generated funds and all the banking facilities
presently available to the Group, the Group has sufficient
financial resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due and
is able to carry on its business without significant disruption.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group will continue to closely monitor its liquidity
performance and the turnover of its working capital and will
take various cost containment and efficiency enhancement
measures to minimise the impact of macro factors such as
interest rate hikes.

Financial Resources

The Group's financing and treasury activities are centrally
managed and controlled at the corporate level. The
Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus on
managing financial risks including interest rate and foreign
exchange risks; cost-efficient funding of the Company and
its subsidiaries; and yield enhancement from time to time
when the Group’s cash position allows. The Group has
always adhered to prudent financial management principles,
including the selection of appropriate security investments
according to the Group's treasury investment policy.

The Group’s financing remained primarily supported by its
bank trading and revolving facilities for Steels Distribution
and Processing Business and Building Products Distribution
Business and term loans for Property Investment and
Fund Management Business. As at 31st March 2024,
approximately 67.0% of the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings were denominated in HK dollar, approximately
32.5% in RMB and approximately 0.5% in US dollar. These
facilities are either secured by pledged bank deposits and/
or corporate guarantees provided by the Company or the
Group’s machineries and investment properties. All of the
above borrowings were on a floating rate basis. Interest
costs were levied on interbank offered rates plus a very
competitive margin. RMB loans of the Group have been
obtained from domestic and foreign banks in the amount of
RMB380.2 million. Interest costs of RMB banking facilities
were based on Loan Prime Rate adjusted with competitive
margin. The maturity of the Group’s borrowings as at 31st
March 2024 was as follows:

Maturity Profile
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Charges on Assets

As at 31st March 2024, the Group had certain charges on
assets which included (i) bank deposits of approximately
HK$1.8 million (31st March 2023: bank deposits of
approximately HK$11.7 million and bill receivables of
approximately HK$6.8 million), which were pledged as
collateral for the Group’s bill payables; (ii) investment
properties of approximately HK$1,280.7 million (31st March
20283: approximately HK$1,376.4 million and buildings
of approximately HK$5.7 million which was included
in property, plant and equipment), were pledged as
collaterals for certain bank borrowings of the Group; and (iii)
machineries of approximately HK$9.1 million (31st March
2023: approximately HK$5.5 million), which was included in
property, plant and equipment, and was used to secure the
Group’s hire purchase liabilities.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s businesses are primarily transacted in HK
dollars, US dollars and RMB. As the exchange rate between
HK dollars and US dollars is pegged, the Group believes its
exposure to exchange rate risk arising from US dollars is not
material. Facing the volatility of RMB, the Group will, among
others, continue to match RMB payments with RMB receipts
to minimise realised exchange exposure.

Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into
when suitable opportunities arise and when management
of the Group considers appropriate, in order to hedge
against major non-HK dollars currency exposures. It is the
Group’s policy not to enter into any derivative transaction for
speculative purposes.

Capital Expenditure

During the Year, the Group’'s total capital expenditure
amounted to approximately HK$15.9 million (2023:
approximately HK$2.8 million), which was primarily financed
through cash generated from operating activities and hire
purchase arrangement.
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Capital Commitments

As at 31st March 2024, the Group’'s total capital
commitments amounted to approximately HK$115.0 million
(81st March 2023: approximately HK$130.9 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st March 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31st March 2023: Same).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during

the Year (2023: Same).

PARITCULAR OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

As at 31st March 2024, the Group’s properties held for

investment and their particulars are as follows:

Property name and
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No. 2399 Zhangyang Road, Commercial  Medium term* 24,752 170 100%
Pudong New Area, offices
Shanghai, China

B TR SRHT & SR 15 5% 2399 5% BERRE R

Unit 606, Sanlian Building

ZHARE606E

No. 8 Huajing Road, Commercial  Medium term* 37.64 = 86.2%
Pudong New Area, offices
Shanghai, China

Fh B - TR BRI 2 A R 8 R BEBRNE E

* Medium terms are for lease less than 50 years but not less than 10 * FHIAHELRS0FERLRI10EF -

years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Central Park ® Pudong HFBLE o B

Central Park ® Pudong is a 12-storey office tower with a total R e HRA—EES12EMNRAKNE - # F
above-ground GFA of approximately 24,752 square meters. BESEMBEN 24,752 F K - ZKEMR LS
Situated in Inner Ring Road, a prime location of the Pudong THRNENIRENRE S - MaERER R
New District, Shanghai, the tower is in close proximity to TR & I8 ib i 6 SR AR ISR Uh -

Luijiazui’s Central Business District and Beiyangjing Road

Station of Line 6 of Shanghai metro.

During the Year, both occupancy and rent rates of Central RAFE - RABE o ARAEEERAS KT
Park e Pudong have remained at steady level, with rental BEEKE  HelAL4s65EBT(ZEZ
income of approximately HK$45.6 million (FY2022/23: S ZFEIF 48 3EHEBBEIT) °

HK$48.3 million).

Our track record in Shanghai

BN LN RREE

angpu
2]

HONGKOU
SINE

b

Lujiazui CBD \
BE RIS P R @
d

A A

HBE « E)H
Central Park ® Huangpu

EME Huangpu District

B« B2

Central Park  Jing'an

FFZE& Jing'an District

B « R W
Central Park ® Pudong

SEEREE Pudong New District

maog

) Office Building J _
2R E W FRBIE « EiE w ! w
Park Lane 3 Central Park ® Putuo The Point Jing’an
R EE Changning District “r T e & Putuo District FZE Jing'an District
BEXAE ‘ %:gl—tfﬁﬁﬁ HE WA ﬁ%:s—#iiﬁ HE WA Eﬁ‘:@—fﬁiﬁ HE
Serviced Apartment Disposed in September 2017 Office Building Disposed in March 2017 ) Office Building Disposed in March 2014 )
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
Central Park ® Jing'an

Central ParkeJing'an is a 29-storey Grade A office
building with a retail podium on the ground floor, totalling
approximately 58,601 square meters in above-ground GFA.
The premises are situated at the junction of Hengfeng Road
and Hanzhong Road, two major pathways across Jing'an
District. Surrounded by metro-connected retail shopping
malls, hotel amenities and a number of Grade A office
buildings, Central Park ¢ Jing’an enjoys locational excellence
with 3 easily-accessible metro lines, and is within 10 minutes’
walking distance to Shanghai Railway Station.

The Group invested in Central Park e Jing'an by partnering
with a leading sovereign wealth fund to form a joint venture,
namely HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited, which the
Group holds an effective 9.3% equity interests. In addition
to the potential value appreciation, the Group also earns
fee income through the provision of management services.
The project underwent revitalisation in September 2018, and
upon completion, it is positioned as a Grade A office with
modernised office and workspace facilities.

During the Year, Central Park ¢ Jing’an’s financial performance
was affected by the change in fair value of investment
properties, with the Group’s share of loss of investment
accounted for using the equity method increased to
approximately HK$12.3 million (FY2022/23: share of loss of
approximately HK$6.7 million). No gain or loss on disposal was
recorded and no dividend was received during the Year.

Central Park ¢ Huangpu

Central Park ® Huangpu is a 53-storey high-rise landmark
located at the heart of Huangpu's central business district,
near the intersection of Dapu Road and Xujiahui Road
and a 5-minute-walk from metro station. As a regional
landmark commercial complex with an above-ground GFA of
approximately 78,371 square meters, Central Park ® Huangpu
is the host of Pullman Shanghai Skyway Hotel (a hotel
managed by Accor Hotel Group) with office building,
conference halls, catering facilities and retail outlets.

The Group invested in Central Park e Huangpu through
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited, by partnering with a leading
private equity fund of which the Group holds 5% equity
interests. In addition to the potential value appreciation,
the Group also earns fee income through the provision of
management services.

BEE W RO

FiSEARRE
HBIE o FZ

REIE ¢« B A EES20BMFHIAKNE -
EREEBEAZTERE W EIEERBEARNA
58601 F K- ZWENEMKEETEHE(EE
PR ER )M TER - M B EENBYE
BBEREREZERGRAKE - BEE « F
A HES G EE - BFSTAE10D EFE A 5
EEFANEY  ZBIGAER o

AEBBRH-—RELIBRTEESAE K
A & 2 A1(BPHSL Shanghai Office Partners |
Limited - EFRARNEEITHEHEI3% BEFRER) AR
BHEE « BLIEE - REEBERAN  ~&
B ERREEERGERERARA - ZIBHBERZ
- N\FNAETEARIRE  BHEEELS
RAmARE  RERRICHH D& -

RAFE  PEE « FLMU KRR EME
ZANEBEBEFE  AEEEGEREREARZ
REBEBENENI123BEAT(ZE-—/—=
B B(EEEN67TESEET)  c RAFE - #
RS S W ER s B R LA R AR B -

B E o B

HIBHE « FRA—ERES3ENERKNE @ LR

EOHTREBERF D - AT IR RE R R

o BTEMEVEREHE - FRREIEHER

BERAFARE  RBE « RN FEERBEY

78,371 F 5K - RRA L/BHE AR S

E(—RKAESBEEEERAEE)LHAE R
- BERE ERRELRTERE -

AEEHR-—RALELEREESAE BB
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited (AR EE# A H 5%
) AR E R EIE o T - BRIBEEBERAIN -
REBNEBREMHEIERBERERKA -
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During the Year, Central Park ¢ Huangpu'’s financial performance
was affected by the change in fair value of investment
properties, with the Group’s share of loss of investment
accounted for using the equity method for this project increased
to approximately HK$10.5 million (FY2022/23: share of loss of
approximately HK$4.6 million). No gain or loss on disposal was
recorded and no dividend was received during the Year.

As at 31st March 2024, the particulars of the significant
investments held by the Group are as follows:

As at 31st March 2024

Place of
business/country
establishment/

Name of entity incorporation

EXnE/
AR LER

BEER

Unlisted, ordinary shares
kL BBR

HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited Mainland China/

Carrying
amount
REE hAKE
HK$°000
TET B

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RAFE - PBE « EBANYBRAIRENE
ZARBEBRYE AKEMZEBEGERE
FEARZREBEEMEN105BEBT(ZF
S/ ZBF BEERD46EERT) R
REE - BESEHE W E RN RIS

R-ZZE-_WF=A=+—HB  AEEHEFZERR
BRIBEIIMT

Total number of shares
and percentage of ownership
interest attributable to the Group
FEBAEROAHK
EEREGAIHL

R=BZME
=ZB=1+-H
Percentage
to total
assets of 31st March 31st March
the Group 2024 2023
I ——

— 5=

=A=1-8

—g-mF
ZA=1-H

BEAEL

and its subsidiaries (collectively
“HSO Group”) (Note i)

HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited
REMBR R (GBIHSORE ) (i)

Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Skyline Group”) (Note ii)

Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited
REMER R (G Skyline £ E ) (Fiii)

British Virgin Islands

hEAR/
REBRAEE

Mainland China/
British Virgin Islands

hEAR/
REBRAEE

235,593 8.9% 3,808.10 3,690.93
shares shares

and 15% and 15%

3,808.10 % 3,690.93 %

2 15% K 15%

45,583 1.7% 5 shares 5 shares
and 5% and 5%

5% % 5% 585 5%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Notes:

i HSO Group is principally engaged in property investment and fund
management business in Mainland China and is owned as to 15%
by Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62% owned
subsidiary of the Company) and 85% by Reco Wisteria Private Limited
(an independent third party). As at 31st March 2024, Plentiful has
contributed capital, aggregated to approximately US$38,081,000
(2023: US$36,909,000) and the investment in HSO Group is accounted
for using equity method in accordance with HKAS 28 (Amendments)
Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures. Please refer to Note 19 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for details.

ii. Skyline Group is principally engaged in property investment and
project management business in Mainland China and is owned as to
95% by Apollo Skyline Holding Limited (an independent third party)
and 5% by Top Bloom Group Limited (“Top Bloom”) (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company). As at 31st March 2024, Top Bloom
has contributed capital, aggregated to approximately US$10,030,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$78,758,000 (2023: US$9,645,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$75,744,000) and the investment in
Skyline Group is accounted for using equity method in accordance with
HKAS 28 (Amendments) Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures.
Please refer to Note 19 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for details.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any material events after the
reporting period (31st March 2023: Same).

HUMAN CAPITAL AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group puts a strong emphasis on nurturing talents,
with its growth strategy built around its strong commitment
to people. The Group provides competitive remuneration
package, along with a safe and pleasant working
environment with constant learning and growth opportunities,
so as to attract and motivate employees.

The remuneration packages for Directors and employees are
normally reviewed annually and are structured by reference
to prevailing market terms and individual competence,
performance and experience. Other employee benefits
include training subsidy, discretionary bonus, retirement
benefits, insurance, medical coverage and share option
scheme.

As at 31st March 2024, the Group employs 250 staff (31st
March 2023: 226 staff). Total staff costs during the Year,
including the contribution to retirement benefit schemes,
amounted to approximately HK$130.5 million (2023:
HK$117.7 million). During the Year, no option has been
offered and/or granted to its directors and employees under
the share option scheme(s) adopted by the Company.

BEEWE D

T

i HSOSKBEFXFERFEAERFTEHMERERESEY
% HAMEWERQA(ER ] (BEARBEE62%
2B AR) %A 15% K H Reco Wisteria Private
Limited (BB =71 )#A85% - R=ZT=MNF=A
=+—H E#HBEA&HHEE38081,000E (=T ==
. 36,909,000%7T) * WHHSOKEZ R ERERAS
FTAERE 28K (BT ) REIE R AR A B A RIRE A
EFIER o FHIE A2 BN 2 S BIZER A M RERMEE 19 ©

i Skylne EEEZRNAPEAERERHERERESE
T EfApollo Skyline Holding Limited (&% 2
FE=)) B 95% s M Top Bloom Group Limited
([Top Bloom])(AAREIREEENERE)HEHE 5% #
WweRZTZMFE=A=+—H " Top BloomBATHE
10,030,000 % Jr (18 & 7 4978,758,0008 ;0 ) (ZE = =
F 9,645,000 T (AHE M 4775,744,000 8 7T )) » I #
Skyline £ B 2 I B IRE BB G LR 5 2855 ((E5T ) B
ERRIRAERNRIRE ERETR - FERZ2HEN 2
EERIZR A M BHREM 19 -

BEHHREE

ARBEYREAREMPEFA(_T_=F=A
=t+—H:M8[) -

ADER R 5 B BUR

AEBEEATEI  HRERBE-BEIENAT
HAGE - NEBREA BT HHF M ZR| K
BET  HEAOREITRAERZEEMN THERE -
WA AR FREEE FEEHS

EERBEIZHFMFERAREBFEMRNLZ2E
BOTMBHEARBEAELND - RFERERMHIET -
HMBTRAMEEEIEDR BB RIKE
M RER - BEEORR KBRS S

RZEBE-_WNF=ZA=+—"H x5£EEB250%
EE(ZZE—_=F=ZA=+—H :226%EE) - ®¥
REE BEIHRA(BEIERKEEER) LY
A1305EEAT(ZE-_=F=A=+—H: 4
M77TEERBT)  c RAFE @ ARRWEREE
Rz BRI NEEE RESRE R SE T
B o
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance.
It believes that high standards of corporate governance
provide a framework and solid foundation for the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) to manage
business risks, enhance transparency, maintain high
standards of accountability and protect shareholders’
interest in general. The Company has applied the principles
and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), except for CG Code
provision C.1.6 and CG Code provision C.2.1 for the year
ended 31st March 2024 (the “Year”).

The Board will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of
the Company to ensure that business activities and
decision-making processes are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner, and aligning the corporate culture
of good governance with the Group’s purposes, values
and strategies, thereby meeting the expectations of the
stakeholders. The Group also strives to embed its core
values for sustainable developments into its day-to-
day operation. Our vision, mission and values as well as
strategies adopted for the environmental and social areas
are made available at the Company’s website.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time, as its own code of conduct (the “Company’s Model
Code”) regarding securities transactions by the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”). Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, they all confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Company’s Model
Code during the Year. The Company’s Model Code also
applies to other specified relevant employees of the Group,
who are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information, in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHAIEKRAR AR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the Year and
up to the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

Mr. Li Yinquan

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny (retired on 18th August 2023)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages
73 to 76 of this annual report.

Board Process

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has three Independent Non-executive Directors
exceeding one-third of the Board. At least one of the
Independent Non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
made an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. In addition, any further re-appointment
of an Independent Non-executive Director who has served
the Board for more than nine (9) years will be subject to
separate resolution to be approved by shareholders of the
Company. The Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material relationships with each other.

TEERHmE

Exg

RAREAH  EFCHMEATEER =B
FERITEFMAK - RAFERBEARE B ML
ExgkBAEKWT

HITES :

kAR E
(ZRHREFEHTTE)
£y cbislaa

BYFHTES

TMELLE
Fo|RELE
BRELEE(R=ZZFE=Z=FNNA+/HEE)

EEVREFBENAERETZEELT6AZ
[EERRREEABREIA -

EEgRF

RAFEBFRBEAREDH L ARRAE=H
BIUFRTES  ZR=ZNDZ2-MNEFTAH-R
BEMRAEI10Q)GRZHAE  HFEL—28
MFMTESHLAABEEZEXER  KAHE
HEENSTRARNVBERER - SBIIFH
TEECREBELTRAUEI KR ZRAERIEN
EBUMZFEERE - ARRRBAMAEBILIEH
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The Executive Directors are responsible for managing the
overall business. They are mainly involved in the formulation
and execution of the corporate strategies. The Independent
Non-executive Directors consist of eminent business
executives from Hong Kong and Mainland China, who
provide independent advice to the management through
their wide range of skills and experiences. The Executive
Directors have regular meetings with general managers of
respective business units and key staff of support units to
discuss major business plans and review operational and
financial performance. The Independent Non-executive
Directors are also invited to participate in special review
meetings.

The Company has established four Board Committees,
namely Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee to oversee
various aspects of the affairs.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy,
annual operating budget, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the
recommendations made by the Nomination Committee),
material contracts and transactions, corporate governance
practices and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
performance as well as other significant policy and financial
matters. The daily operations of the Group’s business are
executed by the management of the respective business
units under the instruction and supervision of the Executive
Committee which has its specific written terms of reference.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group, and to review and approve the Group’s annual and
interim results and other ad hoc matters which need to be
dealt with. Individual attendance records of each Director at
the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee as well as the general
meeting during the Year are set out below:

.I/J'_\ e HT/IZI #I)jld:

EXSTHAMGENMARE 2 ERBREIAN
LELMBRE  UEHEHERAEE 2 2F &P
HEENEMAREZFHNER - RAFE &
ENEER  FMEZEE FXRZESRREZEER
e UMBRAG ZER L FELSHENIT

= =/ A

Number of meetings attended/held

B/ BIEE2RY
Remuneration Audit Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Directors EEg HzES EREZEE REZEE RRA®
Executive Directors: HITEE :
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew PRAEIE L & 4/4 11 N/A A 11 11
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (ZEFBEEHTE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Ardrst 414 N/A TER N/A A N/A A 11
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUHRTESE :
Mr. Xu Lin Bao RMELE 4/4 11 2/2 11 11
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike Ly 4/4 N/A T 2/2 11 11
Mr. Li Yinquan Fa|REE 4/4 11 2/2 N/A i 11
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERELE 111 1/1 1/1 11 0/1
(retired on 18th August 2023) (R-F-=#
NAT/\AEE)
Total Number of Meetings Held BIERAY 4 1 2 1 1

CG Code provision C.1.6 stipulates that generally
independent non-executive directors should attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders. Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 18th August 2023 due to his other engagement.

Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to give all Directors an opportunity to attend and
are structured to encourage open discussion. At least 14
days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all
Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda
for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment
before being tabled at the following Board meeting for
approval. All minutes and written resolutions of the Board are
taken and kept by the Company Secretary and these minutes
and written resolutions, together with any supporting board
papers, are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

EEEARTARIECABKEHRE  —RME B
UHFRTEFREFERRAEG HARBRRNER
BEE  REMTRE - ERELEREMEBLRE
HEARRTR-_Z_=FN\A+/N\RETZERE
FRE -

Exegxle
BAEEHE -
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ETFIEERRARRD - BREFS SRR
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The Board members have access to appropriate business
documents and information about the Group on a timely
basis. The Directors are free to have access to the
management for enquiries and to obtain further information
when required. The Directors are encouraged to update their
skills and knowledge, and familiarity with the Group through
ongoing participation at Board and Board Committees
meetings.

The Company has adopted a procedure for Directors to
seek independent professional advice. All Directors, in the
discharge of their duties from time to time, may request the
Company to pay for independent professional advice for the
Directors in appropriate circumstances, such request must
be made by the relevant Directors to the Company Secretary
in writing and with stated reasons for the request.

The Company Secretary shall then make the necessary
arrangements for professional advisor(s) proposed to be
appointed and the associated fees to be borne by the
Company. The Company Secretary shall inform and make
such proposed arrangements to the Board.

The Board shall consider the request and the reasons
provided by the relevant Director and the arrangements
proposed by the Company Secretary. The Board may resolve
to obtain independent professional advice to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company if
the request is considered to be reasonable and appropriate
in the circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

When appointed as a Director, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policies and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure
that he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
All Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.
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The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company has been
encouraging the Directors and senior management to
participate in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules,
applicable regulatory requirements, corporate governance
practices and ESG issues organised by professional bodies
and/or independent auditors to further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.

All Directors have confirmed that they have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by attending seminar or conference relating to
the Company’s business or corporate governance and
regulations or by reading materials relevant to their duties
and responsibilities during the Year.

Participation of Directors in continuous professional
development activities for the Year is set out below:

/JJ__\‘ '/\-h-\A$E¢

EETRERMICEE - RAINBROZERT LRI
RZHERER  UWEARREFEHEZTSHELAGE
LABEZER - ARR—BEEBEEREREEA
a’?éﬁiﬁﬂE%@ BN RIBI BN 2 SEE
BALTRA EREERT CEERFANER
% ?iﬁ&a/u$HZ§¥%E%$E&EHJA A
#E— IRTHR 2 AR R AR S B BE

EREFCHERINAFECEBLFEERRERK
m%a/u&fmﬂﬁ%zaﬁﬁﬁ‘kam‘kﬁfﬂ ERMAE
BERBEEZER S2EFERESXERRLIY -

EENAFRESARESXBERZHHINLT ¢

Attending
workshops,
seminars,
Reading journals, conferences,
updates, articles e-training and/
and/or materials or forums
BT - BRI
RHEM  XE =
Name of Directors k/SHEBER HLEIR/HmE
Executive Directors: HITEF -
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew SiEN it v v
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (TEREEHITE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu iRkt v v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUHHTESE -
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BMELAE v v
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike DL 3ot v v
Mr. Li Yinquan FERELE v 4
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERIELE v v
(retired on 18th August 2023) (R=EF==F/\H+/\AEF)
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BOARD DIVERSITY

During the Year, the Board conducted an annual review
of the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy, which is made available on the Company’s
website, and is satisfied that the Board Diversity Policy has
been properly implemented and is effective. Under Board
Diversity Policy, the Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. All appointments to the Board
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against selection criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board and the policy.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which would include but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional and industry experience, skills, knowledge,
length of service and other factors that may be relevant from
time to time towards achieving the objective of the Board
diversity. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

Currently, the Board composition reflects various cultural
and educational backgrounds, professional development,
length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad
range of individual attributes, interests and values.

The Board has reviewed the current composition and is
committed to achieve gender diversity on the Board by
maintaining an appropriate level of female members and to
provide the Company with a good balance and diversity of
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of its
business. Currently, all Directors are male. The Board has set
down its goals to appoint one female as Board member no
later than 31st December 2024 as part of its effort to achieve
diversity on the Board level. The Nomination Committee will
continue to monitor and actively consider different aspects of
diversity in the boardroom, and recommend further actions
or plan to the Board when necessary.

The diversity policy including the gender diversity was
generally followed in the workforce (including senior
management) throughout the Company for the Year. During
the Year, 64% of the total workforce were male and 36% of
the total workforce were female. The Group shall endeavor
to maintain at least the existing gender ratio in the workforce
and will timely review the employee turnover and recruitment
data basis for adjustment to the recruitment targets, policies
and strategies, if necessary. Further information about the
composition of the Group’s workforce can be found in the
2023/24 ESG Report separately released on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
(i.e. the Chief Executive) is now Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew.
CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Board
believes that the vesting of the roles of both Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Yao will enable him to continue
to provide the Group with strong leadership, efficient usage
of resources, as well as effective planning, formulation and
implementation of the Company’s business strategies. The
day-to-day management and operation of the Group will
continue to be the responsibility of the management team
under the monitoring of the Executive Committee and Mr.
Yao's leadership.

SPECIFIC TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
term of three years and shall determine upon expiry subject
to renewal by mutual agreement prior to the expiry of the
term. All Independent Non-executive Directors (including all
other Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting at least once every
three years according to the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of
which has its specific written terms of reference. Minutes
and written resolutions of all committee meetings are taken
and kept by the Company Secretary and, together with any
committee papers, are available to all Board members.
The committees are required to report to the Board on their
decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since March
2006 and now consists of two Executive Directors, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew as chairman and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu as a
member.
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When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee

disc

harges the specific power and administrative functions

authorised by the Board. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the daily operations of the Group.

The

Company has adopted a terms of reference of the

Executive Committee in order to conform with the provisions
set out in the CG Code and it is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as follows:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

Duri
the

implementing and compliance with the laws,
regulations, Listing Rules, Bye-laws and internal
regulations applicable to the Company;

providing a means for timely and accurate disclosure of
information;

ensuring effective communication with the Company’s
shareholders;

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board,;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

ng the Year, the Executive Committee has carried out
duties on the corporate governance functions of the

Company in accordance with its terms of reference.

Hong
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
July 2005 and as at the date of this report consists of
three members, including Mr. Xu Lin Bao (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Li Yinquan, both being
Independent Non-executive Directors, and Mr. Yao Cho Fai
Andrew, being an Executive Director. The Remuneration
Committee’s role is to make recommendation to the Board
on the remuneration policy and structure for Directors
and senior management and to ensure that they are fairly
rewarded for their individual contribution to the Group’s
overall performance, having regard to the interests of
shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee has to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management as
well as reviewing and approving management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objectives. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. No Director or any of
his associates may be involved in any decisions as to his
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has specific
written terms of reference that is in compliance with the CG
Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities are
available both on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and determined the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and made recommendations to the Board as to the
remuneration policy and structure for senior management of
the Company.

Details of the remuneration of every Director and senior
management for the Year are set out in Note 9 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Remuneration Committee meeting
is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since December
1998 and as at the date of this report consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, including Mr. Li
Yinquan (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Lin
Bao and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike. Mr. Li Yinquan is
Independent Non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice
a year to review and discuss the various audit issues as
reported by the external auditor. It also reviews the interim
and annual financial statements. Additional meetings may
also be held by the Audit Committee from time to time to
discuss special projects or other issues, which the members
consider necessary.

Scope of the work of the Audit Committee is defined and
approved by the Board in relation to various internal control,
risk management and audit issues with a view to further
improve the Company’s corporate governance. The Audit
Committee has specific written terms of reference that is
in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31st March 2023 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

(i) reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the six months ended 30th September 2023 and
recommended to the Board for approval;

(iii) reviewed and discussed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company the accounting policies
and practices which may affect the Group and the
scope of the audit;

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHAIEKRAR AR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREES

ERZEEEE - NMNANFTZAKL - REARER
B =2B Y FTESMAK  BRFIIREE
(BZZBEIF) BMERERBRERE - 12
ERAIZE3.10(2) - FIIREERBIIFRTT
EXVEARBEEZEXERUSTIERYBEE
K-

BERZEBRBFRTIIRMRZ GF AR M
WIMNERBME R BERERER  WERHPHR
FEMB®RE - KENATRRBR/ATERFELT
BN ZCERZEESA N mERBEEREME
H o

EXECREMCEERZEGZBERE By
RETAMEE  RREEREREE  BERE
—HREARBNEEER - ERLZEBGDAIUN
AREEARTAMREZH EEMBERE - FX
ZEGZREGEAERER BEMEET HE
BERARARBRAZE®ANA -

AT RBEZZBERAFECETZTIEHRZE

() BHERIWARABE_ZT_=ZF=FH
St BRUEFREZEERGRAMB®RE X
EREESEL

(i) BHERIRARBABE_FT_=FHhA=1+
RIEAREAZRAREZERAGEMBRE

VRBEEEEL

(it) BB D A 32 RSN X BT B B0 R i 3
BV EREEY B BEREYRERG
B



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(iv) reviewed reports from the external auditor of the
Company regarding their audit on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2023 and their review on the Company’s
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 30th September 2023;

(v) reviewed and discussed reports from the internal
auditor of the Company regarding their review on the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group to ensure the effectiveness of the systems;

(vi) reviewed the effectiveness of co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors to ensure the internal
audit function with adequate resources; and

(vii) reviewed and approved the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the Company’s auditors; and
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the re-appointment of the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee
meetings were held during the Year and the attendance
record of the Audit Committee meetings is set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since
March 2012 and as at the date of this report consists of
three members, includes an Executive Director, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew (chairman of Nomination Committee)
and two Independent Non-executive Directors, being Mr.
Xu Lin Bao and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for formulating policy and making
recommendations to the Board on nominations, appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and Board succession.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and accessing the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee has specific written terms of reference that is in
compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the diversity, structure, size and composition of the Board,
reviewed and recommended the Board’'s approval for
the proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring
Directors at the 2023 annual general meeting, reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
made recommendations to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Nomination
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Nomination Committee meeting is
set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy, which is
made available at the Company’s website and sets out the
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
Directors. Below are the criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship and nomination procedures and
the process.

Selection criteria

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate,
the Nomination Committee shall consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age,
culture, ethnicity and gender diversity. The Nomination
Committee shall evaluate potential candidate(s) for election
as member(s) of the Board on the basis of the entirely of
their credentials and in light of the criteria set forth below:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) accomplishment, qualifications, perspectives, skills and
experience relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

(iii) willingness to devote adequate time to participate in
the Board’s affairs such as attending meetings of the
Board and its committees to discharge his/her duties;

(iv) willingness and ability to represent the general best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole;

(v) diversity criteria set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on
the Board;
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requirements for the Board to have sufficient
independent non-executive directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the independence of
the candidates, if applicable, with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

if a proposed candidate will be holding his/her seventh
(or more) listed company directorship, the candidate’s
ability to devote sufficient time to the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

These aforesaid criteria are for reference only, and not meant
to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

Nomination and Selection Process

(i)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

the Nomination Committee, based upon the needs
of the Board for additional or replacement Board
members, solicits ideas for possible candidates from
a number of sources, including capable individuals
personally known to and recommended by the members
of the Board and research undertaken by or on behalf
of the Nomination Committee or professional firms. The
Nomination Committee also considers recommendations
and nominations made by shareholders of the
Company, as described in (iv) below;

if one or more desirable candidate(s) is/are identified,
the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate(s), based on the criteria set out in above
selection criteria, and determine whether such
candidate(s) is/are qualified for directorship;

the Nomination Committee shall select and rank
desirable candidates by order of preference based on
the needs of the Company, and make recommendations
to the Board for directorship;

any shareholder of the Company who wishes to
nominate a person to stand for election as a Director
at a general meeting must, in addition to compliance
with requirements under the Company’'s Bye-laws,
lodge with the Company (a) a written nomination of
the candidate; (b) a written confirmation from such
nominated candidate of his or her willingness to stand
for election; and (c) biographical details of such
nominated candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules; and

(vi)

(vii)
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(v) for any person nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at any general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-
laws, the Nomination Committee shall apply the same
criteria as set out in the above selection criteria to
evaluate and determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendations to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
Details of the proposed candidate(s) including
his/her/their personal particulars and the Board’s
recommendation(s) will be included in a circular
to be sent to the shareholders for consideration in
accordance with the applicable Listing Rules.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy and make
necessary amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Nomination Policy and compliance with
regulatory requirements and corporate governance practice.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

While the Board is and remains principally responsible for
the corporate governance functions of the Company, it has
delegated the relevant duties to the Executive Committee
to ensure the proper performance of corporate governance
functions of the Company. In this connection, the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee includes various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set out
in paragraph “Executive Committee” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, the Board
and Board Committees by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and that Board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary reports to the
Board and assists the Board in functioning effectively and
efficiently. The Company Secretary also advises the Board
on governance matters and facilitates the induction and
professional development of Directors. All Directors may call
upon the Company Secretary for advice and assistance at
any time in respect to their duties and the effective operation
of the Board and the Board Committees.

Ms. Wong Yuen Sze is the Company Secretary. She is a
full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Ms. Wong undertook no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for developing and
maintaining sound and effective risk management and
internal control procedures and systems of the Group and
reviewing their effectiveness to protect shareholders’ interest
and to safeguard the Group’s assets at least annually. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The review covers financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions.

During the Year, the Company has taken risk management
as a core part of its business activities and operations.
The Company is taking steps to refine its comprehensive
risk management system that is aligned with the strategies
and operations of the Company by standardising its
risk management procedures, adopting qualitative and
quantitative measures to identify, evaluate and mitigate
the identified significant risks (including any ESG risks).
Furthermore, the Company has increased the level of
synergy between risk management and internal audit by
identifying the potential risks by reviewing the internal
control system, policies and/or procedures relating to the
Group’s business operations so as to promote the risk
control capabilities.

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which
manages the risk associated with its businesses and
operations. The system comprises the following phases:

° Identification: identify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement
of objectives;

° Evaluation: analyse the likelihood and impact of risks
and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly; and

° Management: consider the risk exposures, ensure
effective communication to the Board and monitor the
residual risks on an ongoing basis.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system
which enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as
follows:

° Control environment: a set of standards, processes
and structures that provide the basis for carrying out
internal control across the Group;

° Risk assessment: a dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed;

° Control activities: actions established by policies and
procedures to ensure that management’s directives
to mitigate risks for the achievement of objectives are
carried out;

° Information and communication: internal and external
communications to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out the daily controls; and

° Monitoring: ongoing and separate evaluations to
ascertain whether each component of the internal
control system is present and functioning.

During the Year, the Company has engaged an independent
professional firm as internal audit advisor (the “Internal
Audit Advisor”) to provide risk management and internal
control assessment services to assist the Board and the
Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring and in performing
the internal audit functions for the Group. The review
included interviews with relevant management and key
process owners and preforming walkthrough tests to identify
the major risk and significant deficiencies, and making
recommendation for approving the internal control system
to the Audit Committee for further approval. The Board,
through the Audit Committee, has reviewed, considered and
discussed the findings and recommendations of the internal
audit reports prepared by the Internal Audit Advisor for the
Year. Having taken the recommendations in the internal
audit reports into consideration, the Group will continue to
improve its risk management and internal control systems.
In addition, the Internal Audit Advisor has also performed
a follow-up assessment on the findings as identified in the
internal audit reports to assess the remediation status.
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The Board has considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget
of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting function and those relating to the ESG performance
and reporting, by reviewing the internal audit reports
prepared by the Internal Audit Advisor and management
letters submitted by external auditor, if any. The Board
and the Audit Committee met with the internal and external
auditors and management to discuss the findings from their
works and recommendations.

During the Year, the Board is not aware of any significant
internal control and risk management weaknesses or
inconsistencies with the risk management policies, and
considered that the existing risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate. The Company
has complied with the relevant code provisions of the CG
Code relating to risk management and internal control.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy, which is
made available at the Company’s website. Such policy aims
to provide reporting channels and guidance to employees
on reporting improper activities, misconduct or malpractice
within the Company or any violation of rules, regulations or
laws relating to fraud against shareholders, and reassurance
to whistleblowers of the protection. The nature, status and
the results of the complaints received under such policy are
reported to the designated executives and/or the chairman
of the Audit Committee, in the case of a report disclosing a
possible criminal offence.

During the Year, no incident of fraud or misconduct that have
material effect on the Group’s financial statements or overall
operations has been discovered. The use and effectiveness
of such policy will be monitored and reviewed regularly by
the Audit Committee.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company has adopted a code of business ethics
and anti-corruption policy, which is made available at the
Company's website. The Group believes that honesty,
integrity and fair play are its important assets in business. All
Directors and employees (including full-time, part-time and
temporary employees) of the Company should adhere to the
Group’s high standards of business, professional and ethical
conduct in carrying out the Group's business and familiarise
themselves with integrity and conduct requirements and
other policies that are implemented by the Group from time
to time including but without limitation the Anti-Fraud and
Anti-Money Laundering Policies, Whistleblowing Policy and
other relevant policies.
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The Company would review such policy from time to time in
compliance with latest legislation and meets the request of
business needs.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company is aware of its continuing disclosure
obligations as to inside information and has a policy with
regard to the principles and procedures for handling
and disseminating the Company’s inside information in
compliance with the requirements under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules.

The Executive Committee and the designated executives
of the Company are responsible for assisting the Board in
reviewing potential inside information and assessing the
need for disclosure and to oversee the internal reporting
system and procedures. The Company has taken reasonable
precautions for preserving the confidentiality of the inside
information, including inter alia:

(i) access to inside information is restricted to specific
persons on a need-to-know basis;

(i) enter into appropriate confidentiality agreements when
negotiating on potential and significant transactions;

(iii) codify a strict prohibition on unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee handbook;
and

(iv) circulate reminder, from time to time, to the Directors
and specified relevant employees of the Group, who
are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information, of their duties and obligations in respect of
dealings in the securities of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external
auditor of the Company, provided the following services
to the Group and their respective fees charges are set out
below:
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HK$’000
Types of services REER FET
Audit fee for the Group REE v EZER 2,669
Taxation services % R 130
ESG report services IR g REBWERS 100
Total kL] 2,899
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts which were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
A statement by the external auditor about its reporting
responsibilities is set out in the independent auditor’s report
included in this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Group is committed to promoting transparency and
maintaining effective communication with shareholders,
investors, analysts and the press. During the Year, the
Company has reviewed its shareholders communication
policy, which is made available at the Company’s website,
to ensure the effective implementation of such policy
and the effective and timely dissemination of information
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments, corporate governance and
risk profile) to shareholders and the investment community.
The management from time to time meets with existing and
potential investors to make corporate presentations.

The Group also promotes communications with its
shareholders and the investment community mainly
through (i) Company’s financial reports (interim and annual
reports), corporate governance report, ESG reports,
results announcements, other corporate announcements
and circulars which are published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange; and (ii) annual general
meetings and other general meetings which may be
convened. Such general meetings are presided over and led
by the Chairman, Board members, in particular, either the
chairmen or deputy chairmen of Board committees or their
delegates, appropriate management executives and external
auditor will attend annual general meetings and/or other
general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions. The
Company’s user-friendly website (https://www.hkshalliance.
com) provides investors with the latest news, corporate
profile, business information and financial information
including announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports, etc.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS BEXH

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional MNARERERN KRB ZEEZE NI mEtE) o

documents during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS B ERFEF

The Board endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with EFCUNEEARTERER - XA EERE
shareholders. The Company encourages the shareholders to 2MREAE MESEMhEFLESTFRELE
attend general meetings and the Chairmen of the Board and fEERBFEAE([MEAFAS ) AREIEMN -

the Board Committees should attend annual general meeting
(the “AGM") to answer questions.

(A) Convening a Special General Meeting by (A) BRABBAKRRIBAIKRE

Shareholders

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If the
Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

A meeting convened under this section by the
requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to
be convened by Directors. Any reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists by reason of the failure of
the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall be repaid
to the requisitionists by the Company.
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(B) Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
shareholder(s) to make requisition to the Company
to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any
resolution which is intended to be moved at an AGM
or circulate a statement in respect of any proposed
resolution or business to be considered at a general
meeting of the Company. Under section 79 of the
Companies Act, at the expense of the requisitionists
unless the Company otherwise resolves, it shall be the
duty of the Company on the requisition in writing by
such number of shareholders:

(a) to give to the shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next AGM notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting;

(b) to circulate to the shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The number of shareholders necessary to make the
abovementioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(a) either any number of shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to
which the requisition relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred shareholders.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be
given, and any such statement shall be circulated, to
shareholders entitled to have notice of the meeting sent
to them by serving a copy of the resolution or statement
on each such shareholder in any manner permitted for
service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any such
resolution shall be given to any other shareholder by
giving notice of the general effect of the resolution in
any manner permitted for giving him notice of meetings
of the Company, provided that the copy shall be
served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be
given, as the case may be, in the same manner and,
so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of
the meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be
served or given at that time, it shall be served or given
as soon as practicable thereafter.
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Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions
to be met before the Company is bound to give any
notice of resolution or to circulate any statement.
Pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act, the
Company shall not be bound to give notice of any
resolution or to circulate any statement as mentioned in
the above unless.

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the
requisitionists, or two or more copies which
between them contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists, is deposited at the registered office
of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before
the meeting; and

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less
than one week before the meeting; and

(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures in the
above (i.e. the giving of notice of resolution and/or
circulation of statement).

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
registered office of the Company, an AGM is called
for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been
deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
above-mentioned time shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

(C) Making Enquiry

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. For other enquiries, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention
of Company Secretary by mail to Rooms 1103-05, 11th
Floor, East Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as

a Director are made available at the Company's website
(https://www.hkshalliance.com).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, which aims
to set out the approach with the objective of achieving right
balance of the amount of dividend and profits retained in the
business for various purposes.

In determining whether to propose a dividend and the
dividend payment ratio in respect of any particular financial
year or period, the Board will take into account a desire to
maintain a constant and stable dividend level with an overall
objective of maximising shareholders’ value over a longer
term while retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future
growth, and will consider the following factors in declaring
or recommending dividend to the shareholders from time to
time:

(i)  financial results of the Group;

(ii) shareholders’ interests;

(iii) general business conditions and strategies;

(iv) expected financial performance and market conditions;

(v) projected level of capital expenditures and future
investment plans;

(vi) level of cash and retained earnings;
(vii) possible effects on liquidity and financial position;

(vili

=

statutory and regulatory restrictions (including the laws
of Bermuda and the Company’s Bye-laws and any other
applicable laws and regulations);

(ix) tax considerations; and

(x) any other factors the Board may deem relevant.
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Dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
for a financial year or period in the form of interim dividend,
final dividend, special dividend and any distribution of net
profits that the Board may deem appropriate. The Company
may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

The actual dividend that the Board may declare or
recommend in respect of any particular financial year or
period will be subject to the factors under this policy and
there can be no assurance that dividend will be declared or
paid in any particular amount for any particular financial year
or period.

The Board will review this policy and make necessary
amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
this policy.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June 2024
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents its
annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March
2024 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in distribution and
processing of construction materials such as steel products;
trading of sanitary wares and kitchen cabinets; and property
investment and fund management businesses.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment information
by business segments and geographical markets are set
out in Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 84 of this annual
report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.00 cent per ordinary share for the Year (2023: HK1.50
cents per ordinary share), payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on Wednesday, 4th September 2024,
subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 23rd August
2024 (the “2024 AGM"). Final dividend is expected to be
paid on Friday, 13th September 2024.

During the Year, an interim dividend of HK1.50 cents per
ordinary share was paid to the shareholders by the Company
on 8th January 2024.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
during the following periods and during these periods, no
transfer of shares will be registered:

(i) For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM:

The register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 20th August 2024 to Friday, 23rd
August 2024, both days inclusive, for the purpose of
ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2024 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited (the “Branch Share Registrar”) of Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 19th August 2024.

(iiy For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the
final dividend:

On the assumption that the resolution for declaring
the final dividend for the Year is duly passed at the
2024 AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 2nd September 2024 to
Wednesday, 4th September 2024, both days inclusive,
for the purpose of ascertaining the shareholders’
entitlement to the final dividend. In order to qualify for
the final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Branch Share Registrar for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 30th August 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s business as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) covering a review of the Group's
business, an analysis of the Group’s performance using
financial key performance indicators, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year and the future development in the
Group’s business, are provided in the sections headed
“Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, which shall
form an integral part of this “Report of the Directors”.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We believe the Group's financial position, results of operation
and business prospects may be affected by certain risks
and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the
Group’s businesses, some of which are beyond our control.
There may be other possible risks and uncertainties which
we are not aware of or which may not be material at present
but may turn out to be material in the future. The followings
are the major risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

Financial Risks

The Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus
on managing financial risks including interest rate, foreign
exchange and liquidity risks. The Group has always adhered
to prudent financial management principles. Facing the
volatility of Renminbi (“RMB”), the Group will continue
to match RMB payments with RMB receipts to minimise
exchange exposure. Forward foreign exchange contracts
would be entered into when suitable opportunities arise and
when management of the Group considers appropriate, to
hedge against major non-HK dollars currency exposures.
The Group always monitors cash flows and maintains an
adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to ensure the
ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows to mitigate liquidity risk.

Operational Risk

The Group may face operational risk resulting from
inadequate or deficiency in internal processes, people
and systems or from external events. The Group has clear
responsibility and accountability rests with every function at
divisional and departmental levels. The Group are governed
and guided by good standard operating procedures,
proper authorisation policies and reporting framework.
Our management will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time to adjust potential risk response.

Business Risk

The Group’s business performance will be affected by
various factors, including but not limited to economic
conditions, competitive environment of steels and building
materials industry, performance of property markets and
regulatory changes in regions where our business carry on
or investments locate, which would not be mitigated even
with careful and prudent investment strategy and strict
procedure.
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Human Capital and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract
and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and
required skills, experience and competence to meet the
business objectives and strategy. We will provide attractive
remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel.
Through training of existing personnel and hiring of new
personnel that raise the average, we continue to create a
great team capable of making sure we are one of the best
long-term investments for our shareholders and a great
place to work for our employees.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to achieving environmental
sustainability. Our commitment to protect the environment is
well reflected by our continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in our daily business operations.

We encourage environmental protection and promote
awareness towards environmental protection to our
employees and other stakeholders. An environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) working group, which is chaired by
an Executive Director, Mr. Lau Chi Chiu, and consists of our
several line managers, has been set up to assist the Board
in enhancing ESG implementation. The Group strives to
reduce its emission intensity in our daily business operations
through various measures, including but not limited to, the
installation of renewable energy facilities, adoption of energy
saving measures for our office as well as properties under
our management, recycling and reducing the use of paper,
metal and plastic in our daily operation.

Community Involvement

We care about the communities where we are active and
continuously support social initiatives. The Group has
sponsored and participated in a wide range of charitable
activities. Our employees have also participated in various
corporate social responsibility initiatives. We care about our
employees. We provide an enjoyable working environment
and an integrity platform to ensure employees’ well-being
and safety.
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We were awarded as the “Caring Company” from The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service since 2007, and “Heart to
Heart Company” by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth
Group in 2010.

For further information about the environmental policies
and performance and community involvement of the Group
during the Year, please refer to the ESG report (the “ESG
Report”) which will be separately released on the website
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and the website of the Company under the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section,
the discussions of which shall form an integral part of this
“Report of the Directors”.

To access the online version of the ESG Report, please refer
to the website address set out in the “Corporate Information”
on page 7 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has formulated a clear organisational structure
and accountability for implementation of procedures and
monitoring of risk, which helps to ensure adequacy and
effectiveness of controls over the reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

During the Year, as far as the Company is concerned, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group.

EEEWME

BME T LFERSHEEL MBS HESE
ZIBRARAEIER : YR SFEGHETE
FEHEREZ[ALLEIEE-

BERAAEERAFENRERRLRRANA LGS
H7E—TER  F2HERTIEHRBEHRA
RHMBERA R (B ) A0 R AR R R
B HEREARRE | -HANEKRE HEkER
wE(MRR - LB RERME]) - AHWIENK
AEZGHRE 28D -

MACBBIRYE AL REARE HELIR - 2
WA RET Al AR ER BB -

BFHEBERRER

AEBEHE-—BBMABRBLEAESE - LB
TR RERAR - BB BNEREE KA BIES
M mE 2 RIS - BEME N - ANERE
R ERRIER

RAFE  ARRFAEE  AEEYEEER
ST EBTEAERIOER - ABE AR E 2 X5
LERRETE -

2023/24 Annual Report | ¥

59
a



-

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We have a deep sense of obligation to our stakeholders.
We will consistently execute our strategies to provide
desired returns on investment and sustainable growth to
our shareholders. We recognise that employees are our
valuable assets. We hire people for attitude and invest in
development of our employees to create loyalty and love to
the Company. We understand the importance of maintaining
good relationship with our stakeholders (including but not
limited to, employees, customers, suppliers and business
partners) to achieve our long-term goals. To accomplish this,
we continue to get closer to our stakeholders, build lasting
relationship, and keep good communication to understand
their needs and share with them our business development.
During the Year, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Company and its stakeholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31st March 2024 and as at the date of this report,
there were 638,604,315 ordinary shares of the Company
issued and fully paid.

Details of share capital and share options of the Company
are respectively set out in Notes 32 and 33 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Movements in reserves and retained earnings of the Group
and the Company during the Year are respectively set out in
Notes 34 and 39 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31st March 2024, approximately HK$53,986,000
(2023: approximately HK$53,986,000) of the reserves
and approximately HK$48,830,000 (2023: approximately
HK$49,484,000) of the retained earnings were available for
distribution to the Company’s owners.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company repurchased a total of
1,810,000 shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration (before expenses) of HK$455,486.80. All the
repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled on 27
March 2024. The directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
believe that share repurchases will be beneficial to the
shareholders as the shares are traded at a discount to the
net asset value per share. Details of the shares repurchased
are as follows:

Number
of shares
repurchased

BORHHE

Date of repurchase

@85 B HA

20th February 2024 1,310,000
—EFZA=1H

21st February 2024 500,000
—E-F—A=+—H

Total 1,810,000
st

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND RIGHT-OF-USE
ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right-of-use assets of the
Group during the Year are set out in Notes 14, 15 and 16,
respectively, to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and

joint ventures are set out in Notes 18 and 19, respectively, to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31st March 2024

are set out in Note 31 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES
Details of the pension schemes of the Group as at 31st

March 2024 are set out in Note 8 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption

available to the shareholders be reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$2,884,000 (2023: approximately
HK$2,600,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

Mr. Li Yinquan

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny (retired on 18th August 2023)

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Lau Chi Chiu and Mr. Li
Yinquan shall retire from office by rotation at the 2024 AGM
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
such meeting.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with a
fixed term of office for three years which can be terminated
by either party giving not less than one month’s written
notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”"))
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Long positions in shares and options of the Company

EERKRS - HEARO KR ERE 22
BmNRE

RZZB-_WF=A=+—H EERARAZER
TRAEBRARRHEEMEEEE(ER R ES
NEEDI([ 75 RS ED ) E XV EE) 2Bt
ARG RERETEE 2 BE AR B (a) R
BESLHEGIIEXVEE7RESD B LA
SARNA R A(BEREBEESBERDZZ
EREREFEIRERB 2B LAR) - (D) &
AIARBESF M ERDIFEI2KETUFEZE
A (o) RIBE LT AR AP ER C3 Fdl 2 L 3
TAERETEFRZHIREST R ([RESTRI ) 44
AAMEARNA MRz m PR BT

RRARAZRORBREZFRE

Number of
Attributable interest Number of ~ Approximate  share options Aggregate
Name Directors Capacity to the Directors Shares percentage (Note c) Interest
£33 5 ESRIERR RHEE BB BREHA (Mic) CHE 3
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew  Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 89,337,806 13.99% - 89,337,806
hEBLE Perfect Capital International Corp. (Note a)
% 4|7 APerfect Capital Intemational Corp. HE(ERE  BA(HE)
s (Mita)
Interest of controlled corporation, Desmed interest (indirectly) 190,424,000 29.82% — 190,424,000
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (Note b)
S5 2 EHuge Top Industrial Ltd. 2 B& (fi3b) RBIERR ER (%)
Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 3,918,000 0.61% - 3,918,000
ERfAA 100% (%)
283,679,806 44.42% — 283,679,806
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Beneficial owner 100% (directly) = = 1,000,000 1,000,000
Ry ERfAA 100% (E%)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 5,246,622 0.82% = 5,246,622
Uik ERfAA 100% (%)
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Notes:

a. Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”) was beneficially interested in these
shares through his wholly-owned company, Perfect Capital International
Corp. (“Perfect Capital”). Mr. Yao is the sole director of Perfect Capital.

b. Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in these shares through his
controlling company, Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (“Huge Top”). Mr. Yao
directly held approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owned approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top.
Mr. Yao is the sole director of Huge Top.

C. Details of the interest of the Director(s) in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2024, none of
the Directors, chief executives of the Company and their
associates had any personal, family, corporate or other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (include interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate, and no Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their respective spouses or
children under the age of 18 had been granted any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor
exercised any such right.
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PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
DIVISIONS 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, as at 31st
March 2024, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following
entities had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares which fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name Capacity

=LV )

BEESZRPERBEXVIE2RE
SO MEAAKRBRBIXRZAL

B EXTEERIRG BB RIS 2R
WRI—EFRE BRI R F-mES A
=+—R - AR FREES R DI E 336
FERERMZ2S  THEBRBG RABRS
A IREE AR R EXVEE2RESH
SEMAR T RE 2 ERTAR

Number
of shares

R EE

Approximate
percentage
OB

Perfect Capital Beneficial owner 89,337,806 13.99%
EmlEA A
Interest of controlled corporation a 190,424,000 29.82%
SIEH AR 2R
279,761,806 43.81%
Huge Top Beneficial owner 190,424,000 29.82%
EmlEA A
Mr. Wong Koon Chi Beneficial owner 38,224,000 5.99%
TR kE ExnEEA
Note: f5E -
a. These shares were held by Huge Top. Perfect Capital owned a. ZE KD Huge TopHfA - Perfect Capital #5 Huge

approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top and therefore
was deemed to be interested in these shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2024, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons (other
than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
2011 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11th
August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The participants of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme includes any employee, agents, consultant
or representative, including any executive or non-executive
Director, of any member of the Group or any other person
who satisfies the selection criteria prescribed by the rules of
the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date
(i.e. 11th August 2011) and expired on 10th August 2021.

Before the expiration of the 2011 Share Option Scheme and
under the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at their discretion, grant options to the participants
who fall within the definition prescribed in the 2011 Share
Option Scheme to subscribe for shares of the Company at
the price not less than the highest of: (a) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets on the date of offer of the grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (b) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the grant of the option; and (c) the nominal
value of the shares. Details of the terms of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme were contained in the Company’s circular
dated 8th July 2011.

Upon expiration of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, no further
share options will be granted by the Company thereunder
but in all other respects the provisions of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force and all share options
granted prior to such expiration shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance therewith.
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The total number of shares available for issue upon exercise BE-T——FERETE - FREEREMER
of all outstanding Share Options already granted under 2011 TECEREETER  AITETZROBHA
Share Option Scheme is 2,100,000 shares, representing 2,100,000 % " \EAR R TR AFRA B2 2817
0.33% of the issued share capital of the Company as at H)0.33% o —E——FERETE 2 FEINFE -
date of this annual report. Please refer to Note 33 to the ELHIBEM 2 R A I SRR M FESS -
accompanying consolidated financial statements for further

details of the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

A summary of the movements of the outstanding share  RAFE @ RE-T——FHEBETE S RTEZ
options under the 2011 Share Option Scheme during the — BREEFHPE0T
Year are as follows:

Number of share options

BREHE
Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
Name and category Exercise price Beginning during during during during End of
of participant Date of grant Validity period per share Note  of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
SREN LR ESilEL AR BRITEE i REEY)  AFERT AFEAR  AEEAN  AFEEH REER
Director:
S
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 1 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
fregs —F-RF-A=tH “Z-1F-A-tRZ 0928 %7
“Z-RE-ATAA
Sub-total 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000
et
Employees:
E&:
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 1 1,100,000 - - - — 1,100,000
19th January 2025
Hit “E-Rf-ACTH “E-RF-ACTBE 0 0928%%
ZEZRF-ATNR
Sub-total 1,100,000 — — — — 1,100,000
N
Others:
Hih:
In aggregate 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 2 1,246,622 — —  (1,246,622) — -
26th November 2023
it ZE-ZF+-A-ttA  ZT-ZHEt-A-TtBEZE 104381
ZEZZEF-ACtRA
Total of 2011 Share 3,346,622 — —  (1,246,622) — 2,100,000
Option Scheme
—Z-—FERE
RS
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Notes:

1. The share options were vested in four tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the
extent of one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd
and 4th tranche becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years
2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively and the years onwards till 19th
January 2025.

2. The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to 17th
December 2014 under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were adjusted
for the open offer completed in December 2014.

2021 Share Option Scheme

In view of (a) the expiration of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme on 10th August 2021; and (b) no further share
options can be granted pursuant to the 2011 Share Option
Scheme after its expiration, the Company adopted another
share option scheme on 11th August 2021 (the “2021 Share
Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/or
to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain highcalibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group. The participants of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme include any employee (whether full time or part
time), executive or officers of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including executive or non-executive Director)
and any business consultant, financial or legal adviser of
the Company or any of its subsidiary or any other person,
who satisfies the criteria prescribed by the terms of the 2021
Share Option Scheme.

Under the terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme,
the Board may, at their discretion, grant options to the
participants who fall within the definition prescribed in
the 2021 Share Option Scheme to subscribe for shares
of the Company at the price not less than the highest of:
(a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of the
grant of the option, which must be a business day; (b) the
average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant of
the option; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.
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The total number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme was up to 10% of the number
of shares in issue as at 11th August 2021 (i.e. 64,123,231).
The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2021 Share Option Scheme, together
will all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under any other share option schemes of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries (including the 2011 Share Option
Scheme), must not exceed 30% of the shares in issues from
time to time.

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company,
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and the share options granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
to each grantee (including both exercised or outstanding
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue for the time being.

There is no minimum period for which an option under the
2021 Share Option Scheme must be held before such option
be exercised. A non-refundable consideration of HK$10.00
is payable by the grantee to the Company no later than 28
days from the date of grant on acceptance of the offer.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme was effective from 11th
August 2021 and unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain valid and effective for the period of ten years
from that date (i.e. 10th August 2031).

No share option has been granted by the Company under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

Further details of the terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme

were contained in the Company’s circular dated 12th July
2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Other than the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share

Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group, or subsisted during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or subsisted
at any time during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they
may incur in connection with their duties. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party or were
parties and in which a Director or any entities connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group for the Year
are set out in Note 38 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

To the best knowledge of Directors, none of these related
party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling
shareholders or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete
directly or indirectly with the businesses of the Group or has
any other conflict of interests with the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 34.1% of the Group's total
revenue, while the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 50.4% of the Group's total
purchases. In addition, the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 12.7% of the Group's total
revenue while the largest supplier of the Group accounted
for approximately 12.7% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest
in the five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicity available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the Year have been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and duly
approved by the Board under the recommendation of the
Audit Committee.

AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for their
appointment as the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year
is to be proposed at the 2024 AGM. There was no change in
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June 2024
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew

aged 58, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in December 1994. He became the Chairman
of the Board in July 1999 and Chief Executive Officer in
November 2015. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yao is
an external director of China COSCO Shipping Corporation
Limited, a holding company of certain companies listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”), Shanghai Stock Exchange, Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, Singapore Exchange and Athens Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yao is an independent non-executive director
of China Railway Signal & Communication Corporation
Limited (which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) and Kader Holdings
Company Limited (which is listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange). He was an independent non-executive director of
Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd. (which is
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange). Mr. Yao serves as the Hong Kong Deputy
to the 12th, 13th and 14th National People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China, the chairman of Federation
of Hong Kong-Shanghai Associations (formerly known as
Hongkong-Shanghai Economic Development Association),
the vice-chairman of the Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce Hong Kong, the vice-chairman of Shanghai
Overseas Friendship Association, the honorary founding
chairman of Shanghai Hong Kong Association, the chairman
of the council of Lingnan University and the board member
of Fudan University. He was awarded “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong” by Federation of Hong Kong
Industries in 2004, Justice of Peace by Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) in 2008 and “Bronze
Bauhinia Star” by HKSAR in 2016. Mr. Yao graduated from
the University of California, Berkeley with a bachelor’s
degree in science and Harvard Graduate School of Business
with a master’s degree in business administration.
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Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

aged 57, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2015 and is a director of certain
subsidiaries and the chairman of environmental, social and
governance working group of the Company. He joined the
Group in June 1991. Mr. Lau is responsible for the daily
operations of the business of the Group and has held
various sales and marketing and supply chain positions in
the plastics and steels businesses of the Group. He was the
general manager of Group’s plastic business from April 2003
to November 2011 and the general manager of the Group’s
steels business from December 2011 to May 2013. Mr. Lau
graduated from Curtin University of Technology in Australia
with a bachelor’'s degree in commerce (marketing and
management) and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a master’'s degree in business administration.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

aged 75, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2006. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Xu is currently the vice chairman of
the Institute of Real Estate Shanghai Academy of Social
Sciences. He served as the standing executive of China Real
Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session), the chairman
of operation and management professional committee of
China Real Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session),
the chairman of Shanghai Housing and Land Group, the
vice chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Trade Association
(the 5th and 6th session) and the chairman of executives of
Yiju China Real Estate Research Center. He graduated from
Fudan University, Shanghai with a degree in EMBA. Mr. Xu is
a senior qualified economist.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

aged 71, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2014. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung was an independent
non-executive director of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. He has over 40 years’ working experience
in the banking industry of Hong Kong and the Mainland
China. Mr. Yeung began his career with the HSBC Group
in 1972 and advanced himself in the organisation by taking
up different positions under various business streams
including personal banking, sales and services, operations
as well as branches, regional network and personal wealth
management. Since 2001, Mr. Yeung was relocated to
Shanghai and took up the role of Branch Manager Shangha
and Head of Personal Financial Services China of HSBC. In
June 2006, he was seconded to Hang Seng Bank (China)
Limited and appointed as the Head of Personal Financial
Service and Wealth Management China. Mr. Yeung was
appointed as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Head of
Personal Financial Services and Wealth Management in May
2007. He retired from HSBC Group in January 2014. Mr.
Yeung is the Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber
of Commerce in Shanghai. He was a member of Chinese
People’'s Political Consultative Conference Committee (the
11th and 12th session) in Shanghai. Mr. Yeung was awarded
the “Magnolia Gold Award” presented by the Shanghai
Municipal Government to recognise his outstanding
contributions to the economic and social development, and
international exchanges of Shanghai. He was also awarded a
Professional Diploma in Company Direction and a Certificate
in Sustainability Leadership by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

EEREREEAERE

BRRKE

t+—®m R-T-OF=ARZERARESE
UEMITEE RARARBERZEGRES
ZEEXRE - BAENEEARBABRIMER
T ZHMEEBREEARAAZBIFNTE
Z-REAEBIUTFREBLBEANRITITED
THEER -BEER N _FHREMAESE
B RZEBZTRAXEKESECIRERE (2
EEARIT HERRYE  2BURDTT  HE
BRLEAMEERE)  B-_TT—F Hi4E
BRI e YHREEZZ EESTTITREMEA
TRRGTEAE R_TTRFNA WAL
AMEERT (PE) ARARLEZRERTEE
ACBHREEMEEERBEE -HAER_-F
ZLFRARZERBTHARLEAA S RIRE
FHMEEEXEGHAE BFR_T—NF-—AEE
CEERET-BHBEEARTEEE (BR) B
LEREER - RN ERTEARBAMEAESZ
(B+—EME+_E) LETBRHEE - H%
AR EEBTBAER [BEWEER] URTRK
HEBRBERM SRR URYBERRIE LA
HER - WTEBEEEZEEERARESTEE
XERBEARKBERRES

2023/24 Annual Report | ¥

75
a



-

EERGSREEANERE

Mr. Li Yinquan

aged 69, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2018. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Li serves
as an independent non-executive director of other listed
companies on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange namely, China Agri-Products Exchange Limited,
China Everbright Bank Company Limited (which is also
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), Genertec Universal
Medical Group Company Limited, Mainland Headwear
Holdings Limited and Million Cities Holdings Limited. He
served respectively as the general manager of financial
department, chief financial officer, vice president of China
Merchants Group and chief executive officer of China
Merchants Capital Investment Co., Ltd. He also served as
an executive director of other listed companies on the main
board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, China
Merchants China Direct Investments Limited and China
Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited and as a non-
executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (which
is also listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange) as well as an
independent non-executive director of Kimou Environmental
Holding Limited (which is listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange) and Lizhi Inc. (which is listed
on NASDAQ). Mr. Li also serves as the Hong Kong Deputy
to the 12th, 13th and 14th National People’s Congress of the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li graduated from Shaanxi
Institute of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’'s degree
in economics. He was also awarded a master's degree
in economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (formerly known as Graduate School of the
People’'s Bank of China) and a master's degree in banking
and finance for development from Finafrica Institute in Milan,
Italy.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The abovementioned Executive Directors are members of
senior management of the Group.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHAIEKRAR AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT |

To the Shareholders of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 84 to
220, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March 2024;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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VRS (R

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the
valuation of investment properties.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&EAIZRAR AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter

HREHEE

Valuation of investment properties

RENRNMGEE

Refer to notes 4(a), 15 and 19 to the consolidated
f/nanc/a/ statements

BRI E AN iT4(a) - 16519

As at 31st March 2024, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") was approximately HK$1,281.1
million and a fair value loss of approximately
HK$13,356,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement during the year. The Group also
has investment properties held through investments
accounted for using the equity method with the
Group’s share of their carrying amount of HK$638.7
million as at 31st March 2024 and share of a
fair value loss of approximately HK$19,493,000
were recognised during the year. The Group
performed valuations on its investment properties
and those held through investments accounted
for using the equity method, with the assistance
of two independent professional valuers based
on the discounted cash flow approach, income
capitalisation approach and/or the direct comparison
approach.
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We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
balance to the financial position of the Group, and
the significant judgement and estimates involved
in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties which is dependent on key assumptions
including market rents, term and reversionary yields
and market prices etc.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNES MR ERRET SR

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuations of the investment properties included:

B EEEHREMENEERMETHRFEHE

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of
valuation and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors
such as significant judgements involved in determining
assumptions to be applied.
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We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers.

B EBELINEEERMBBER N  EXZENESH
1 o

We involved our internal valuation expert in assessing
the methodologies and the key assumptions,
including market rents, term and reversionary yields
and market prices etc, used by the management’s
expert by comparing with relevant comparable
market data and industry research.

B AR E B K E B L BAE R Al & LR A T IS BUE &
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Based upon the above, we considered that
management judgement and estimation applied in
respect of the relevant valuation were supportable by
the evidence obtained and procedures performed.
ERULERNESNER  DEROETIREMTIFE
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B M AR

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#Ht AR AR AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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B ZHEHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&EAIZRAR AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT\

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Chung Bor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27th June 2024
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'CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

melEEx

For the year ended 31st March 2024 £ =&

TE=ZA=1T—HILFE

2024
—ECmE
HK$’000
FTEx
Revenue WA 5 2,303,176 2,658,481
Cost of sales SHEM AR 7 (1,919,099) (2,306,497)
Gross profit EF 384,077 351,984
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHZ H 7 (25,111) (13,501)
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment SREERNBERHBRE 7
loss on financial assets - net (Bg) — 5% 2,404 (3,634)
General and administrative expenses —RERATERE 7 (149,133) (153,668)
Other gains - net Hib iz — F5 6 1,062 3,803
Net fair value loss on investment properties REWELAABEEEFE 15 (13,356) (4,206)
Operating profit K RF 199,943 180,778
Finance income BT UA 10 916 755
Finance costs HBER 10 (92,255) (76,852)
Share of results of investments g N 19
accounted for using the equity method ZIRE ¥R (22,750) (11,297)
Profit before income tax BRETBHRADER 85,854 93,384
Income tax expense Frigfi it 11 (8,844) (11,201)
Profit for the year FE R 77,010 82,183
Profit/(loss) attributable to: PR F, (B518)
Owners of the Company Vi/NEIEZEPN 78,782 82,846
Non-controlling interests FEPE M R 2 (1,772) (663)
77,010 82,183
Earnings per ordinary share attributable ~ A2 FHEBABEEE
to owners of the Company for the year BREBEREN
Basic earnings per ordinary share BREBRERNRET 13 HK12.31 centsi&fll HK12.94 centsi{l
Diluted earnings per ordinary share FREBREEEF 13 HK12.31 cents#fll HK12.94 cents&{l
The above consolidated income statement should be read in AR S 18 %5 7% P8 B RE BT A PR 5 — GFBOGE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AEEHERR

For the year ended 31st March 2024 HZ == —NF=A=+—HILFE

2024
—E-NE
HK$’000
THT
Profit for the year FERF 77,010 82,183
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Ht2mEWA(EE) :
Items that may be reclassified HEREHSEA
subsequently to profit or loss: B&R2HEA
— (Loss)/gain on cash flow hedge —REmERz (ki8), ke (1,668) 484
- Release of exchange reserve upon S0 VNCINAE E iR il v
deregistration of subsidiaries & AR ERE L 631 —
- Currency translation differences —EEER 5 (84,371) (109,035)
Item that will not be reclassified FTEEHIES
to profit or loss: B&R2HEA
- Change in fair value of financial asset —ERAAEERFAEAM
at fair value through other EEBRAZCREE
comprehensive income BAEBEEE (2,907) 1,903
Other comprehensive loss for the year FEHMEHEER (88,315) (106,648)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXHEBEAH (11,305) (24,465)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: (i 2HEEEALE :
- Owners of the Company S VNI ZEPN (1,111) (13,676)
- Non-controlling interests — FEIE I (10,194) (10,789)
(11,305) (24,465)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income FiliiRA 2B R E AR AN —OF5E -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Asat31stl\/larch2024b’/\_—<_@$ A=+—H

2024
—E-NE
HK$’000
FHT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B R 14 46,969 38,766
Investment properties WEME 15 1,281,131 1,376,991
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 16 40,337 10,996
Investments accounted for using TERENR
the equity method ZIRE 19 281,176 313,118
Prepayments, deposits FENFIAE - EZek
and receivables JE Uk BR X 25, 26 18,917 11,681
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTBIREE 20 29,493 38,894
Financial asset at fair value BAREERFAER
through profit or loss ZEREE 22 3,914 3,701
Financial asset at fair value through BRAnBEFAELMEE
other comprehensive income WAZ EREE 21 1,745 4,652
Total non-current assets FFREBEEEEE 1,703,682 1,798,799
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits AR - Ee Rk
and other receivables E b U BR 3R 26 51,449 94,058
Inventories rE 24 380,586 473,057
Trade and bill receivables JFEUER TR N B4R 25 367,077 430,674
Derivative financial instruments MTESBMIA 23 — 1,668
Pledged bank deposits BEMIEITER 27 1,804 11,680
Cash and cash equivalents BeMEeEE 27 145,304 147,485
Total current assets REEEHLRE 946,220 1,158,622
Total assets EEMARE 2,649,902 2,957,421
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF F|NANC|AL POS|T|ON

Asat31stMarch2024E"_7_E$ A=+—H

2024
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEkaE
Equity attributable to owners EATEBA
of the Company GRS
Share capital & A 32 63,860 64,041
Reserves & 34 876,714 897,108
940,574 961,149
Non-controlling interests FEIE GRS 35 101,285 111,504
Total equity MR 1,041,859 1,072,653
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kFRBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables  JEzt & & K E M EEER 29 11,633 8,136
Deferred income tax liabilities EEMERAE 20 86,228 98,129
Borrowings BE 31 343,354 64,530
Lease liabilities HERE 16 9,349 138
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEHEE 450,564 170,933
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bill payables B ERRER 28 100,579 204,056
Contract liabilities EHIBE 47,830 38,979
Accrued liabilities and other payables  JEzt & & R E M ETEER 29 64,265 61,090
Provisions BiE 30 316 25,876
Current income tax liabilities EHSHRas 8,458 10,563
Borrowings B 31 916,147 1,368,789
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 19,884 4,482
Total current liabilities REEEARE 1,157,479 1,713,835
Total liabilities =Rtk 1,608,043 1,884,768
Total equity and liabilities EERkEEEE 2,649,902 2,957,421

The above consolidated statement of financial position
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 27 June 2024 and were signed on its

behalf.

Yao Cho Fai, Andrew

A B TR 3R e HE BE B RO BN T — GBI RE

mEMBHRRER
SetE  YRRFEF

Lau Chi Chiu

o

_EE/‘_\H “t++REE

PkE 278
Chairman Executive Director
e HITEFE
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For the year ended 31st March 2024 £ =&

TE=ZA=1T—HILFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATEE AR
Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital  reserves  earnings Total interest equity
ka  Hftfie  RERW By FEHEER RESEE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Thx TAL TET TAT TEL TEL
(Note 32)  (Note 34)  (Note 34)
(Wiks2)  (HrsEad)  (HieEsd)
As at 1st April 2022 RZE--—#NE-H 64,041 627,649 299,145 990,835 123,393 1,114,228
Profit for the year FERF — — 82,846 82,846 (663) 82,183
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EthzERA/(EB)
- Gain on cash flow hedge “ReRgnz e - 484 — 484 — 484
- Currency transaction differences -ERELER —  (98,909) — (98,909)  (10,126)  (109,035)
- Change in fair value of financial -BANBEHALNEE
asset at fair value through other ”&AZ%@EFZ
comprehensive income (Note 21) ArEBRF(ME21) - 1,903 - 1,903 — 1,903
Total comprehensive income 2EKAEE = (96,522) 82,846 (13,676)  (10,789)  (24,465)
Transactions with owners in their BEANEEBA
capacity as owners ZABETNRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves RRZTRS - 43 (43) - - -
Lapse of share options BRELN - (257) 257 - - -
Dividends paid to a non-controlling HF-BHB AR
interest of a subsidiary ErzRE = = - - (1,100) (1,100)
Dividends paid (Note 12) BERRE(HE12) - —  (16,010)  (16,010) —  (16,010)
Total transactions with owners in BENNEBEBA S0
their capacity as owners ETNRHER - (214)  (15,796)  (16,010) (1,100)  (17,110)
As at 31st March 2023 R-E-=%=A=+-H 64,041 530,913 366,195 961,149 111,504 1,072,653
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEEREER

For the year ended 31st March 2024 HE—ZT —F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG TN
Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital reserves  earnings Total interest equity
BA  HiEE  RERA BE FEslltEs  RRe8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THL THL THT TBT
(Note 32)  (Note 34)  (Note 34)
(zx32)  (FrsEss)  (MzE34)
As at 1st April 2023 R-E-=£mA-A 64,041 530,913 366,195 961,149 111,504 1,072,653
Profit for the year FERET — — 78,782 78,782 (1,772) 77,010
Other comprehensive income/(loss) At 2EKA/(BE)
- Release of exchange reserve upon —MBRRAN
deregistration of subsidiaries LER BRI - 631 - 631 - 631
- Loss on cash flow hedge -Banth 2 BE — (1,668) — (1,668) — (1,668)
- Currency transaction differences -ERELER —  (75,949) —  (75,949) (8,422)  (84,371)
- Change in fair value of financial ~BRABEFARMEE
asset at fair value through other WAL SBEEY
comprehensive income (Note 21) DhEEZE(FE21) - (2,907) - (2,907) — (2,907)
Total comprehensive income 2EKAEE - (79,893) 78,782 (1,111)  (10,194)  (11,305)
Transactions with owners in their BEANEBEBAL
capacity as owners FHETHRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves RRZTRS — 722 (722) — — -
Lapse of share options BRELN — (1,508) 1,508 - - -
Return of capital to non-controlling ERRRTIHERIM
interests 1 — 1,413 (1,204) 209 (2,938) (2,729)
Capital injection by non-controlling —FEME A A
interest of a subsidiary Bz g — — - — 3,493 3,493
Share repurchased (Note 32) BRI (1 32) (181) 181 (461) (461) - (461)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling HF-BHB AR
interest of a subsidiary ErzRE — — — — (580) (580)
Dividends paid (Note 12) ERRE(ME12) — —  (19212)  (19,212) - (19.212)
Total transactions with owners in BENNEEBA S0
their capacity as owners ETNRHER (181) 808 (20,091)  (19,464) (25)  (19,489)
As at 31st March 2024 R-E-M&E=A=1+-AH 63,860 451,828 424,886 940,574 101,285 1,041,859
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity — _E#liARA #E2SE B K e B2 BE T OB 5 — BT -

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2023/24 Annual Report | £F$§ 894




.-

n‘/-.FAIErﬁ/JHJE'%E

For the year ended 31st March 2024 £ =&

TE=ZA=1T—HILFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024
—ECME
HK$’000
THT
Cash flows from operating activities RETH RERE
Cash generated from operations REEBEE RS 36(a) 287,995 83,935
Interest received BUFE 916 755
Interest paid BRFE (89,165) (75,230)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREEFEH (5,119) (4,568)
China corporate income tax paid BRI ERER (2,387) (1,688)
Net cash inflow from operating activities BEFPHZRERAEH 192,240 3,204
Cash flows from investing activities REZHRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEWE - BE & (10,189) (2,020)
Proceeds received from disposals of HEWE  BERREZ
property, plant and equipment FiS3UA 36(b) 531 10
Capital expenditures for investment BEYME L ERRT
properties 15 (127) (764)
Capital injection to the investment AETIREREARZ
accounted for using the equity method ®E 19 (12,202) (8,429)
Dividend received B E — 394
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEH RS RLFR (21,987) (10,809)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31st March 2024 HZ == —NF=A=+—HILFE

2024
“ENE
HK$’000
THT
Cash flows from financing activities BETHCRERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERZ 58 518,223 318,007
Repayment of bank loans EBREFTER (568,963) (542,028)
Payment for lease liabilities and HEGERARAENT
hire purchase liabilities (including interest) (BEFE) (15,752) (10,880)
Government subsidy on property, mE - BE kKR
plant and machinery BT HH G — 217
Net (decrease)/increase in trust ERBEIRTERZ
receipt bank loans CRd), /s (93,934) 191,529
Decrease in pledged bank deposits HRRITF R 9,318 28,370
Return of capital to non-controlling BEARRE T IS
interests i (2,729) —
Capital injection from non-controlling MEA BRI R
interests EE 3,493 —
Repurchase of ordinary shares EgeliqEk (461) —
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BERARRAHEBAZRE (19,212) (16,010)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ST IFHRhl R 2 X2 (580) (1,100)
Net cash outflow from MEZHHESRL
financing activities FEE (170,597) (31,895)
Net decrease in cash and RekBeFEL
cash equivalents FRL (344) (39,500)
Cash and cash equivalents, FONzHEe Rk
beginning of the year ReEE 147,485 188,931
Currency translation differences BT AR (1,837) (1,946)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year FEZIEERELEHE 145,304 147,485

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bR & IR G B 3R PR SRR MY A BT A — DT BIAE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TSR MR

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 12th January 1994 as an exempted
company under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 18th
February 1994. Its registered office is at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is located
at Rooms 1103-05, 11th Floor, East Town Building, 41

Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) are principally engaged in distribution
and processing of construction materials such
as steel products; trading of sanitary wares and
kitchen cabinets and property investment and fund

management businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.
These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue on 27th June 2024 by the board of

directors of the Company.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by financial
assets/liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") and other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) and investment properties, which are

carried at fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS’E‘”

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’'s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

2.1.1 Going concern basis

As at 31st March 2024, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$211.3 million while the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$145.3 million.

In view of such circumstances, the directors
of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. Certain
plans and measures have been taken to
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve
its financial position which include, but not
limited to, the following:

e As at 31st March 2024, the Group had
unutilised banking facilities of HK$825.4
million and utilised banking facilities of
HK$1,006.3 million that are subject to
standard annual review process by the
banks. Management maintains on-going
communication with the relevant banks
and these facilities are under normal
utilisation in accordance with their terms
and conditions. In the opinion of the
directors, these banking facilities will
continue to be available to the Group
for supporting its operation for the next
twelve months from 31st March 2024;
and

e ISR M R

2 WREEREHEERNEE(H)

2.1

mREE(E)

REZEFEEBUBRELENZEE
M RERTEFTRE THRME2THE
B R EEEEEEARNEESH
R 2 B ITEEHE - S RESE
2 B SIE M 2 B s R R fh
SR AMBHRERMEBEAZBEBR
Mzt 44 -

2.1.1 FEARLEEE
NZEBE-_ME=A=+—H" K
EERBAGHELERDEEY
2113FE BT MALEBEMNRE
IR EELNE1453FEBT -

HZEBN ARABREFEHA
SERRNRBES RKRRLE
AARMERBELEERERE N
AHEAEERTARHNUBE
BRERE - AEEDRIET
AHEINERER R ESNEN
R EREMBMR - R aREE
TERPBATEIEA :

e RZE-_NF=RF=+—
B AEEHERBHET
BES24EEB T REH
FIRITRE 1,006.38 &8
TC ZERITREBLCBIR
TERENFERERERF - B
BESEEBRT EFER
B - BARSE ERRIK
REEHEEEFERAZSR®
B EEZRABRZFRITIBE
HRETFASEEAG T
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2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

e Management is actively negotiating with
various existing banks for increasing
the amounts of credit facilities as well
as new banks for new credit facilities.
Subsequent to 31st March 2024, the
Group has signed new credit facilities
amounting to HK$75 million, of which
HK$20.0 million has been drawn.

The directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by management and the cash flow
projections covering a period of not less
than twelve months from 31st March 2024.
They are of the opinion that, taking into
account the anticipated cash flow generated
from the Group’s operations, the possible
changes in its operating performance, the
availability of the Group’s bank borrowings
as well as the Group’s ability to draw down
from its existing banking facilities, the
Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall
due within twelve months from 31st March
2024. Accordingly, the directors consider
that it is appropriate to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\»
rE R AR MR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN 2
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

RREERSTHRNBE(A)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)

2.1.2 New standards and amendment to existing 2.1.2 KFEBETERAFTERI RAEISETHE
standards adopted by the Group Eq)

AEEER-_T-_=FMA—H
Pt 2 FEREHEERERMALA
THTER REERTIRE AR

The Group has applied the following new
standards and amendments to existing
standards, for the first time for their annual

reporting period commencing on 1st April

2023:
Amendments to Disclosure of EAaES SHERZ B E
HKAS 1 and Accounting Policies ERE i
HKFRS Practice BREMBRSE
Statement 2 LREBRSE
EVE A H
Amendments to Definition of Bl SHHEZTEE
HKAS 8 Accounting EX LA H
Estimates
Amendments to Deferred tax related to EBSHER HE-QHEL
HKAS 12 assets and liabilities F12%R 2] ZEENEE
arising from a single TRERELRIE
transaction
Amendments to International Tax BEGES BREREE -
HKAS 12 Reform— Pillar F12% 21831 S ZHAIEAR
Two Model Rules
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts BAFKRE RBAH
RRIE17H
Amendments to Amendments to BB RE BB BEHRE
HKFRS 17 HKFRS 17 EAIEATH EREATH
A HI Z1EE]
HKFRS 17 Initial Application of BRMBERE NRERER
HKFRS 17 EAIEATH MRS ER
and HKFRS 9 F1TRRES
- Comparative BB E EA
Information FoOR-HBER

The adopted new standards and amendments
to existing standards listed above did not
have any material impact on the results and
financial position of the Group.

Ea R 2 # R K

RIEFT 2R

£ 2 1| 3 7 5= (B 1O 26 4R e B iR
NI BEAEMERFE -
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.3 Amended standards and interpretation not yet
adopted by the Group

The following amendments to existing
standards and interpretation have been
issued but are not effective for the financial
year beginning on 1st April 2023 and have
not been early adopted:

Presentation of Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 mUEERSHABENEE(H)

21 RBEXE(E)

2.1.3 KB KR 2 ABIE 5T ERI K a2
#

AT E#EMYBRITEAZAERT &
2B MERZTE-_=FWA—H
R BFE HARER > TR
FELZRTERAN

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RELT BHAR IR,
ZEZETTHEEN

1st January 2024

— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

BERRA SR A AT RER B3k —E-NF—H—H

HK (IFRIC) — Int 5 (Revised)
on Demand Clause
B (BB EREREEEY) MHHRRZEY -
—%E%ﬁm%LJ) &3

Amendments to HKAS 1

BERZEHER 2 HHE
Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

1st January 2024

BEAGTHERE 158 2185] BEIBERRBIIERD —E_mMFE—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1st January 2024
BEAGTHERE 158 2185] M RERNERBEE —E_mMFE—-H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1st January 2024
EEVBMELRNE 169 2857 SREQMNEERE —E_mMFE—-H—H

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7
BB ERE 7R RBEBTE
HERE 752 EF]
Amendments to HKAS 21
BB ERE 215K 2185
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Rz AR R

B BHRELEFE 105K R REEEAREE
BB ERTERF 2857 2 1EF] HEE

Supplier Finance Arrangements
HEERE L

Lack of Exchangeability

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
EEARZENEELE 7€

1st January 2024
—E_mMFE—-H—H
1st January 2025

—E2-RAF—H—H
To be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %
rE R AR MR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN 2 HEHEDESHBRENEE(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E

2.1.3 Amended standards and interpretation not yet
adopted by the Group (Continued)

The Group will adopt the above amendments
to existing standards and interpretation
when they become effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of
the related impact of adopting the above
amendments and interpretation, none of
which is expected to have a significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

2.2 Change in accounting policy

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
Hong Kong

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government
enacted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which will take effect on 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Under the Amendment
Ordinance, any accrued benefits attributable
to the employer’'s mandatory contributions
under mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Benefits”) would no longer be eligible to offset
against its obligations on long service payment
(“LSP”) for the portion of the LSP accrued on or
after the Transition Date. There is also a change in
the calculation basis of last monthly wages for the
portion of the LSP accrued before the Transition
Date.

Prior to 1st April 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b) (the
“practical expedient”) to account for the offsetable
MPF Benefits as deemed contributions by the
employee to reduce the current service costs
in the period in which the related services were
rendered.

2.1.3 FEB 5 KR 2 ENEETERIR 22
(&)
AEBEBGR DA HRITEAZE
RN ERBANE T IARG - AE
B E R ARG LA WIRITE
AT kB2 6B E MR
T e Y AR E 2R Aa MR
REEBARE -

2.2 BEBENEE

BEEBFTRERMBE T EBEL
W B EEE

RZZEZZFRA FFBAHEZ
S FREBMEARFTENEMICGREE
B UERDIEBINERTIER)) - B=F
THRERA—BEAK(EHB]) - 1B
BAERTIED) - samlEATESTEE TR
F M98 B M SRFTE A ] KT i
([aEeEzE DBTEHEEREKEE
REFIHS 2 B R2FANERARBS (&
HRES DAL RERBESEMS - R
EH AR RN RERBE S B ORE
—EATEMTEREERE TS o

RZZTE-_ZFMA—HBR AEEER
ERGTEDFE1995 F93(b) R A
TEEAA(AIITRERE]) - K
HARESERIRAEEREMHR - L
B BRAE AR R AR S AR A & B AR S K
z]g °
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.2 Change in accounting policy (Continued)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” (the
“Guidance”) which provides clarified and detailed
guidance on the accounting considerations
relating to the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism. The Guidance clarified that following
the enactment of the Amendment Ordinance, LSP
is no longer a ‘simple type of contributory plans’ to
which the practical expedient had been intended

to apply.

By following the Guidance, the Group has
therefore changed its accounting policy and
ceased to apply the practical expedient and
reattribute the deemed contributions by the
employee on a straight-line basis from the date
when the services by employees first lead to
their benefits in terms of the LSP legislation in
accordance with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a).

The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did
not have a material impact on the Group’s profit
or loss for the year ended 31st March 2023 and
the Group’s financial position as at 31st March
2023. In light of the immaterial impact, the Group
did not apply the change in its accounting policy
retrospectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 T Y ot

RAREERSTHRRNBE(R)

22 SBERNBERKE(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTSE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including price risk,
foreign exchange risk, and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central
treasury department (group treasury) under
policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Group treasury identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group’s operating units. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as
well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and credit risk.

(a) Market risk
(i) Price risk

The Group is subject to commodity
price risk because certain subsidiaries
of the Group are engaged in the trading
of steel products. As at 31st March 2024
and 2023, the Group had committed
sales orders for steel products for
which the selling price is fixed, which
exceeded the aggregate amount of
on-hand inventories. As the prices of
steel products can fluctuate materially,
the Group’s results may be affected
significantly by future fluctuations in
steel prices (Note 4(e)). To manage
its commodity price risk arising from
committed sales orders, the Group is
closely monitoring the market price
of steel products and adjusting its
procurement strategy accordingly.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(1)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |

Price risk (Continued)

The Group is also exposed to price
risk mainly arising from investments
held by the Group and classified on
the consolidated statement of financial
position as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Management considers that its
price risk is insignificant.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollar
(“US$") and the Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB"). Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to
require group companies to manage
their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currency.

The Group has certain investments
in foreign operations, of which the
net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets
of the Group's foreign operations is
managed primarily through borrowings
denominated in the relevant foreign
currencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ifi)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March 2024, if HK$ had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2023:
5%) against RMB with all other variables
held constant, profit before income
tax would have been approximately
HK$551,000 higher/lower (2023:
HK$478,000 higher/lower), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/(losses)
on translation of RMB-denominated
monetary assets and liabilities.

As HK$ are reasonably stable with
US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, the management considers the
Group’s foreign exchange risk arisen
from US$ is insignificant. Thus, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group's income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates as
the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets except for cash and
bank deposits, which earn low interest
rate. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk
except those under hedge accounting to
change from variable rate to fixed rate.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)
(ifii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk (Continued)

As at 31st March 2023, borrowing of
HK$56,000,000 was converted from
quarterly variable interest payment to
a quarterly fixed rate payment through
interest rate swap arrangement. The
interest rate swap and the corresponding
bank borrowing had similar terms, such
as principal amount, currency, interest
period and the counterparty, and the
directors consider that the interest rate
swap was highly effective hedging
instrument and was designated as cash
flow hedging instrument from floating
interest rate to fixed interest rate.

At 31st March 2024, if interest rates on
floating rate borrowings had been 100
basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$12,595,000 (2023:
HK$13,774,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on floating rate borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\»

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

The credit risk of the Group mainly
arises from trade and bill receivables,
deposits and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.

Management considers that the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks
which are leading and reputable. The
Group has not incurred significant loss
from non-performance by these parties
in the past and management does
not expect so in the future. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at
bank is assessed to be immaterial and
no provision was made as at 31st March
2024 and 2023.

The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to reputable
and creditworthy customers with an
appropriate financial strength, credit
history and/or appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

Majority of the Group’s revenue is
received from individual customers in
relation to trading of building products
and distribution and processing of
construction materials. As at 31st
March, 2024, top 10 customers of the
Group accounted for approximately
43% (2023: 31%) to the total trade
and bill receivables of the Group. The
Group has set up long-term cooperative
relationship with these customers. In
view of the history of business dealings
with these customers and the collection
history of the receivables due from
them, management believes that there
is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding receivable
balance due from these customers
saved for the debtors related to the
impaired trade receivable disclosed
below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length
of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the debtors, the overall
macro-economic environment and
whether there are any disputes with
the debtors. The Group’s historical
experience in collection of trade
and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances and the directors
are of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables
has been made in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

— trade receivables;

— cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits; and

— other financial assets measured
at amortised costs (including
deposits, other receivables and bill
receivables).

While cash and cash equivalents
are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors
consider that the identified impairment
loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group measures the expected credit
losses on a combination of both individual
and collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of sales over a
period of 60 months before 31st March
2023 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. For customers relating to
the trading business in Mainland China,
the Group has identified the CPI inflation
and GDP of Mainland China to be the
most relevant factors. For customers in
Hong Kong, the Group has identified the
GDP levels and CPI inflation of Hong
Kong for trading business while GDP
and annual current account balance as
a percentage of nominal GDP of Hong
Kong for manufacturing business to be
the most relevant factors. The Group
adjusts the historical loss rates based
on expected changes in these factors
accordingly.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on the nature of customer accounts,
shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial

risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

On the above individual and collective
basis, the loss allowance as at 31st
March 2024 and 2023 were determined
as follows:

BRI

3 HREKREE(E)
3.1 M¥EBREEE)

61-120
[EVE]
past due

B

61-120 H
HK$’000
TET

(b)

121-180
[EVE]
past due
121-180 H
HK$’000
FHERT

BRI (&)

(i) THEEREE)
R EER & LR EET -
RoIZE-MFER-_T-=4F
—A=t—HZzEERESE
FWR

181-365 Over

[EVE] 365 days
past due past due Total
181-365 H 365 B #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TR

1-60 days
Current past due
B
(=g 1-60 A
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FTHERT
At 31st March 2024 R-ZB-mE
=A=+—H

Gross carrying amount —  BRE42(E —

trade receivables FEURBR 3R 284,188 54,797 6,709 4,318 7,878 22,299 380,189
Loss allowance EBiERE (1,416) (248) (354) (743) (1,202) (11,349) (15,312)
Net carrying amount -  BREHF(E —

trade receivable FEUER TR 282,772 54,549 6,355 3,575 6,676 10,950 364,877

61-120
days
past due
61-120 B
HK$’'000
FTExT

121-180
days

past due
bl
121-180H
HK$’'000
TExT

181-365 Over
days 365 days
past due past due Total
B BHER
181-365 H 365 H st
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TiEx FTExT TR

1-60 days
Current past due
=5 1-60 B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBx FEx
At 31st March 2023 R-B=-=F
=A=+-H

Gross carrying amount —  BREI48(E —

trade receivables FEU AR X 368,163 28,533 5,640 3,783 7,365 27,456 440,940
Loss allowance EBERE (3,758) (412) (103) (663) (1,609) (12,384) (18,929)
Net carrying amount — FREFE—

trade receivable JE U BR 3K 364,405 28,121 5,537 3,120 5,756 15,072 422,011

Impairment losses on trade receivables
are presented as “impairment loss on
financial assets - net” within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.
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e TR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised costs

Management considers that its credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition with reference
to the counterparty historical default
rate and current financial position. The
impairment provision is determined
based on the 12-month expected credit
loss which is considered insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in
the operating entities of the Group and
aggregated by group finance. Group finance
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs
while maintaining sufficient headroom on its
undrawn committed borrowing facilities (Note
31) at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits or covenants on any
of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting
takes into consideration the Group’s debt
financing plans, covenant compliance
and compliance with internal ratio of the
consolidated statement of financial position
targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating
entities over and above balance required
for working capital management are
transferred to the Group’s treasury. The
Group’s treasury invests surplus cash in
time deposits, marketable securities, and
other instruments with appropriate maturities
or sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient
head-room as determined by the above-
mentioned forecasts. At the reporting date,
the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$145,304,000 (2023:
HK$147,485,000) (Note 27) and trade
and bill receivables, net, of approximately
HK$367,077,000 (2023: HK$430,674,000)
(Note 25) that are expected to readily
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity
risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE R AR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiSEMEIE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BI¥EAKREE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) nEELEMEE)
The table below analyses the Group's THREINAEEz e@EAE 1R
financial liabilities into relevant maturity BRHEBZAELEMBZET
groupings based on the remaining period at MR E AR AR EITOMT -
the reporting date to the contractual maturity TREBEBZSEAEBSYARIRIEA
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are &7 ©

the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over
1year and 2 years and5 years 5 years Total

DPR1E 1825 2E5%F HiB5F ot

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TET T TET TET

At 31st March 2024 R-ZEBE-_ME

=A=+-—H
Trade and bill payables FEfERIE =% 100,579 — — — 100,579
Other payables Hfth FE T BRK 31,042 3,524 6,737 — 41,303
Borrowings BE 916,589 25,330 94,013 224,224 1,260,156
Interest payable FEH S 77,855 12,169 20,259 29,544 139,827
Lease liabilities HEEE 21,183 7,635 2,087 — 30,905
1,147,248 48,658 123,096 253,768 1,572,770
At 31st March 2023 R-B-=H
=A=+-—H
Trade and bill payables R R RIE 204,056 — — — 204,056
Other payables oAt AT BR SR 28,829 2,358 5,777 — 36,964
Borrowings BE 1,369,124 63,374 1,494 — 1,433,992
Interest payable FER RS 56,854 2,100 58 — 59,012
Lease liabilities HEBE 4,565 151 — — 4,716
1,663,428 67,983 7,329 — 1,738,740
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'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiEMEIE(E)

3.2 Capital risk management 3.2

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
and lease liabilities less pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as equity (excluding non-controlling
interests), as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2024 and 2023
were as follows:

EemEBER

AEEERESZ AERREAEER
BREZEESN  URBRREHRDHRES
Hprtr HRMENE - YRS —ExE
BARBABDERRA

REFHAHERNRE - NEE A FHEN
AR ZREE2HE - REAEART R
R BITHBRDREEEENRE

RERZX—H AKERBEAEELL
REREN - ZULETIAFEBERIAE
AEEERY - FREDUAEERR
ERBERBRCEMRTERARES
RBReEEAE - EFEEHBIRRERMA
R BABBEAER (T EEIFEIT
‘) IFREAE

E/\\—?—P;EIEE&—?—_EE ﬂ +_
BzEARBBLEMT

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTET
Total borrowings (Note 31) BER®E(HESI) 1,259,501 1,433,319
Total lease liabilities (Note 16) HEaErEFE16) 29,233 4,620
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and & : RE&ENBREEEUR
pledged bank deposits ERRIRITIF K
(Note 27) (F3E27) (147,108) (159,165)
Net debt FETE 1,141,626 1,278,774
Total equity (excluding e ARER
non-controlling interests) (TR IEFEEH ) 940,574 961,149
Total capital RN 2,082,200 2,239,923
Gearing ratio BEARBEEE 55% 57%

‘1 10 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&EtAIERAR A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE R AR MR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BI¥EKBEE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AAEEMGE
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (i) RAABEZR

This section explains the judgements and ARETEME R HRERANE TR
estimates made in determining the fair AREBEEERANGENSHITA
values of the financial instruments that are ZARBEETEL MR G
recognised and measured at fair value in e ASHEEARBEMAZ
the financial statements. To provide an WABBHAIEEEEER &%
indication about the reliability of the inputs ERESEAKESRIAS
used in determining fair value, the Group has REZTERR - TV ZFHALOT
classified its financial instruments into the FKFIR o

three levels prescribed under the accounting
standards. An explanation of each level
follows underneath the table.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
£ EZE ==

At 31st March 2024 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
R-ZE-_mE=HA=+—H FExT FHT FExT
Financial assets tRMEE
Financial asset BAREBETTA
at FVOCI EfzmlA
LEREE
— Listed equity — WA
securities B 5 1,745 = = 1,745
Financial asset EAREBETTA
at FVPL BazemEE
— Unlisted securities —JELTRES — — 3,914 3,914
1,745 — 3,914 5,659

2023/24 Annual Report | 4F¥§ 111 ‘
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

At 31st March 2023
R-ZZE_=F=A=+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M REREE(HE)

3.3

(@)

Level 1
E=F

HK$'000
TET

AREEBEE)

RABEEFR(K)

Level 3 Total
E=B FEEE
HK$’000 HK$000
FE T FET

Level 2
==
HK$'000
FET

Financial assets cREE
Financial asset BAREERA
at FVOCI EmarmkAz
— Listed equity — EWARA
securities BE 4,652 — — 4,652
Financial asset BAREERA
at FVPL BRcemEE
— Unlisted securities — I L& — — 3,701 3,701
Derivative financial PTES R
instruments TA
- Interest rate swap — ) 45 — 1,668 — 1,668
4,652 1,668 3,701 10,021

There were no transfers between level 1, 2
and 3 during the Year (2023: Same).

See Note 15 for disclosures of the investment
properties that are measured at fair value
which is included in level 3.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#Ht AR AR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as
publicly traded derivatives and
equity securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the end of the
reporting period.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as
possible on entity-specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).
This is the case for unlisted equity
interests.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised
cost approximate their fair values as at the
reporting date since either the instrument are
with short maturities or the interest rate is
close to the current market rate.

3

B

3.3

e ISR M R

e TR (4E)

ARBEEMLE(E)

@)

‘I1]]

z /EE%’“&(%&

REBMEEEZS
BMIAWMARARS
BT T A RRAE
FIZARBETNR
REEHIR 2 T I5 R
Bt HE -

bl ‘>>

Eil

F_E: YEREZEMBE
Bz ormIAM®M
SBINMTETER) K
AREEEMRME
JTIRETE - M
B AE R EEM A
BERZMEHE X
HQWﬁI%ZﬁE
1$ nﬂ— ;ZD - IE%
MIEZQﬁﬁ@%
BZBERBARE
RABRESE WM
ERIEBREES
o

£ZE: BEIABRAIFKE
ABEMGEEZEH
AGEAIBEREBA) -
FLEMRAERBER
AP

REBIRK AN KB H A TR 2
TR TANHRE AMOKREER
HARBERE  A/ZITAN

3R 2 1 o 3K S A 95 )
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

‘114

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques are used
to value of the aforementioned financial
instruments include:

e for listed equity securities - the quoted
market prices for similar instruments

e for interest rate swaps - the present
value of the estimated future cash flows
based on observable yield curves

e for unlisted securities - backsolve option
pricing model and reference to the
underlying net asset value of the investee
companies

All of the resulting fair value estimates are
included in level 1 and 2 except for unlisted
securities where the fair values have been
determined based on present values and
the discount rates used were adjusted for
counterparty risk.

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)
The following table presents the changes in

level 3 item - unlisted securities for the years
ended 31st March 2024 and 2023:

3

M REREE(HE)
AREEBEE)

3.3

(i)

(iii)

FREE R A BER I ERA

BEHERTEANRET Lile
MTEEE ZZT2T AR
o

s LTRAESF-RFEFEITA
Z TS HRE

o FEEH-REABEREW=
KHRHEARRESREDN
HiE

e JFEMELZ-GIHEMEEE
B WS ERRE QTN
A EFE

FENARBEMTEREES
RE—EBEREZED  BREBER
BUANBUARZ S HRR 28
REBEAABENIIELMES
LAGN o

BFEAT IBEBA BT BRI
EE(F3E)

TREJEEZ EE&_?

SZetAct aures
BEE - LTESZED

2024
—E-ME
HK$’000
FHT
At 1st April RIUA—H 3,701 3,908
Unrealised fair value gain/(loss) BARBEFABRZ
on financial assets at fair value TREERERANAEE
through profit or loss (Note 22) Wz (B8) (M 22) 213 (207)
At 31st March —A=+—H 3,914 3,701

BEBAERERA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiSEMEIE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AAEEME(E)
(iv) Valuation process and inputs (iv) 131E; ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ

The Group engages external, independent
and qualified valuer, Kroll (HK) Limited,
to determine the fair value of the unlisted
securities as at 31st March 2024 (2023:
Same). The Group’s finance department
performs/reviews the valuations for the
aforementioned financial instruments
as included in financial assets at FVPL
(including derivative financial instruments)
and FVOCI required for financial reporting
purposes, including the level 3 fair value.
These valuation results are then reported to
the Group’s management for discussions and
review in relation to the valuation processes
and the reasonableness of valuation results.

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable
inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
(see (ii) above for the valuation techniques
adopted):

Range of
Unobservable unobservable
Fair value (HK$'000) inputs inputs

RAI B RAEE
DAEE (FAT) % A B BAREES

REBEBINBB LA ﬁ%ﬁ@
Bl 38 147 - ?%?%ﬁﬁ
M#m#ﬁm HFER T EE
A+ BZAREECCZE
Z=F - AR o REER B
P AV KEBEREITHEE L)
BEANEBEFABS(BETE
TRITE)RIRARBEFAREM
PEVAZEREEZHE B
BEIBAAEBE - HELERE
BRAAEBEEBERUTH L
HHHERERHEERNEGE
Moo

TERBMBEBEIEAAEE
EMREATAEREABEN
EEER(R EX (i) FrERmefh
Bl -

Relationship

of unobservable

inputs to fair value

R 3PN ¢
HQABENBE

As at 31st March 2024
R-ZB-mE=ZA=+—H
3,914 Equity volatility 50.0%
of comparable
companies
A LEE A IR
i e R
Risk free rate 51%
R =

As at 31st March 2023
RZE-_=%=A=+—H
3,701 Equity volatility 55.0%
of comparable
companies
A LLE A AR
AR R
Risk free rate 3.3%
b =

The higher the volatility,
the lower the fair value

KBS - RABEEBER

The higher the risk free rate,
the lower the fair value

ERBNEES  ARBEEBE

The higher the volatility,
the lower the fair value

KBEBE - RREEBE

The higher the risk free rate,
the lower the fair value

REMEES - AABEBE
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The fair value
of investment properties was determined by using
valuation technique and management updates
their assessment of the fair value of each property,
taking into account the key valuation assumptions,
including adjusted market yield. Details of the
judgements and assumptions have been disclosed
in Note 15.

(b) Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to
determine when trade and other receivables are
impaired. This determination requires significant
judgement and estimation based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. In
making this judgement and estimation, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration of
receivables and the financial health and collection
history of individual debtors and expected future
change of credit risks, including the consideration
of factors such as general economy measure,
changes in macroeconomic indicators etc. Details
of the assumptions and inputs used are discussed
in Note 3.1(b).

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&EAIZRAR AR
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(b)

AEERANEERAZRENE  H
AREEEINEABERAERT
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% BEREEMHEMERILEBENF
EMET  EPEEEEE2MEERR
BIREKRETSWEE - HIH L ER&
BRI 15 E -

FEW AR I b R W AR SR E B

AEBIRBEEVHRELERNE 9WRIE
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4 EESTHEERAEK(E)

(c) Useful lives and depreciation expenses for (c) ¥ BEERREBEZAEAFHER
property, plant and equipment FEXH
The Group’'s management determines the AEECEREETEYE  BERRK
estimated useful lives, and related depreciation Bzt EREE - LR BEITES
charges for its property, plant and equipment. A o sZfhEr IR B RE R E B U2 Y
This estimate is based on the historical experience 2 WEREREHE2ERAFERFE B
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and AEBETE - BERQEF s B
equipment of similar nature and functions. Actual FRFEHRRETE - FHR TR EHR
economic lives may differ from estimated useful AI{E AFEIRE - RIREIEZITESH
lives. Periodic review could result in a change in e RmEIRZEE o
useful lives and therefore depreciation expense in
future periods.

(d) Recognition of deferred income tax assets (d) EELERSHEERRA

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made. Deferred
income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is likely that future
taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact
the recognition of deferred income tax assets and
income tax charges in the period in which such
estimates have been changed.

AEE T BRHME B NP BEAEZ T
B  EETE2HAEHERER T2
TEHEAHE - REEEBEBED R
ZRXPRFABZREBIABEE WK #
E o ARERZAKRESABMBINGIA
MERAE - WEEFEEZHRERIBE
REFVRHEZEE/IR - HEFEZEK
TEZETHEANZAEHRMEERE
iR - WEEER S BARKER
Mo M AST e B = Rk B I E 1R - Bl
EHREETREZRLNAEERR
ZIERFSHEE - HMEMGERERT
ZHETR  WEEZRBEERLTHFT
MEERANBREER HRZ S
NZFEHERBREE -
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Onerous contract provision

)

(9)

As at 31st March 2024, the Group had committed
sales orders which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories and committed
purchase orders. If the cost of certain future
purchases to fulfil these sales orders exceeds the
contracted selling prices of the sales orders, a
provision for onerous contracts would be made.
In estimating the amount by which the cost of
purchases are expected to exceed sales prices of
committed sales orders, management takes into
account the cost of on-hand inventories and the
forecast market price of future purchases where
that can be reliably estimated.

Provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group reviews internal and external sources
of information to identify indications that the
property, plant and equipment may be impaired
or an impairment loss previously recognised may
be reversed. If an indication of impairment is
identified, the Group is required to estimate the
recoverable value, representing the greater of
the asset’s fair value less cost to sell or its value
in use. Changes in any of these estimates could
result in a material change to the assets’ carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and variable
selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer demand and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle. Management
reassesses the estimations at each reporting date.

BB AERER AR

4
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EESHEER A (&)
(e) HHEROZBE

(f)

(9)

RZZE_NF=ZA=+—H ' xEEE
BECHE B BBFEFERDHE
EZEETEAE - WANBITIHEH
B E AT RREBR AL HERT B
sl EE RS - AIERBERNE
H—IEEE - TR E TR AT

EHTHEEvEESERN 28
SIRFETEZRARIGAEHEZR
RELHE 2 I EETEA -

ME - BMERREZRERE

RERER - AEEZH AL RINE
BRIBABRNYE - BELEEA
BE R 1B 3K 5T AT FE AR 2 IRl (LS 18 ] JE 1 o]
ZH% Tl — R BB R RE - I

BRI EE - BIEEZ ARE
ﬁﬂﬁ%%$iﬁﬁ%ﬁ@W$ﬁ%
REE) o M ZF[F 2 EB A S
HEERHERGAMBHRRIERE
) o

FRZTRRFE

FEZAZRFERBERBBETZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue consists of the following:

BRI

WA R 7 EBE
REEZPARENT :

2024
—EF-mE

HK$’000
TET

Recognised at a point in time -

R — 05 B —

Sales of goods EREE 2,219,974 2,546,875
Recognised over time - £ — RS FRINFER —

Service income AR TS U A 37,623 63,313
Rental income Ha A 45,579 48,293
Total revenue WA 4az8 2,303,176 2,658,481

The Group’s businesses are managed according to
the nature of their operations and the products and
services they provide.

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”") that are used to making
strategic decisions. The CODM is identified as the
Executive Directors of the Company. The Executive
Directors consider the business from a customer
perspective and assess the performance of the
operating segments based on the segment revenue
and segment results for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as these consolidated
financial statements. The CODM considers the Group
operates predominantly in three operating segments:

(i)  Steels Distribution and Processing Business;
(i) Building Products Distribution Business; and

(iii) Property Investment and Fund Management
Business.

The CODM assesses the performance of operating
segments based on a measure of profit before income
tax.

The revenue from external parties reported to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the consolidated financial statements.

AEEZAEESEHERARHEER RSB Z
MEAEBHES -

BEEECDREETEZ L&ﬁ%%%ﬁmﬁw
MREZREMBTELENH - TEEER
RETEBEERRE WA TERARAH
TEF WTEFHETFAZZERK X
@f“%%kﬁﬂﬁﬁ%EMELﬁﬂM$

® o %ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁik W
I FERA P RRERFE — ﬁ%oiﬁ

ME&%%%%ﬁ%EI%“%_MMEA
%

(i) HMEHHERINTETS
(i) BEMBOHEES: &
(i) FHERERESELHER -

T EEERERE UK ST S M RS
LENBHKRE -

AEEEERREERNEINEA - HFTE
TRBRA MWK B -
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BB RR M

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment assets by geographical market consist
primarily of property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, right-of-use assets, investments accounted
for using the equity method, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables. They exclude financial instruments
and deferred income tax assets.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to investment
properties and property, plant and equipment for the
year ended 31st March 2024.

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for

the year ended 31st March 2024 is as follows:

5

WA R 7 EREFR ()

BpHTIBHI 2 S BAEZIERENE
BiRRRE - RANE  RRRAE B
BEARZIRE  BARE - Re REAE
WEER - ST AREEFBHAEATE

REMDHEEN -

BE_ZT_NF=-A=T—BLFE EX
X BRMNEZRENEURDE  BE M

=
AaxX

AEERBE T -_MF=A=1+—HIF

BIRE 0 B2 KB

DT -

Steels Property
Distribution Building Investment
and Products and Fund
Processing Distribution =~ Management
Business Business Business Unallocated Total
M5 EEE FHERE
BT #% DHER RELSEEEK AAE b
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET TiET
Revenue from contracts with customers REBFANZBA
- Recognised at a point in time ~EX-BEER 1,879,527 340,447 — — 2,219,974
- Recognised over time and —E—BREREAER
rental income RASIA 15 = 83,187 = 83,202
1,879,542 340,447 83,187 = 2,303,176
Operating profit/(loss) BERF/ (B18) 178,403 35,779 35,530 (49,769) 199,943
Finance income BT 359 253 293 11 916
Finance costs HBER (62,770) (5,501) (23,636) (348) (92,255)
Share of results of investments L REREARZ
accounted for using the equity method REZEE - — (22,750) — (22,750)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSRATEF, (B518) 115,992 30,531 (10,563) (50,106) 85,854
Other gains - net Hip s —F8 91 157 106 708 1,062
Fair value loss on investment properties BENMEZ AABERBE (90) — (13,266) — (13,356)
Capital expenditure EARREY 7,746 6,459 619 1,054 15,878
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (4,542) (5,048) (546) (6,324) (16,460)

BRBSERERD



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B RARM

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for

the year ended 31st March 2023 is as follows:

5 WARDHER(E)

AEBERBE_T_=F=A=+—HIEF

BREBHBIEESFTOT

Steels Property
Distribution Building Investment
and Products and Fund
Processing Distribution Management
Business Business Business Unallocated Total
MADHER EEMR FHERE
IR DHER RELELEEK RAE Fok ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiET TiET TiET TERT TiExT
Revenue from contracts with customers REBFANZHMA
- Recognised at a point in time - EX-REER 2,221,336 325,539 — — 2,546,875
- Recognised over time and —E—BRERE AR
rental income RESKA 27 — 111,579 — 111,606
2,221,363 325,539 111,579 — 2,658,481
Operating profit/(loss) WERF/(BE) 128,127 36,987 73,150 (52,486) 180,778
Finance income B YA 334 130 280 11 755
Finance costs HBER (39,313) (5,107) (31,359) (1,073) (76,852)
Share of results of investments L REREARZ
accounted for using the equity method REZ#E — — (11,297) — (11,297)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSRATEF (B518) 84,148 32,010 30,774 (53,548) 93,384
Other (losses)/gains - net Hin(B8) M- 58 (515) (375) 3,552 1,141 3,803
Fair value loss on investment properties ~ HAYNEZ AREEFHE — — (4,206) — (4,206)
Capital expenditure EAREY 496 671 1,164 453 2,784
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH (4,244) (5,072) (446) (7,105) (16,867)
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenues of approximately HK$320,724,000 (2023:
HK$232,544,000) are derived from a single external
customer of the Steels Distribution and Processing
Business for the year ended 31st March 2024.

The Group’s main business is domiciled in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. Analysis of the Group’s revenue
by geographical market is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WAR 7D EBER (&)

HE-_ZTZT_WH&EF=ZA=Z+—H8"' %
320,724,000 7L (ZF = =4 : 232,544,000
BIL) 2 WAREHE DR TR &
SNEREE o

FEEXIBZXRBREREBBRTEKE - K&
B2 WA IS DM T -

2024 2023

—EC-ME —EBC-=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TER TERT
Hong Kong aE 1,694,352 2,094,021
Mainland China e N 175 608,824 564,460
2,303,176 2,658,481

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and
deferred income tax assets, by geographical market
are as follows:

BRERMTAMECMEREENINZIERD
BERMETSSEMT

2024 2023

—E-mF —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Hong Kong 95 371,152 365,018
Mainland China FR K 1,297,378 1,386,534
1,668,530 1,751,552

‘1 22 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#Ht AR AR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a) Revenue recognition in relation to contract
liabilities

As at 31st March 2024, contract liabilities
included receipts in advance and deferred
revenue amounting to HK$47,830,000 (2023:
HK$38,979,000). The following table shows how
much of the revenue recognised in the current
reporting period relates to carried-forward contract

BRI

5 WARDHER(E)

(a)

FRENABEZBRARER

R-ZE-_WE=ZA=+—H " it A&
HWEBZHERRBBRETERAZ S
¥ /547,830,000 jo(— T = = F ¢
38,979,000 7T) ° TREIRAARRE
HEEEBNZANEERRBRAZ
SR

liabilities:
2023
—E-=
HK$'000
TERT
Revenue recognised that was REJFAGHEE
included in the contract liabilities W E RS
at the beginning of the year WAZ &5 38,979 78,080
(b) Unsatisfied long-term contract (b) KREITZRHEH
The following table shows unsatisfied performance TREATNE —(ARZERZEEBE

obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term
sales contracts recognised at a point in time:

RHBEGNMEEZCRBITRAOR
7% -

2024 2023
—E-NE =TE——
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Aggregate amount of the transaction MNZ=ZAZ=Z+—HHEEHH =k

price allocated to long-term sales 2EHREITZREE
contracts that are partially or BHZKREBE T

fully unsatisfied as at 31st March

653,173 1,119,621
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Unsatisfied long-term contract (Continued)

(c)

Management expects that 85.6% (2023: 89.2%) of
the transaction price, totalling HK$558,994,000 (2023:
HK$998,195,000) allocated to unsatisfied performance
obligations as of 31st March 2024 will be recognised
as revenue during the next reporting period. The
remaining 14.4% of approximately HK$94,179,000 will
be recognised in the 2025/26 financial year (2023:
remaining 10.8% of approximately HK$121,326,000 will
be recognised in the 2024/25 financial year).

All other contracts are for the periods of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for goods supplied
and service rendered, stated net of discounts,
returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group;
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below.

(i) Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the
customer, the customer has full discretion
over channel and price to sell the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Delivery occurs until the products
have been shipped to the specified location,
the risk of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the
customers have accepted the products in
accordance with sales contracts, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the products.

BB S

AR A]

5

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WARZEHER (&)

(b)

(c)

KET2REAGH(HE)

EEEEY HE-_ZT_MWF=ZA
_+ BOBERBITROEBZKR
B 7856% (=T - =14%:89.2%) "
#25+558,994,000/8 L(— T = = F :
998,195,000 7t ) B £ T — @ &
HERBR A B TM144% 4
94,179,000 L E T -_H =~
MBRFERRA ZCZE_=ZF :HTH
10.8% * #7121,326,00058 TR —Z
N AP BEERER) °

FIAEMABNHBRE B —FHAT - R
BEMBHRELENEAGHEMAATFT
DBEZERBITZANZRERA
SITHRE °

WA TR 2 B BUER

H&A&EWTF&“HMH Z N IABER

C REHER &Fﬂ’ﬁﬂ%’%ZﬁH&é
%E BRI~ RE IR ERIKIE -
BUWABERBES R FeFT & - RIREEF
ST REREARE - MAKEZIRE
BHTERBGER (M TIXXAHL) - K
KBRS HERWA -

() ER#HEE
EEEEROBERRTTE
FBERFYHEERCRERE
BHBTERATHE  BUERE
TTZELT?ET S ERFEPERYEM

CHRERHEE -EMTE
?:Tgif@ﬁ RERBIEZRR
EEBTEF  BEFEHEEAN
EWERABERBTEETY
BEEEMER R FHRERR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(c) Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Sales of goods (Continued)

Revenue from these sales is recognised
based on the price specified in the contract.
Accumulated experience is used to estimate
and provide for the returns, if any, using
the expected value method, and revenue
is only recognised to the extent that it is
highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with
credit terms that are consistent with market
practice.

Service income

Revenue from providing service is recognised
in accounting period in which the services
are rendered, by reference to stage of
completion of the specific transaction and
assessed on the basis of actual services
provided as a proportion of the total service
to be provided.

A contract liability is the obligation to
transfer of goods or render of services to a
customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration
that is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays the consideration before the Group
transfers goods or renders services to the
customer, a contract liability is recognised
when the payment is made or the payment is
due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

5

B ISR M

n‘/T\

WARDEHBER (&)

(C) LI&)\ﬁEwm\Zﬁ'—rIB(

)

(i)

k(%)

EmiEeE (&)

HZEHEZWATIRIERHETH
ZERER - EHARLHNU
BHEEEGT RBEBRE(M
B) BREERERAIGETEE
EEABOEER HEZEE
HTAamEEDN S TRIER
EREXD

HEFEHA

RIFWAE R ERFER H 2 TTHK
BEERLZDREERRBERT
R 2 BIRE L BIFFAR - IR
HARF 2 &t B RER -

U>

ARBABERAREC TP IER
1ﬂgiﬂ%2ﬁﬁ LEDNITR
EmRXNERERBTEFPZE
T WEEPEARERNEM
HIRERB T EPANRE
A8 4B ERA 3 R IR 2 5

RAREERE)BER - GHEA
%E$%Eﬁﬁmﬁ%ﬁ LU
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(c) Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the relevant leases.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any
contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised goods or services to
the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction

5

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WAR 7 RER(R)

(c) WARRZETEEE)

(i) HEKA
BREMEZHESWRARBERE
RIARHEENMAE RS TR -

(iv) BELS
AEBTEPEEEMELY &
¢ﬁ§ﬁﬁx% %7 E R

ERFPNRZHAMBRA—F -
l% AEEBREESHEEE
EMHEEAZBERS -

prices for the time value of money.

6 OTHER GAINS - NET

6 Hfttls - FHE

2024
—E-ME
HK$’000
FBT
Dividend income P B A — 394
Net exchange losses FE 1R (2,053) (4,784)
Gain on modification of lease HEEFT 2 W= 842 1,290
Compensation for unfulfilled contracts ~ BEAKRTRA L2 8E 195 2,059
Release of exchange reserve upon F /88 2 RIS R AR
deregistration of subsidiaries 2R EEE D (631) —
Unrealised fair value gain/(loss) BARBEFABEZEREEN
on financial assets at FVPL (Note 22) FEIW A EEKE(EE)
(MfzE22) 213 (207)
Income from selling solar energy PEEEE=Y NP A N 980 449
Government subsidies BT Ah 229 858
Sundry income HEIERA 1,287 3,744
1,062 3,803
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in “cost of sales”,
“reversal of/(provision for)

distribution expenses”,

impairment loss on financial assets - net” and “general
and administrative expenses” are analysed as follows:

BRI

7 BEEHZ XL

“selling and

SEATHERA]  [HERDHH ] - T2F
BERERE(BE)EE-FRIR—K
FRITHX H IA® I - o

2024
—E-NE
HK$’000
THET
Cost of finished goods sold UK M IS A 1,799,193 2 204,338
Provision for/(reversal of) write-down FERERE
of inventories //([B1#) 846 (71)
Reversal of onerous contracts (Note 30) AER#%) 7 1% (Mf:F30) (24,371) (8,380)
Depreciation of property, plant W - BERSEITE
and equipment (Note 14) (PfFsE14) 6,966 6,600
Depreciation of right-of-use assets REEEZINE
(Note 16) (M47E16) 9,494 10,267
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BERE# 2
plant and equipment (Note 36(b)) (M=), 518 (FIsE 36(b)) (361) 36
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) fEE@FIZH (FisE8) 130,474 117,708
Expenses relating to short-term or BHEEHNEEEHEE
low-value leases (Note 16) 2 (FizE16) 5,832 1,946
Property tax for investment properties  REYE Z WEF 7,039 6,459
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment  FEUR AR 7% K =458 (B ([@15%)
of trade and bill receivables — net B — R
(Note 25) (FfzE25) (2,404) 3,634
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENEN €
— Audit services — X RS 2,669 2,669
- Non-audit services — IR 230 230
Legal and professional fees FEREREXEER 4,043 3,904
Freight charges BB 95,527 82,236
Storage and handling charges BEERERE 11,388 8,519
Others HAh 44,374 37,205
Total k] 2,090,939 2,477,300
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

8 REEGAXH(BEESHE)

2024
—E_MFE =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Salaries and allowances (Note a) e kR (Hita) 93,210 79,664
Bonus TE4L 20,722 22,818
Pension costs - defined RIRE AR
contribution plans (Note b) — #)TE HRETEI (FsEb) 8,447 7,682
Welfare and benefits B &AM w= 8,095 7,544
130,474 117,708

Notes

(a) During the year ended 31st March 2023, wage subsidies of
HK$1,056,000 and HK$2,198,000 granted from the Employment
Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund was recognised
in “cost of sales” and “general and administrative expenses”,
respectively, and had been offset with the employee benefit
expenses.

(b) The Group maintains two defined contribution pension schemes
for its employees in Hong Kong, the ORSO Scheme and the MPF
Scheme. The assets of these schemes are held separately from
those of the Group under independent administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, the related companies and their
employees make monthly contribution to the scheme at 5%
(2023: 5%) of the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of
employees who have terminated employment could be utilised
by the Group to reduce its future contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, the related companies and their
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5%
(2023: 5%) of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
Both the Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subject
to a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested for the employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for
employees of its subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
The employees are entitled to retirement pension calculated with
reference to their basic salaries on retirement and their length of
service in accordance with the relevant government regulations.
The Group has no further obligations for the actual payment of
pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond these contributions.
The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

During the year ended 31st March 2024, the aggregate
amount of the Group’s contributions to the aforementioned
pension schemes was approximately HK$8,447,000 (2023:
HK$7,682,000). As at 31st March 2024 and 2023, there is no
unutilised forfeited contribution which could be utilised to reduce
future contributions of the Group.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&EtAIERAR A

fiaE

(a) HBE-—Z-_=F=ZA=+—-RHLEE RKEL
THMRBEEFTEI AT L/ T & #85 1,056,000 7 7T
122,198,000/ 7T * BE D BRI HE KA | R[—K
RATHEE | H#R - TEEERENEE B
Hj °

(b) $§@%ﬁfﬁ1lfﬁiﬁﬂﬁ<i\f REtBFEEBZIE
B AR BIRBESS - M EEZ
BEDHEAKRECEENRARA  UMBURSE
I o

REAESHE  HEARLEREEASAERZE
BHE256% (T =% :5%) Mt 2{EE A
"R - RILEMZEBRFEE MR hASKER
TR D AR

RERESHE - HEARARERRARERES
%ﬁ%ﬂ'l&’&%ﬁﬁ%%%ﬂlﬂﬂFﬁﬂmﬁ?%@ﬁﬁl@ﬁﬂﬂlkz
5% (ZF =% : 5%)MZTEMEZAHRK - K%
I&EE,\Z \TALISEYJ/%#H 1,500/8 7T ° #5K
BREAGRETES -

PR REEEIERARE - AEBARER
SR BRRE 2 B A Rl R B IR B R A BIRIRGT
BN - EEARESEARS - SRSREZERK
B2EAFERRBFRRAEBBMERES
o BZEHFN  ARBBASTINEMNER
BRASIRKREEN - ZEBERABRKEIAR
BRENEEXN2ERAE

{ E—T-_ME=A=+—AILEE AEEYH L
AR RS FTEIME L 2 S4B FE 40 & 8,447,000 7T
(ZZE== 7682000,%7:) RZT—MFR
—To=F=A=1+—A - WERPHACRKERK
AAERDREBARRZ R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director for the year

9 EEKSREEAEME

(a)

EEME

BE_ZT_MNF=A=T—HLFE "

BRI

ended 31st March 2024 is set out below: FEREEHMOT
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Discretionary retirement
Salaries and bonuses benefit
allowances (Note ii) scheme
EEHERK
MigRA ERIGHE
e HERERM (B ii) 2R am
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FTER FTER TEx FTER
Executive Directors WIES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew hABEE - 5,926 1,950 18 7,894
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu B FE%E — 1,248 125 62 1,435
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny (Note i) BB A (T 86 — — — 86
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHELE 207 — — — 207
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BERL S E 180 - - — 180
Mr. Li Yinquan FE|REE 180 — - — 180
653 7,174 2,075 80 9,982
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EERSHREBEAEME(E)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=M=(&)
The remuneration of every director for the year HE-_ZE-_=F=A=+—BHItFE "
ended 31st March 2023 is set out below: B ESHOT :
Employer’'s
contribution
toa
Discretionary retirement
Salaries and bonuses benefit
allowances (Note ii) scheme
EEHER
FER FERA BRI E
[k =13 (Ff=Eii) 2R “aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T THT TR
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew PR & — 5,593 1,950 18 7,561
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu EIRgibtd — 1,245 150 62 1,457

Independent Non-executive Directors BAURTES

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny BRELE 225 — — — 225

Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHELE 207 — — — 207

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike RSt 180 — — — 180

Mr. Li Yinquan FE|REE 180 — — — 180

792 6,838 2,100 80 9,810

Notes: Bz -

(i) Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny retired as a director on 18th (i) BREAER_T_=FNATNREE
August 2023. EERS -

(i) The Executive Directors are entitled to discretionary (i) HITEEA WERISIEAL - EAREARRK
bonuses which are determined with reference to their WEAEFBRIRET

performance and the performance of the Group.

No incentive payment as an inducement for joining REBZE_Z_NEFR_ZT_=F=A
the Group or compensation for loss of office was ZT—BIFE  BMECHNEE FEM
paid to any director during the years ended 31st ZEDESBINARE B sk BB (E -
March 2024 and 2023. Also, no directors waived AN WEEFENHE T _NFR -
their emoluments during the years ended 31st T =F=-A=1+—HILFEREZEMN
March 2024 and 2023. & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS‘

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®)

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received any retirement
benefits during the years ended 31st March 2024
and 2023.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received any termination
benefits during the years ended 31st March 2024
and 2023.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available of directors’ services

During the years ended 31st March 2024 and
2023, no consideration was paid by the Company
to any third parties for making available of
directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and/or any
entities connected with such directors

During the years ended 31st March 2024 and
2023, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and any entities
connected with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director has a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of 31st March 2024
and 2023 or at any time during the years ended
31st March 2024 and 2023.

9 EEKEHK

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

m e B IS R B R

EEAEME (R

EERKER

¢ ﬂ "1— EtﬁfEHﬁZHXEﬂ 17l<
B

ESRULEREA

MEEEFNEEZ T _NFR-_T_=
FZA=+—BHIEFEEWRIEMEIE
EREHN -

RERKZEZERBEAE=FM
Z B

REE-_Z_NFR-_ZTE-_=ZF=A
=t+—HIEFE AR EFERY
CEERBEMEME=ZFZMRIE -

FRAUES IZSFEBEFZE
ABRE HZEES M5

BERAZBAZER BUERK
HXZRZH2ER
RBE-T-_MFER-FT-_=F=F

=t- am&r BMEEENEE X
HEEFRHOEABRBRAFES Y
THEMERARSAZER BUE
REEAMRZLHE -

EERRS  RHHEHNHZEK
B

RoEBE-NER T -_=F=A=+—
BERSREBEE-_T-_MFER T =
F=ZAZT—HLEFEREARFERT
EEAEEEKABARNRFERLD
FREEERSHEREEAERNE
ARG~ BHEREH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EEKREAEEBEAEME(E)

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(g) Five highest paid individuals (9) EEESHAL
The five individuals with highest emoluments in AEBREEaMe ALTBE—RES
the Group include one director (2023: one) whose (ZZ2E-=F: —%)  EMER XM
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented F9(a) A DT Bk « REEBD,
in Note 9(a) above. The emoluments paid/payable R ESINEZ(ZE_=4%: WEZ)A T
to the remaining four (2023: four) individuals ZE&mT

during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
“ENF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Salaries and allowances e MoERh 6,120 7,489
Bonus TEAT 4,230 5,734
Pension costs IRRE A
- defined contribution plans — KB HERRETE 256 326
10,606 13,549
The emoluments fell within the following bands: BENFUATEHR :

Number of individuals

AEL
2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=

- HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 - 1,000,001 t2

2,000,000 7T 1 —
- HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 - 2,000,001%8L2

3,000,0007%& 7T 1 2
- HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 - 3,000,001%8L2

4,000,0007%8 7T 2 1
— HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 - 4,000,001%8t2

5,000,000 7T — !
No emoluments were paid/payable to the five AEEWESN BAEAME FHE
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join o AT AES B A AN £ B 5k Ve Bk
the Group or as compensation for loss of office BEE(ZZE_=% " #HRA) -

during the year (2023: Same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

10

BRI

MBRARER

2024
—ECMmE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THER FTExT
Finance income B A
Interest income: A2 HﬁU\
— short-term bank deposits RERITER 916 755
Finance costs 5B
Interest expenses: FELZH :
- bank borrowings and —EBER
hire purchase liabilities HEaE (88,825) (73,688)
— transfer from hedging reserve — — R EEPEL —
interest rate swaps designated TETE BN S mENT 2 F &
as cash flow hedges (Note 23) 12 B (P 5 23) 1,780 952
— lease liabilities (Note 16) —HEBEKE16) (871) (472)
Bank charges RITEA (4,339) (3,644)
(92,255) (76,852)
Net finance costs BT B R (91,339) (76,097)

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% except for one of the Hong Kong incorporated
subsidiaries which is subject to 8.25% for its first
HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits under the two-
tiered profit tax regime during the year (2023: Same).
Subsidiaries established in Mainland China are subject
to China corporate income tax at 25% (2023: Same).

11

BB ik

AEEDREEMERR ZRITHERASE
JE AT DG A Et BB INE M 2 BIR -

EBFNER IR E16.5% EL#if - H—
MEBBEIMAILZHBATIKRIN  RAFE
[ 1R 45 M 4% I F1) 1S FR B 2 - E B 2,000,000
%ﬁfﬁ%ﬁ&?ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%8.25%f’Eﬁ1’§§1ﬁ(:

= HRA) c RPBRREKZZWBA
7&%&125%(:2:5@ 1 25%) B
EMEH -
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11 FISHXH (&)

The amount of income tax expense rec

orded in the iz

consolidated income statement represents:

2024

=t LE

HK$’000
TET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BREXRTIERZFAEH LR

Current income tax B HIFTIS AR
- Hong Kong profits tax —BABFEH 3,215 5,503
- China corporate income tax —FREEMSER 2,160 719
Deferred income tax (Note 20) FEIEFTISEE (B3 20) 3,184 6,042
Under/(over)-provision in prior years EFERETR, GRREEEE) 285 (1,063)
8,844 11,201
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs TN [E B B N 2 BR TE BT AT A B B i A
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the BEHRZINETOBRRAE v B BE =

weighted average tax rate applicable to
consolidated entities is as follows:

profits of the

2 BN

2024 2023
—E-_MUE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FiExT
Profit before income tax K P45 35 Al A A 85,854 93,384
Add: Share of results of investments o E G RERE
accounted for using ABRZEE
the equity method ZEE 22,750 11,297
108,604 104,681
Tax calculated at domestic tax 1% & B M P iE A
rates applicable to profit 2 EW TR
in the respective countries ZTHIE 18,211 15,182
Income not subject to tax BAERBRZBA (7,082) (2,111)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes a[#1Fi2 it 3,577 5,322
Tax losses not recognised W EERBELEMSHEE
as deferred income tax assets ZFiIBE A 1,026 2,026
Recognition of previously unrecognised RIRRTER BRI
tax loss as deferred income tax assets ﬁ STHEEHFEE (2,589) (7,119)
Deferred income tax liabilities B B R B R 9 TR & A
in respect of withholding tax on ZTEME
Mainland China unremitted earnings ZIBEEFTSH B E 44 572
Utilisation of previously unrecognised 2 A 2L BT AR FERR A
tax loss M EE (4,628) (1,608)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years TFERETR(BEREE) 285 (1,063)
Income tax expense FRiSHi 2 8,844 11,201
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend of HK1.50 cents
(30th September 2022: HK1.00 cent)
per ordinary share (Note a)
Proposed final dividend of HK1.00 cent
(831st March 2023: HK1.50 cents)
per ordinary share (Note b)

BRI

12 RE

FFERRR BB AR E B AL 1.50 81U
(ZE-_=—FNA=+H":
1.00781L) (KisEa)

BRI BB AR E B 1.0081
(ZE_=F=A=+—8":
1.507%8L) (FisEb)

2024
—EomE

2023
—E-=

HK$'000
TER

HK$’000
TERT

9,606 6,404

6,386 9,606

Notes:

(a)

(b)

An interim dividend in respect of the six months ended 30th
September 2023 of HK1.50 cents per ordinary share (six months
ended 30th September 2022: HK1.00 cent per ordinary share)
was paid in cash on 8th January 2024 to shareholders whose
names appeared on the Register of Members of the Company on
20th December 2023.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31st March 2024
of HK1.00 cent per ordinary share (2023: HK1.50 cents per
ordinary share), amounting to approximately total dividend of
HK$6,386,000 (2023: HK$9,606,000), is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The amount
of the proposed final dividend is based on 638,604,315 ordinary
shares in issue as at 31st March 2024 (2023: 640,414,315
ordinary shares). These consolidated financial statements do not
reflect this proposed dividend payable for the year ended 31st
March 2024.

GEX

(a)

AARRZZT_NF-ANARR T _=F+=
A=+ BEFINARERREM 2 R AR IR
HE-_Z_=—FNA=Z1+THIREAZFEHKEE
BB 50BIL(BE_S__FhA=1+AI
ANMEA - BIREEAR1.008) °

AREEREERRBFAERERE_T_WF
EHE‘F*E&EEZXE@H&Elﬁﬁmﬁﬂﬁtoo
B ZZTZ=F : FRTAER1.50581) - RS
4BTEH) 56,386,000 0 (=T = =4 : 9,606,000
BIL) c ZBRFEABRENSHENER T _F
= A=1+—H2638,6043158 %172 L @K
(ZZE- =4 : 640,414,315 R LB - ZZH4E
HBHRRITARMBEE_T-_NF=A=+—H1t
FEIEHREMARERE -
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'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR M EE

13 EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE 13 BRZEREF
(a) Basic (a) EXR
Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated FIREBIRERENTIZARNATES A
by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the FE(S 5 T B LAE B B 317 @Ik a9 hn e
Company by the weighted average number of EHEEE

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Profit attributable to owners of RATHEB ANEMRRET

the Company (HK$'000) (F38m) 78,782 82,846
Weighted average number of BT EBRRA

ordinary shares in issue ('000) hniEFEHE(FRR) 640,246 640,414
Basic earnings per ordinary share Bi% T mAR A E F

(HK cents) (&) 12.31 12.94

(b) Diluted (b) #8

Diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated FRE BB AR TR A BT
by adjusting the weighted average number of SEME B AR D SR M AR E SR
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion BITEINE BIR Z IR EGTE -

of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Company’s dilutive potential ordinary RARABESENLS v T EKREABK
shares arising from share options, for which a BMES  HtBERENRITEHEARE
calculation is done to determine the number of KRB B EEEL  AUETE
shares that could have been acquired at fair value FREAAREBBE(EEAERANGIKRGD Z
(determined as the average annual market share %$$t’:j?ﬁ%ﬁx{ﬁ)§?}ﬁ§21k1ﬁ§kﬁ °
price of the Company’s shares) based on the BT ATERRME B 15 B ERERT
monetary value of the subscription rights attached SRR M3 TORR D B B T L &S -

to outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options.

Diluted earnings per ordinary share for the years HE_Z-_NFEER_ZE-_=F=AHA
ended 31st March 2024 and 2023 equal to basic =—T—BIFE  ARZMEFERL
earnings per ordinary share as there were no EABTEEHEEE 2 TEK  BRE®
potentially dilutive ordinary shares as at both RS m M EEREREBRAOER
years end. g A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B RARM

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y% BERRXRE

Leasehold
improvement,
furniture and Motor
Buildings equipment Machinery vehicles
HEME
%45 - B
BT ET e AE fot]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TEx T TR
(Note ii)
(GEAD
At 1st April 2022 RZE-_—FMA—H
Cost R 170,059 57,967 55,266 6,076 289,368
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 27T E LA (161,177) (54,413) (24,254) (5,383) (245,227)
Net book amount REFE 8,882 3,554 31,012 693 44,141
Year ended 31st March 2023 HE-Z-=F
ZA=t-RIEFE
Opening net book amount BRmEFE 8,882 3,554 31,012 693 44,141
Additions (Note i) AE (M) — 1,147 103 770 2,020
Government subsidy (Note i) GG R — (217) — — (217)
Disposals HE — (46) — — (46)
Depreciation neE (523) (1,251) (4,493) (333) (6,600)
Currency translation differences ERERZE (457) (46) — (29) (532)
Closing net book amount HARKREEE 7,902 3,141 26,622 1,101 38,766
At 31st March 2023 RZZEZ=5=RA=1+—H
Cost B 169,566 57,452 55,369 6,597 288,984
Accumulated depreciation ZEtiE
and impairment RoRfE (161,664) (54,311) (28,747) (5,496) (250,218)
Net book amount BEFE 7,902 3,141 26,622 1,101 38,766
Year ended 31st March 2024 HE-Z-NF
ZR=tT-HIEE
Opening net book amount HREFE 7,902 3,141 26,622 1,101 38,766
Additions (Note iii) RE (et 5,750 2,185 7,324 492 15,751
Disposals HE = (36) = (134) (170)
Depreciation ne (504) (1,264) (4,919) (279) (6,966)
Currency translation differences ERERES (338) (38) - (36) (412)
Closing net book amount HREEFE 12,810 3,988 29,027 1,144 46,969
At 31st March 2024 RZTZWE=RA=+—H
Cost BRA 174,916 58,878 62,121 5,543 301,458
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
and impairment KA A (162,106) (54,890) (33,094) (4,399) (254,489)
Net book amount REFE 12,810 3,988 29,027 1,144 46,969
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ BERRZREE)

(CONTINUED)

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$4,122,000 e HEH4122000F L (ZFE = =F:

(2023: HK$3,693,000) was charged to “cost of sales” 3,693,000/ 7T ) K #92,844,000% L(= &

and approximately HK$2,844,000 (2023: HK$2,907,000) =% :2907,00087L) 7 RlRGEEERRE

was charged to “general and administrative expenses” AEERER IR —BETEEZHIA -

in the consolidated income statement.

Notes: B EE -

(i) There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies (i) BB ENSRRBITORGEXEMSE S
attaching to the grants. 8 o

(i) As at 31st March 2023, buildings of HK$5,731,000 was pledged (i) ZTEZ=F=A=+—H " 45,731,000 2"
as collaterals for certain Group’s bank borrowings (Note 31). R EARNEEE TRITEE (M:E31) 2 MGG -

(iii)  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the financial (iii) R EEEBRENE MY  KEREE :

year were financed by:

2024 2023

—E-MmE —E-Z=HE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTERT FiEx

Payment by cash AR & S+ 6,709 2,020

Hire purchase liabilities Ak 3,480 —

Transfer from trade receivable a5 R ER R 5,562 —

At end of year RER 15,751 2,020
Net book values of certain machinery which are under hire THELTHE T2 E TR ERMEFENT

purchase arrangements are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FTiEx
Cost PR 10,614 6,072
Accumulated depreciation REHIE (1,517) (607)
9,097 5,465
The terms of the hire purchase arrangements is for 5 years. THEZHEZHR B5FE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REY=
2024 2023
—E-NE —B-=H
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET
At fair value RAREE
At beginning of year REH 1,376,991 1,482,738
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERATERTER 127 764
Fair value loss on investment properties &% ¥E 2 A BEERE (13,356) (4,206)
Currency translation differences HHEE N ETE (82,631) (102,305)
At end of year RER 1,281,131 1,376,991
(i) Amount recognised in consolidated income (i) REEEBRITERZRENES
statement for investment properties as follows: Rl N
2024
nl ) 3
HK$’000
FET
Rental income HaHBA 45,579 48,293
Direct operating expenses REEEHESWA
from properties that ZHEEE
generated rental income X (8,414) (8,537)
37,165 39,756
(ii) Non-current assets pledged as security (i) ERFERBEE
Investment property of approximately #11,280,664,000/ 8 T 2R EWE(=
HK$1,280,664,000 (2023: HK$1,376,400,000) T~ = % :1,376,400,000% 7T ) K #
was pledged as collaterals for certain of the VE B 7N £ B 49349,272,0008 (==&
Group’s bank borrowings of approximately — =4 :380,804,000/8 7T) K& TR
HK$349,272,000 (2023: HK$380,804,000) (Note TEZR(MHE31) 2\ R -
31).
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= A
i)

15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

Accounting policy of investments properties

Investment properties, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, are held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or
both, and that is not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are measured initially at
its cost, including related transaction costs. After
initial recognition, investment properties are
carried at fair value, representing open market
value determined at each reporting date by
external valuers. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If the information is not
available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active
markets or discounted cash flow projections.
Changes in fair values are recorded in profit or
loss.

Valuation technique

As at 31st March 2024, investment properties
of approximately HK$1,281,131,000 (2023:
HK$1,376,991,000) were stated at open market
value based on valuations assessed by an
independent professional qualified valuer and
reviewed by the directors.
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"NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 7% e 2= Y

15 REW=R)

(iii)

(iv)

REMEZETHE

BREME(ZZREEELHEET)T)
FIERPESEBREATER —EHR
B BYWIAAKEEM -

BREMENIGREKAE - BIEER
RHMA - VNG TERIL - WEMER
NABEIIR - BREHE B BB
BEE 2 ARME - ROEENER
MZERSEE MEFERBEEE
ZMEE - B EGIROR 2 (EE R E
B mWEHAER  AEBEAFRE
(BT L - PIIRE TR R T 15 2 3T 5
ERXFERBERERRE - 2R(EE
HENBERETIIE -

fEEAM

R-ZE-_NE=ZA=+—H  KEW*
#31,281,131,0008 (=2 = = F :
1,376,991,0008 70) NI BT EES
AR AEMT G ZEERARTEYIR
NMAHEEERN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iv) Valuation technique (Continued)

The following table analyses the investment
properties carried at fair value, by valuation

method.

Fair value hierarchy

Description

Recurring fair value
measurement

— Commercial units
— Mainland China

Szpus

t

KEMEANEE

FrE

ES Y
LN

o

e MR M

15 BREYE(E)
(iv) BB ()
TRUBEESTUAR R BEFIRZE

=8

£

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2024 using
R-B-_NF=A=+—H

EATHBEBETZAABERE

Quoted prices
in active
markets for

identical

assets
RIEBTS
AEEEZRE
(Level 1)
(%—FE)
HK$’000
FH

Significant

other
observable
inputs
BEAHMAERR
BWAHE
(Level 2)
(£=E)
HK$’000
THET

Significant
unobservable
inputs
BEXFAEE
BWARE
(Level 3)
(£=8)
HK$’000
THET

— 1,281,131

Description

Recurring fair value
measurement

— Commercial units
— Mainland China

@RS EE
ite
—mRE

— e EAR

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2023 using
R-ZB-=f=R=+—H

FATHEEETZARERETE

Quoted prices
in active
markets for
identical
assets
WERBMES
BAEEEZRE
(Level 1)
(—F8)
HK$'000
FET

Significant

other
observable
inputs
BEAEMAERE
WA B
(Level 2)
(=)
HK$'000
FET

Significant
unobservable
inputs
BERTAEE
WAHE
(Level 3)
(B=)
HK$'000
THET

— 1,376,991
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REWME(E)
(iv) Valuation technique (Continued) (iv) fEERM (&)
Fair value measurement using significant REHEATTEERGAEEBEZAALEE
unobservable inputs (Level 3) EEZE)
Mainland
China
Bl KB
HK$’000
THET
As at 1st April 2023 R-ZT-=FmA—H 1,376,991
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERATBETER 127
Fair value loss on investment properties REMEZ AR EEESE (13,356)
Currency translation differences HHETE N AT (82,631)
As at 31st March 2024 R-ZE-mMF=A=+—H 1,281,131
Total unrealised loss for the year included RZEZMFE=A=+—HAFFEE
in the consolidated income statement RAFEF AGZEEEE
for assets held at 31st March 2024 ZAREE ERERE (13,356)
As at 1st April 2022 RZE - —FWUWA—H 1,482,738
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HEATETER 764
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEZ AREERIE (4,206)
Currency translation differences HHEE N ETE (102,305)
As at 31st March 2023 RZE_=F=A=+—H 1,376,991
Total unrealised loss for the year included RZEZ=F=A=+T—HAFBEE
in the consolidated income statement RAFEFAGEEEE
for assets held at 31st March 2023 ZAREBIR BB (4,206)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTSW
e MBHmRHEE

15 BEY=(E)
(iv) fEEST ()
BAEAT TRERABEZ LA EE
HE(E=F) (H)
BRIBRE AN RAEEAEAT

THEHARE(E=E) 2 A BiE
22 ERMT :

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iv) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the
investment properties in Mainland China are as

follows:

Fair value (HK$°000)

Valuation
technique

fEER

Unobservable
inputs
TABRE
BAZE

Range of
unobservable
inputs
TABE
BAYHEEER

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
TABRHAZER
ARBEZBE

As at 31st March 2024
R-B-ME=A=+-H

1,281,131 Income capitalisation  Adjusted 4.00% to 5.00% The higher the
approach market adopted yields, the
yields lower the fair value
W BRI gREDS 4.00% to 5.00% EHEMKERHE
l6-ES MAEEEE
Direct comparison Adjusted Car park:  The higher the
approach units’ rates RMB300,000/space adopted units’ rates,
the higher the fair value
=814 193 CRBEAER BES: EBRAENERES
ARM¥3000007 Efi  AAEEES
As at 31st March 2023
RZZEZ=F=A=+—H
1,376,991 Income capitalisation ~ Adjusted 4.00% to 5.00%  The higher the
approach market adopted yields, the
yields lower the fair value
W B ARA CEEE 4.00%t05.00% BRMUAEHS -
Wk AR EEBE
Direct comparison Adjusted Car park:  The higher the
approach units’ rates RMB300,000/space adopted units’ rates,
the higher the fair value
BREABE BRBEMER FES: BRAEUERES -
ARB3000007T/Ef  AABEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-.R [= /ZI-%K#&,%EMT

15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iv) Valuation technique (Continued)

Valuation processes of the investment properties

The Group engages external, independent and
qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the
investment properties at the end of each financial
year. As at 31st March 2024, the fair value of the
investment properties owned by the Group was
determined by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2023:
Same).

The Group’s finance department reviews the
valuations performed by Knight Frank Petty
Limited for financial reporting purpose. These
valuation results are then reported to the Group's
management for discussions and review in relation
to the valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

The main Level 3 input used by the Group is
derived and evaluated as follows:

Adjusted market yields

The adjusted market yields have been determined
by making reference to the investment returns
implied from recent sale transactions, with
adjustments to reflect the differences between
the comparables and the investment properties
in terms of location, building quality and other
factors.

Adjusted units’ rates

The adjusted units’ rates have been determined
by making reference to the comparable market
transactions of similar properties, with adjustments
to reflect the differences between the comparables
and the investment properties in terms of time,
location, environment and other factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

16 LEASES 16 #HE

AR HEE (B AR AEEAN)ZER -

This note provides information for leases where the
Group is a lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REEMBERRRERZEEHE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position ,%-"?é\ﬁﬁ%ﬂf(&%%?ﬁlju?;ﬁﬁﬂgﬁﬁz
shows the following amounts relating to leases: R -
2024 2023
“E-NE —EC-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT THERT
Right-of-use assets ERREEE
Land use rights 3 fB P A 8,009 8,211

Sites, outlets, offices and warehouses Iih - EJE - WAERER 32,328 2,785
40,337 10,996

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current mED 19,884 4,482

Non-current JERED 9,349 138
29,233 4,620

There were additions of HK$38,851,000 to the
right-of-use assets during the year ended 31st
March 2024 (2023: Nil).

BE_Z_NMF=-A=+—HILFE "
FREEERE 38,851,000 (==
=F o\ o
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16 LEASES (CONTINUED)

(i) Measurement of right-of-use assets

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the

following types of assets:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

16 HE (&)
(i) EAEEESE

EHERHEREEER T EEERA
2l

Sites, outlets,

Land use offices and
rights warehouses Total
Tith - il
Tt fE AR WAERER FEG
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET FTiExT
At 1st April 2022 RZE-_FIMA—H 8,413 19,976 28,389
Depreciation e (202) (10,065) (10,267)
Modification of lease HEAL
contracts (Note) 1&&T (MI3E) — (7,091) (7,091)
Exchange differences fEH =5 — (35) (35)
At 31st March 2023 R-ZT-=%F
and 1st April 2023 —A=+t—8k
—E-=FMA—A 8,211 2,785 10,996
Additions NE = 38,851 38,851
Depreciation weE (202) (9,292) (9,494)
Exchange differences EHER — (16) (16)
At 31st March 2024 MZZTZUF
—A=+—H 8,009 32,328 40,337
Note: B3

During the years ended 31st March 2024 and 2023, the Group
has entitled rental concession from the landlords. For a lease
modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant
right-of-use assets. Any differences between the adjustments of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets are recognised in “other
gains - net” in the consolidated income statement (Note 6).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 LEASES (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

16

BRI

HE (&)

(iii)

REeBEEREAZER

2HNNATEHEERE S

—E-NF
Notes HK$’000
B = FHT
Depreciation of FREEEZITE
right-of-use assets
Land use rights T b 202 202
Sites, outlets, offices Tih - 5 -
and warehouses PWRERER 9,292 10,065
9,494 10,267
Interest expense for HEAE
lease liabilities ZHBHRZ 10 871 472
Expenses relating to EHREEE
short-term leases 53 5,832 1,946
The total cash outflow for leases for the year HERBZE-_ZE_WFE=A=+—H

ended 31st March 2024 was HK$14,251,000 (31st
March 2023: HK$9,853,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various sites, retail outlets,
offices and warehouses. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 3
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

(iv)

FEZHESR LT A 14,251,000
BT ZF_=F=A=1t—8:
9,853,000 7T) °

rEE HEEERRAEHARN

REBESSETH - TEH - PO
EREE - HESY—MIZETHRE—
E—E'EHT_L °

B EREERE - BEE%R
TW!%%’KMI%# o HE a2 w0
MR% EEEETSAEREEZER
#am

2023/24 Annual Report | 4

147
y



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 17 €@MITESHE
The Group holds the following financial instruments: NEEZEUTESHTA :
2024
—E-mE
HK$’000
FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEA A RN S RMEE
- Trade and other receivables — FE Y BR R K EL At R U AR 5K
(excluding non-financial assets) (T EIEFEERMEE) 390,820 463,164
- Pledged bank deposits —EEPRITIER 1,804 11,680
- Cash and cash equivalents - HekREEE 145,304 147,485
Financial assets at fair value BAREBEFABRZZ
through profit or loss TRVEE 3,914 3,701
Financial assets at fair value through ERAREBERAEMEERA
other comprehensive income LERMEE 1,745 4,652
Derivative financial instruments PTEemMIA — 1,668
543,587 632,350
Financial Liabilities SRIBE
Liabilities at amortised cost REHEAARTR 2 BE
- Borrowings —fEE 1,259,501 1,433,319
— Trade and bill payables —ERERRER 100,579 204,056
— Other payables (excluding — H b ETERER
non-financial liabilities) (T"BEEEmEaE) 41,303 36,964
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 29,233 4,620
1,430,616 1,678,959

‘1 48 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&EAIZRAR AR



18

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES

18

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March

2024 are as follows:

Name of entity

HEEE

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
AEMARSL, B3 i 2

REREENE

HEMT -

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRIRE,
EMERZFEE

Percenta
interest
to the

e MR M

Ehpe P
R-B-ME=A=+-ANIENBAR

ge of equity
attributable
Company

A AT E
RAERE DL

2023
—EBC=F

Principal activities
and place

of operations
FTEXH
RS

Hongkong and Shanghai Cayman Islands, US$s 100% 100% Fund Management
Land Capital Ltd. limited liability company outside Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BENEEARERAR Hels BEREAAA 5%7T REE R BARESE
HEEEE
Hongkong and Shanghai British Virgin Islands, US$H1 100% 100% Investment holding
Land Group Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BENEEEERAR RBRAEE  AREMELA 17T REE KD BEAEREZR
Hongkong and Shanghai British Virgin Islands, US$H1 100% 100% Fund Management
Land Management Limited limited liability company outside Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BENEEEERAR RBRZEE  AREELA 1€ REE R BARESE
HEEEE
HSL Asset Management Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100% Provision of management
(HK) Limited limited liability company services in Hong Kong
EREEER(FE)BRAA BE AREELA 18T REBRBERRS
HSL Investment Advisory Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100% Provision of investment
(HK) Limited limited liability company advisory services
in Hong Kong
BEREZA(EE)ERRA % BEREARA 18T REBRAREFARE
Plentiful Praise Limited British Virgin Islands, US$100 62% 62% Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
EHARAT REBRZES  AREELA 100 7T REERPEAERERR
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang Mainland China, limited RMB25,800,000 86.2% 83.3% Stockholding and trading
International Trading Co., Ltd.* liability company (2023: RMB26,700,000) of steel in Mainland China
LEBIEERBREHERAA FEAE  EREEAR AR 25,800,000 RPBEAEFHREERE
(ZF-=%:
AE#26,700,000)
Top Bloom Group Limited British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
RBRELES  ARAEERA e REERHBEABERERR
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18 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 18

B B8 2 B (4&)

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March RZB-_MEF=A=+—HNETENBRF

2024 are as follows (Continued):

Name of entity

HEEE

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRIRE,
EMERZFEE

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
REMRAR L, BTt 2

REREENE

FHEWT : (8)

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company
AR ML
REEZADL

2023
==F

Principal activities
and place

of operations
TEREK
RBEE

Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) British Virgin Islands, US$6 100% 100% Investment holding in
Limited (i) limited liability company Hong Kong
REEZES  AREELA 6% REBREER
Van Shung Chong Hong Limited  Hong Kong, HK$2,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company and HK$10,000,000 services in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
BIEETBRAR % BREARA 2,0008 & Ak REBRHUERRS
10,000,000 7T
BEREEELRD
VSC Building Products Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares
Company Limited limited liability company and kitchen cabinet in
Hong Kong
BIEEREMHABERDF BE BREELA 28T REBERHRRAREE
VSC Building Products Macau, MOP$30,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares
(Macau) Company Limited limited liability company in Macau
BIEEREMMCRM)BRA A R BREMERA AP 30,000 7T REPIEEEARA
VSC Construction Steel Hong Kong, HK$156,568,000 100% 100% Provision of steel
Solutions Limited limited liability company processing services in
Hong Kong
BIEERENATIZERAR 2R BREMELA 156,568,000 570 REBRGIE N TR
VSC Steel Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$38,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Stockholding and
limited liability company and HK$20,000,000 trading of steel in
non-voting deferred Hong Kong
BIEEMEARAR &% BREMAR 38,000 BT EiER REBFHIEERE
K 20,000,000 7T
EREEETERG
VSC Steel Processing Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding in
Holdings Limited limited liability company Hong Kong, and
provision of logistic
and management
service of steel
BIEE MM M TERER DA 2R BREMELA 18T REBREER R AME
%Eﬁi\%//lh& }EHEZ%
VSC Steel Processing Limited Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100% Operation of the land
limited liability company situated in Tsing Yi
BIEEMMMIERAR BE BREELHA 18T BENRER T
EBNBOEERARAR Mainland China, RMB479,130,000 100% 100% Property investment in
(Formerly known as limited liability company Mainland China
LEMBBEXERAT) FEAE - EREEAR AR 479,130,000 70 R B ARBETYRRE

(A LB NBEXEERAT)

‘1 50
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18 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) Fi B A =] (48)

R-Z-_ME=A=+—HBHNZENERF

18

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March

2024 are as follows (Continued):

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued

BRI

(&)

Percentage of equity

Principal activities

establishment and share capital/ interest attributable and place
Name of entity kind of legal entity registered capital to the Company of operations
REMRAR L, BTt 2 BRITRE ENEREM FEXH
BEREE REEERNEE EfEARZFHE RAERER D REE
2024 2023
“E-NFE | ZES=F
FBILBREEERAT Mainland China, RMB92,835,165 100% 100% Property investment in
limited liability company Mainland China
FEAE - FREERF AE#92,835,165 7T RO B RBEETYERE
EEFiEEELLARAR Mainland China, US$2,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of consultancy
limited liability company services on property and
business management
in Mainland China
FEAE  EREEAA 2,000,000 % 7T R B KRR ERER
CEERFARE
FRIRBEE 5 (L8 BRAR Mainland China, US$6,500,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares
limited liability company in Mainland China
FEAE - FREERF 6,500,000 % 7T RO BEAEREFRZA
EIES (/) NEEEERAR Mainland China, US$7,280,000 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company service and trading of
sanitary wares and
kitchen cabinets
in Mainland China
FEAE  EREEAA 7,280,000 % 7T R BRI G E IR RS
KRB E#RZAR R
RE=@EMBERRDA Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares

limited liability company

FEAE  EREEARF AR 10,000,000 7T

in Mainland China

R BEAEREFAZRA

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company

NEMIRESRRAARBEARFE ZEE

which, in the opinion of the directors, principally KEBEEETFEZE 2 ARANAINMBAT - &

affected the results of the year or formed a substantial ERAEVHEMMB AR ZHIEEeSLERA

portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of NITfE -

other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

Note: B3

(i) The shares of Van Shung Chong (B.V.I.) Limited are held directly (i) Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited Z BB AR
by the Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are held AEEER -  HtlB AR ZKH BIMEEE -
indirectly.

* The English translation of these entities is for reference only. The @ A1 vl

official names of the companies established in the PRC are in

Chinese.

EZ%EE%%F%Z%X*%$E@%%&EU
AR ANAERENLH -
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19 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD

Set out below are an associate and a joint venture of
the Group as at 31st March 2024 and 2023. The entities
listed below have share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group.

Details of the principal investments in an associate and
a joint venture as at 31st March 2024 and 2023 are as

follows:

Name of entity

HSL Shanghai Office
Partner | Limited
(“HSO") and its
subsidiaries
(collectively as
*HSO Group™)

HSL Shanghai Office
Partners | Limited
(THSO REMEB AR
(GFBIHSO£E )

Skyline Holdings (BVI)
Limited (“Skyline")
and its subsidiaries
(collectively as
“Skyline Group™)

Skyline Holdings (BVI)
Limited ([ Skyline |)
RAMBAR
(G78[ Skyline £8 )

Place of
business/Country
establishment/
incorporation

EEIE

EMARLER

Mainland China/
British Virgin
Islands

hERE/
RBRIES

Mainland China/
British Virgin
Islands

hEARE/
RBEIES

% of ownership interest

BEREREINL
2024 2023
—E_MNE | D=2 =
% %
BA B

15% 15%

5% 5%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 BESZEARZIRE

ATEHINAEER —F-_NFR_FT_=F
ZA=t-HZ-EBERR R -—EAZEA
Ale UTASIEREAAETRRZEA |
REBEERFA -

Ros-—mEp-—T-—=€#=A=+—H>
—BBEARR-MAEAN EBRAN
BT

Nature of the
relationship

BEEE

Joint venture
(Note i)

Associate
(Note ii)

NS

(FizEii)

Measurement
method Carrying amount

HEHE REE
2024 2023
SEIY -

—_—=—=

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR

Equity method 235,593 258,557

Equity 45,583 54,561
method

G aw

Total investments
accounted for using
the equity method

NESEARNRE R

281,176 313,118

*

price available.

HSO Group and Skyline Group are private entities with no quoted

‘1 52 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#Ht AR AR AR

HSO & @ K Skyline REH RILE B - WHEAI A
HRE -



19

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

HSO Group is principally engaged in property investment and
fund management business in Mainland China and is owned as
to 15% by Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62%
owned subsidiary of the Company) and 85% by Reco Wisteria
Private Limited ("RECQO”, an independent third party).

As at 31st March 2024, Plentiful has contributed capital,
aggregated to US$38,081,000 (2023: US$36,909,000). According
to the shareholders agreement of HSO Group, in the event
that further capital is required for the operation of HSO Group,
the Group would have to contribute up to approximately
HK$112,814,000 (2023: HK$122,389,000) upon request.

An indirect subsidiary of the Company has entered into a
management service agreement with HSO Group for providing
management service. The management service income is
disclosed in related party transactions (Note 38).

Skyline Group is principally engaged in property investment
and fund management business in Mainland China and is
owned as to 95% by Apollo Skyline Holding Limited (“Apollo”,
an independent third party) and 5% by Top Bloom Group
Limited (“Top Bloom”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company). As at 31st March 2024, Top Bloom has
contributed capital, aggregated to US$10,030,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$78,758,000 (2023: US$9,645,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$75,744,000). An indirect subsidiary of the
Company has entered into a management service agreement
with Skyline Group for providing management service. The
management service income is disclosed in related party
transactions (Note 38).

As at 31st March 2024, the Group had commitment in respect
of investments accounted for using equity method, if called, of
approximately HK$112,814,000 (2023: HK$125,179,000).

The movements of interests in associates and joint
ventures are as follows:

BRI

19 BESEARZREE)

GEE

(if)

(iii)

HSOSE X ZERFRAEREFHERERES
EEER  HAMEMERAR([ER] BEARE
HAHG2% 2 HEEWE R R)# B 15% & B Reco
Wisteria Private Limited ([RECO] @ BB $=
) HEAH85% °

RZT-_ME=ZA=+—H BEHEAHELHE
38,081,000 & 7L(=F = =4 : 36,909,000%7T) °
RIBFHSOE BB R R HZE - WE HSO;%@E’JM
BERFEZES AAKEEAREREESR
112,814,000/ (=T = = F ¢ 122,389,000,%
TT) °

ARRH—RREMEBARCEBHSOKRELE
ERB W REREHRERRY - ERRBEAR
BRr BB 732 5 (FIRE38) ©

Skylne SEBEXZRFEAERERHMERER
E & ES X H HApollo Skyline Holding
Limited ([Apollo] + BB % =7 )#HB 95% & H
Top Bloom Group Limited ([Top Bloom] * A7
NREEEZEMBRARNHEAS% - RZZTZNF=
A=+—H8 " Top Bloom2 & 4 & 10,030,000
EI(HEE R4 78,758,000 0 ) (Z T =4
9,645,000 7T HHE R 475,744,000 7T) ° A&
NRIH— B REZN B AR 2 ESkyline EEF L&
BREHE - WIRETERE - EERBKANE
Bt R S FE (MEE38) ©

R-ZE-ME=ZA=+—R A5£EREEFEH
BRRERAARZIRE 2 &YERL 112,814,000 7T
(ZZT==% :125,179,000/87t) °

oUNCINEE)

BRRZRABEBNT

2024

—E-NE

HK$’000

THET
At beginning of year REH] 313,118 347,775

Share of loss of investments accounted EERIEZEARZ

for using the equity method wEBE (22,750) (11,297)
Investment in HSO HE&FHSO 9,188 —
Investment in Skyline & T Skyline 3,014 8,429
Currency translation differences HHETE N AR (21,394) (31,789)
At end of year RER 281,176 313,118
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19 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

19 BESBZEARZRER)

BELAARBENRAYBERME

Summarised financial information for a joint venture
and an associate

The tables below provide summarised financial THREFEEAEEMNEBEZCEERAR

information for the joint venture and the associate that BEANFICHBERRE - IR CERNK
are material to the Group. The information disclosed
reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of the relevant joint venture and associate
and not the Group’s share of those amounts.

BRE2FIN ARG & AR K2 QAR EwK
A& MIEAEEZEBEDE -

HSO (Note i) Skyline (Note ii)
HSO (&) Skyline (FfzF i)
2024 2023 2023 2022
—E_ME —ECCE —E-=F —E-C
31st March 31st March™ 31st December | 31st December
=A=t-H SRR - FA=1—F [
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx Tax T TER
Summarised statement of HBERREHE
financial position
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRe%EE 27,610 30,036 80,666 78,535
Other current assets HrgaeE 28,592 37,884 26,266 35,512
Total current assets MBEELS 56,202 67,920 106,932 114,047
Financial liabilities and total SRBER
current liabilities nEEEES (61,458) (654,860) (193,742) (191,640)
Investment properties REME 3,762,220 4,076,438 1,487,624 1,687,185
Other non-current assets HtFEngdeE 1 1 1,851,452 1,963,563
Total non-current assets ERBEELER 3,762,221 4,076,439 3,339,076 3,650,748
Other non-current liabilities EfERpak (2,186,346) (1,765,784) (2,353,120) (2,528,958)
Net assets BEFH 1,570,619 1,723,715 899,146 1,044,197
Summarised statement PABGAME
of comprehensive income
Revenue WA 125,925 127,043 250,811 157,341
Fair value (loss)/gain on BREMEL AR
investment properties ERE(ER) M (70,409) (6,183) (178,633) 23,524
Finance income BB 1,024 748 - —
Finance cost HHER (115,831) (119,647) (111,741) (127,579)
Loss before tax BREiAIEE (99,477) (46,247) (266,473) (101,203)
Income tax credit FGHES 17,602 1,546 57,096 9,355
Loss for the year FEBA (81,875) (44,701) (209,377) (91,848)
Currency translation differences EEESES (132,313) (158,625) (30,463) (160,007)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FE2HBSEEE (214,188) (203,326) (239,840) (251,855)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&EAIZRAR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint venture

BRI

19 BESBZEARZRER)

SERRARBEARAMBEERME (&)

and an associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information for
individually material joint venture and associate

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s
interests in the joint venture and the associate.

BERIARBE

FIERVHENRERBAKER
BENR a2 RES AR -

REIZHBEHIHE

BERAR

2024
—ECMmE
HK$’000
THT
Summarised financial information HEEREE
Net assets at beginning of year REV 2 BEFE 2,814,803 3,101,404
Capital injection by shareholders KR EE
(Note iii) (P &E i) 121,406 168,580
Loss for the year FEEE (291,252) (136,549)
Currency translation differences HHEIE N (162,672) (318,632)
Net assets at end of year RERZBEFE 2,482,285 2,814,803
Investments accounted for AR AR
using the equity method 2B
- Carrying value —REE 281,176 313,118

Notes:

)

HSO engages external, independent and qualified valuer to
determine the fair value of the investment properties at the end
of the financial year. As at 31st March 2024, the fair value of
the investment property was determined by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (2023: Same).

At 31st March 2024, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of HSO’s subsidiaries in the PRC amounted
to HK$164,234,000 (2023: HK$227,451,000). Deferred tax
liabilities of HK$8,212,000 (2023: HK$11,373,000) have not been
recognised in its consolidated statement of financial position
in respect of the withholding tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits as HSO controls the dividend
policy of its PRC subsidiaries and it has been determined that
it is probable that such retained profits will not be distributed in
the foreseeable future.

HSO ZESHMNERB L & K MR ERD - LA E 7 BT IR
FEFRRENEZAABE - R-T-NF=A
=t—0 REMEZARBERAMERTLE
HRAAERAREE(ZT_=F : R) -

R-ZZT-_MmMFEF=ZA=+—H8 HSORF HE K
EZHBARSRAD RS M EREEA
164,234,000/% 7L(= & = = & : 227,451,000 %
JC) ° AR HSOZEHIZE B ARENE A RIMRE
ER - BEHBREAET BRI TA ‘méf;z%ﬁ
A BT RIS A BB IROR R R Fapiid
;Z%ﬁ%éﬁ;ﬁéﬂF)’TFEHTE%DWEHﬁ/&&E’J;EL%RIE
£ 158,212,000 (=T = =4 : 11,373,000/%
JC) ©
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint venture
and an associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information
for individually material joint venture and associate
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(if)

(iiif)

The financial year of this associate is not conterminous with
that of the Group and the financial statements used for equity
accounting are for the years ended 31st December 2023 and
2022. This associate uses 31st December as its financial year
end, which is conformed with its holding company’s reporting
date. Subsequent to the financial year ended 31st December
2023 (2023: 31st December 2022) and before the Group's
year end date of 31st March 2024 (2023: 31st March 2023),
Top Bloom has further injected US$80,000 which is equivalent
to HK$626,000 (2023: US$300,000 which is equivalent to
HK$2,351,000) to Skyline which contributed to the net assets
shared by the Group as at 31st March 2024 (2023: 31st March
2023).

As at 31st March 2024 and 2023, Skyline engages external,
independent and qualified valuer, Cushman & Wakefield Limited
(2023: Same), to determine the fair value of the investment
properties as at 31st December 2023 (2023: 31st December
2022) and 31st March 2024 (2023: 31st March 2023). No
significant change in fair value during the subsequent period to
31st March 2024.

During the year ended 31st March 2024, Top Bloom and
Apollo made a capital injection in the form of interest-free
shareholder loans for Skyline, totalled to US$7,700,000 which is
approximately to HK$60,289,000 (2023: US$21,500,000 which is
approximately to HK$168,580,000). These shareholder loans are
interest free and the repayment of which requires an unanimous
approval of all directors of Skyline. As such, these shareholder
loans are regarded as part of the investment in the associate.
During the year ended 31st March 2024, Plentiful and RECO
made a capital injection, aggregated to US$7,812,000 which is
approximately to HK$61,117,000 (2023: Nil).

ERBMAERERA

”NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 BERZEARZKRE(E)

SEATRBEAT

BRERME(E)

EFIEAEERAIRBERAIZHBERIHE
#Hik (&)

MaE

(if)

(iii)

(%)

ZHMENR T RFEREAEERR - HFEHRE
TERBREREE REHEZE T -_ZFN_-F
ZZHFFTZACT—BLEFE - ZBMEARKEA
T A=+ REAREVRFEEFLAR - EHEE
BAFMBEEAH B BEE-_T-_=F+=
A=+—HULEVBFE(ZZ -4 ZZ=
TZAZ+-B)EBERRALERE-_T-_NF=
A=+—B&#B(ZE=_=F: ZF=-=F=A
=+—H)#1 * Top Bloom B[ Skyline it —#;1 &
80,000 % 7T (HHE R 626,000 ) (ZE - =4 :
300,000 % 7T (#8 & 7% 2,351,000/ 7T )) » B R
ZEZNFE=A=+—H(ZF==F: %=
F=A=1+— EI)Z'K%IJE(&%?F@%%

\II b2

R-E-_WER-_ZET-_=F==+—8"
Skyline Z SN B L & B (L EM & E 2T
ARARNZEZ=F HRIETNR_T==F
+ZA=+—RA(ZZ==F: ZZT==F+=A
=t+-—A)RZE-_WE=ZA=t+—H(ZZE==
F:ZE=F=A=Z+—RHIBREMENARE
15 EAEY_Ef?fP_TIE A=+—BmMEEERH -
NABELTESKE

HEZZ-_WF=-A=+—HIEFE ' Top Bloom
K Apollo A & 8 I R & 3 R [\ Skyline & £ /E
& 7,700,000 2= 7T (16 & 7 60,289,000 7T ) (=&
— = 4% : 21,500,000 7T * & # 168,580,000
BIL) c RERRERARE - MiEKEE Skyline

EREF AR A ZEBRRERERR
REBERRAREZ - -BE_FT_WF= )5]

=+—HIFE  EHKRRECOMMHSOA £
ﬁ7,812,000%7E($H?$5{‘61,117,000/’%71)(77
ZEF )
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets against current income tax
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as
follows:

BRI

20 ELEFBHEE (&E)

EAAMNMAEHAERZNHMERAE
BIHZ ARBBIAITHE  ARER —HBHE
B8 (7] 5% FE AR B B B8 ok T [R] FE AR R B BB LI ST
PASBEERELEMESHABEBEMEHR -
ﬁ¢ﬁ@ RSB EREER - BT
BHAEERARTAIEAREE - KHSED
T-

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHx FET
Deferred income tax assets: EEMSMEE -
- Deferred income tax assets expected —FEHAMSR+ @A B U@ >
to be recovered after 12 months RIEFTISTEE 15,139 21,744
- Deferred income tax assets expected —?EHH#HE"-I— Rl Ed
to be recovered within 12 months RIEFTISTEE 14,354 17,150
29,493 38,894
Deferred income tax liabilities: ELEATEH ARG :
- Deferred income tax liabilities —FEHENT_@MARBEZ
expected to be settled after BLEEHARE
12 months (86,228) (98,129)
Net deferred income tax liabilities RS A EFE (56,735) (59,235)

The movements in net deferred income tax liabilities are
as follows:

BTSSR AEFEEBNT ¢

2024

—E-ME

HK$’000

FBT
At beginning of year REH] (59,235) (60,037)

Charged to the consolidated ERGEERKRTP R

income statement (Note 11) (FHzE11) (3,184) (6,042)
Currency translation differences EsiE =58 5,684 6,844
At end of year RER (56,735) (59,235)
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'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M IEHRERNEE

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/ 20 EEFBHREE (BE)(#E)
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)
The movements in deferred income tax assets REFBRELEMEHEENABGB(WES LRE—
and liabilities during the year, without taking into BMIE R AR A2 AR 28T -

consideration the offsetting of balances within the same
tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets: BEFTBMREE ¢

Cumulative Decelerated Lease
tax losses depreciation liabilities Others Total
RHEER HRHE HESR Hit st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TER TR TERT

At 1st April 2022 RZE-_%FMNA—H 37,279 8,865 3,764 1,533 51,441
Charged to the consolidated ERGaBRERT

income statement il (2,843) (827) (2,902) (1,424) (7,996)
Currency translation differences S¥EN =% (140) — — (109) (249)
At 31st March 2023 R=ZZ ::iiﬂ =t+—H 34,296 8,038 862 = 43,196
Charged to the consolidated ERREERER

income statement Mg (8,086) (893) 4,619 = (4,360)
Currency translation differences SHEH =5 (93) — — — (93)
At 31st March 2024 RZE-_MF=ZA=+—H 26,117 7,145 5,481 = 38,743
Deferred income tax liabilities: BEFTSTHAE

Investment Accelerated Right-of-use
properties depreciation assets Others Total

Ramx MmEFE ERAEERE Hit EH

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FERT TERT TERT FERT TERT

At 1st April 2022 R-E-—fmA—A (102,805) (4,275) (3,214) (1,184)  (111,478)
(Charged)/credited to the ERERABREERT

consolidated income statement  (0B) /5t A (1,908) 562 2,804 496 1,954
Currency translation differences SH¥EH =5 7,091 — — 2 7,093
At 31st March 2023 F:@:ZE‘H =+-B (97,622 (3,713) (410) (686)  (102,431)
Credited/(charged) to the NGt

consolidated income statement er)\/ %) 6,168 (225) (4,901) 134 1,176
Currency translation differences S¥EH =5 5,777 — — — 5,777
At 31st March 2024 RZEZEE=A=+—H (85,677) (3,938) (5,311) (552) (95,478)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/

(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

As at 31st March 2024, investment properties located
in the Mainland China amounted to HK$1,281,131,000
(2023: HK$1,376,991,000) are held by certain
subsidiaries with a business model to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. The Group has measured the deferred tax relating
to the temporary differences of these investment
properties using the tax rates and the tax bases that
are consistent with the expected manner of recovery of
the investment properties.

At 31st March 2024, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiary companies
amounted to HK$198,117,000 (2023: HK$265,776,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of HK$9,906,000 (2023:
HK$13,289,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Group controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiary companies and
it has been determined that it is probable that such
retained profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31st March 2024, the deferred income
tax assets recognised from tax losses of approximately
HK$24,670,000 (2023:HK$32,755,000) can be carried
forward indefinitely. The remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$1,447,000 (2023:HK$1,541,000) will
expire in five years from the year they were incurred.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of approximately HK$40,502,000 (2023:
HK$44,209,000) and approximately HK$4,237,000
(2023: HK$7,419,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to approximately HK$245,467,000
(2023:HK$267,936,000) that can be carried forward
indefinitely and approximately HK$16,948,000
(2023:HK$29,675,000) that will be expired in five years
from the year they were incurred respectively.

e ISR M R

20 EEFEHEE (&F) (&)

RZEBE-ZMNF=ZA=+—H BBHTH
““ThﬁLLB’\EPIKK’EZ&éf%%A
£11,281,131,0008 (= & = = &:
1,376,991,000/8 7T) E%Wﬁtﬁﬁﬁwﬁ
FRREMEBAT DL ENZ - MIERB
MEHE - AEEFEXRSREMERLTH
H ERET - (AR EETBH R AGK
M—BEHRERE -

RZZEZMNF=A=+—0 WEBAFMY
BRI &M 2 & ZE%5198,117,000
BIL(ZZT - =4 : 265,776,000/ 7T) - B
RAEEZEHZEMNBRARNRERK - B

ﬁEJ&EETiHﬂXﬁT 77&% % F R
Biah  SHI KRR 7k % & R

5.%?%JFIJFﬁmﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ&m;ﬁk%ﬂlﬁﬁﬁ
9,906,000 (= ZE = =4 : 13,289,000 %
JL) °

FEMEHEEABRBREFEERR
Xfﬁmmﬂ“ﬁﬁﬁﬁm%zmﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BR-R-_E-_NE=A=+—H 5k
E%ﬁﬁ R IRIEFTIS B & E #) 24,670,000
BIL(ZZ = =4 : 32,755,000/ 7T ) A BA
MIRAAAEE - R TR TEEERER ZELER
BREEMN1,4470008 T(ZE - =4
1,541,000 L ) BRELEFERAFEK
e

AREBIE G4 245,467,000 0 (— T - =
1 267,936,000/8 7T ) A] LA R HR 45 88 2
FRIBE B LA N %716,948,0008 L(— & — =
 :29,675,000/8 L) 2 HIEBE(ZSE K
HEREEFERBAFREIR) D AIERL
40,502,000/ JT( = & = = 4F : 44,209,000
BIT) A K 494,237,000 L (T = =4 :
7,419,000 870 ) 2 BEFTISTREE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21 BAARBEEFARMBZEKAZ
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME EWMEE
2024 2023
—E-E —E2-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
At beginning of year REAT 4,652 2,749
Change in fair value recognised in other REf 2 U AFERZ
comprehensive income (Note 34) NABEZEH(MEE34) (2,907) 1,903
At end of year RER 1,745 4,652
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive BARBEAEAEMZEKRAZ SREER
income, which is stated at fair value and denominated in NRBEMERITABITHE  ERBAXS
HK$, represents shares listed on the Stock Exchange. BT b2 -
22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22 RAREBEEFABRZERMEE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Unlisted securities FEMESF
At beginning of year REF 3,701 3,908
Unrealised fair value gain/(loss) BAREBEFABGZEREE
on financial assets at FVPL AR AN BERE(EE) 213 (207)
At end of year TGN 3,914 3,701

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
which is stated at fair value and denominated in USS$,
represents the Group’s investments in a private company
incorporated in Hong Kong. For information about the
fair value measurement, please refer to Note 3.3 to the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

23 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3 fTE€mIA

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT T#ER

Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedges, FIREH -\ LTS

at market value ZmE — 1,668
As at 31st March 2023, the notional principal amounts N-EBE-_=F=A=+—H " ' KEEHHN=X
of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts were HEAS 4 7 % EANE 5 A56,000,000% T
HK$56,000,000, which has been designated as the EREEARTERTEAGSENE S NHE R T
hedging instrument for the committed interest payment Ho RiERP ZE R EEPFERO W ENLE
of bank borrowing. Gains and losses recognised in the B34 FEERESEIBEE -

hedging reserve in equity (Note 34) were continuously
released to the consolidated income statement.

(i) Fair value measurement (i) AREETE
For information about the fair value measurement BATASRTIAANARBETEZE
of the derivative financial instruments, please refer * o B2 SHRRMNEE3.3

to Note 3.3 to the financial statements.

(ii) Hedging reserves (i) ¥HEE
The Group’s hedging reserves disclosed in Note REBREGEMBEREMIEMMPER
34 to the financial statements relate to the following ZEREEEEL TR T A AR ¢

hedging instruments:

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FiExT
Interest rate swaps FlZ = 5
At beginning of year REH] 1,668 1,184
Add: Change in fair value of hedging i : REM2EUAF
instrument recognised in Rz HPITA
other comprehensive income NAEBEES 112 1,436
Less: Transfer from hedging reserve & : ¥R EEBEEER
to profit or loss — included — st A% &R
in finance cost (Note 10) (fFzE10) (1,780) (952)
At end of year RER — 1,668
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25

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WM

INVENTORIES 24 FE
2024 2023
—EMEF —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FiBx
Finished goods BURY dh 374,076 469,672
Work in progress P 6,510 3,385
380,586 473,057

The costs of inventories recognised as expenses
and included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated
income statement amounted to approximately
HK$1,799,193,000 (2023: HK$2,204,338,000).

The Group made inventory provision for obsolete
inventories and write-down of the inventories to net
realisable value. As at 31st March 2024, there is a
provision of HK$9,847,000 (2023: HK$9,254,000)
netted off with the inventories in the consolidated
statement of financial position. A provision for write-
down of inventories of HK$846,000 (2023: reversal
of HK$71,000) was included in “cost of sales” in the
consolidated income statement.

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

491,799,193,000/8 (= T — F
2,204,338, OOO/%TE)ZTTW$EEE?J7%SE
H B AGAEBRRZEERAF -

AEERBRETENREERETHEEER
BEEAERFE R_E-_NE=ZA=+—
H 9,847,000 T EME T = =F:
9,254,000 7o) MR A MBI A R P HF
g o —TEFERERE 2 846,000/ TT(—=
=4 FERMERE 71,0008 7T) BT A
FTRBRERZ[HERAIF -

rb

25 BURAREE

2024
—E-ME
HK$’000
T
Trade receivables FEUER SR
— from third parties —EH=7 375,943 433,347
— from an associate (Note 38) — — & B &R A (M7 38) 3,925 7,593
— from a joint venture (Note 38) ——EA&E QA (MFE38) 321 —
Bill receivables U 2R 5 5,918 8,663
Less: Provision for impairment o RER (15,312) (18,929)
Trade and bill receivables — net JEURBR A 245 — /58 370,795 430,674
Less: Non-current B FERNHEA (3,718) —
Trade and bill receivables MENEERNZ
under current assets IR A R 367,077 430,674

Sales are either covered by letters of credit or open
account with credit terms of 0 to 90 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Ageing analysis of trade and bill receivables by invoice
date is as follows:

e ISR M R

25 BUIRFRERE(E)

FEWERREBERBEBEZZAH ZERE TN
T~

2024 2023

—BCoWmE ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
0 to 60 days 0Z60H 288,966 358,802
61 to 120 days 612120 H 48,620 29,443
121 to 180 days 121 £ 180 H 11,612 4,154
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 14,298 17,810
Over 365 days A 365 H 22,611 39,394
386,107 449,603
Less: Provision for impairment B RER (15,312) (18,929)
370,795 430,674

Classification as trade and bill receivables

Trade and bill receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods received or services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and bill receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and bill receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade and bill receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the ageing from billing. See Note 3.1(b) for further
information about expected credit loss provision.

ERURR R BB REREEET KA
DR HIRTS T P RN 2 3R - inFE
R—FF AR (HMERE - MAEXRBLEEE
BHEIFR) W E EUWR R MR - RIZERR D
BARBEE - BA ZFHEAZINIRIER

EURR R RBENERRABER - VIAE
RIFRRETRER  BRIFLABEARERK
DEAN - ARERARKERLEER  BH
EREBHNERESRE - RERUERNE
SRR AR E R ER G E -

AEETAERYBRELENEIFRA™
AT IRBHEERBE - R R ERER
REREPRHABERE - HHERAGEE
g I ERUERERAREERRE
LEERERE ARBHREEREREL
HE—FTERRKMEE3.1(b) °
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BB RR M

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and
bill receivables are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YRR R RE (&)

USSR R RB ZREREES T

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
At beginning of year REAT 18,929 16,536

(Reversal of)/provision for A (R,

impairment, net B 58 (2,404) 3,634
Write-off during the year as uncollectible 4 Pl $ &~ 7] 4z [al (219) (194)
Currency translation differences EHETE N T (994) (1,047)
At end of year RER 15,312 18,929

The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2024
and 2023.

The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables
were denominated in the following currencies:

ERUSEFRRRFR L FASREEIN_—F
_E&fyf_i A=+—Hz2anEE
HE

BB A R R A R 6 A TS
SHE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —EC-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

THT TR

HK$ BT 277,900 312,088

RMB AR 88,970 110,993

Us$ EI 3,925 7,593

370,795 430,674

As at 31st March 2023, bill receivables of approximately
HK$6,767,000 were pledged as collaterals for the
Group’s bill payables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B RARM

26 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

26 FEFE -

BE R EAiEWERR

2024 2023
—E-lEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FExT
Prepayments for purchases TET R R 41,544 63,822
Rental and other deposits e hEMRs 13,098 12,975
Value-added tax recoverable A [B] I (E R 3,231 7,305
Others EHAth 8,775 21,637
66,648 105,739
Less: Non-current A FERNER (15,199) (11,681)
Current BN ER 51,449 94,058
The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables ReRHMERERER RO EEAN -F

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2024
and 2023 and were denominated in the following
currencies:

ZHERZZBZI=ZF=ZA=+—HZ2RE

BR%E WA TIEEHE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —EB-=HF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

HK$ BT 16,777 14,131
RMB AR 5,096 18,346
Others HAith — 13
21,873 32,490
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27 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 EEBBTER BEREREE

EQUIVALENTS =
2024 2023
—E-lEF =F ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Cash on hand FEE® 178 167
Cash at bank RITHER 146,930 158,998
147,108 159,165
Less: Pledged bank deposits A BEIFRITER (1,804) (11,680)
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEE 145,304 147,485
Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents CEHRTEILERESRRSEENUNTYE
were denominated in the following currencies: Me=E

2024 2023

—E-mEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

THERT FTET

HK$ BT 72,998 47,094

RMB AR 57,526 87,175

Us$ e 16,535 24,847

Others Efb 49 49

147,108 159,165

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits and EHEFERTERILESEREZEE2ER

cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair SREEEN - E-_MEL T -_=F=A
values as at 31st March 2024 and 2023. —t+—HZAREEES -

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit is 4.9%
(2023: 1.1%) per annum. These deposits have an
average maturity of 31 days (2023: 10 days).

As at 31st March 2024, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$1,804,000 (2023: HK$11,680,000)
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables.

As at 31st March 2024, pledged bank deposits and
cash and bank deposits totalling approximately
HK$42,016,000 (2023: HK$76,814,000) and
HK$1,522,000 (2023: HK$337,000) were kept in banks
in Mainland China and denominated in RMB and HK$
respectively. These funds are not freely convertible in
the international market with exchange rate determined
by the People’s Bank of China.
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BITERZEBRFRAEF49% (T =
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(ZEBE-=F:108) -

EA_?_EE B=+—8 A&EEMIR
1T 17 X 491,804,000/ T(=— T — = & :
11,680,000/ 70 ) B IR{E AN EE BT R
IR o

R-_ZE-_NMF=A=+—H BEHETHE
KARBRE RIBITFHE £442,016,000
B t(— T — = F:76,814,000% 7T ) &
1,522,000 0(=ZF = =4 : 337,000/ L)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

28 TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES 28 ENERIREE

Payment terms with suppliers are either on letters of
credit or open account with credit period of 30 to 180

B ER 2 MGG A E B E S A E B H
NF30E180 B H 2R lE A ETT -

days.
Ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice ENERREBRREBZEZRH CRESITN
date is as follows: T
2024 2023
it 112 —EZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
0 to 60 days 0&60H 96,946 178,746
61 to 120 days 61& 120 H 29 630
121 to 180 days 1212180 H 640 24,645
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 2,040 11
Over 365 days i 365 H 924 24
100,579 204,056
The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables ENEREEEZEREmMEEER S _NF

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2024
and 2023. They were denominated in the following
currencies:

M—ZFB_=F=ZA=1+— EIZR nEEE
%o ENERREEBRATIIEEHE

2024

—EomE

HK$’000

THx
HK$ BT 14,991 9,108
RMB AR 14,075 34,369
Us$ ETT 71,513 160,579
100,579 204,056
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29 ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER
PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 EIFEERAEMENIERMR

2024 2023

—E-lEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FExT
Accrual for employee benefit expenses [EFTEE & H 31,229 28,673
Accrual for operating expenses FERTAEE 28,773 24,898
Rental deposits received B HER® 12,530 12,066
Value-added tax payables FEIZ(ETR 3,366 3,589
75,898 69,226
Less: Non-current A FERNER (11,633) (8,136)
Current BN ER 64,265 61,090

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities in accrued
liabilities and other payables approximated their fair
values as at 31st March 2024 and 2023 and were
denominated in the following currencies:

EiaEREGEMER2eREEERR
CHHEER T _NMFER_T-_=ZF=A
Zt+—HZAREBEEE WA TIEEST
# :

2024
—E-mEF —EC=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THx FET

HK$ BT 19,535 12,069
RMB AR 21,678 24,834
Us$ ETT 90 61
41,303 36,964

30 PROVISIONS

30 &

2024 2023

—E_ME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx
Provision for onerous contracts HERN 2 BE 316 24,687
Others Hb — 1,189
316 25,876
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 30 #fE (&)
Movements on the Group's provision are as follows: NEEREBZEHOT
Onerous
contracts
BEEY
HK$’000
FTET
At 1st April 2022 R —FWMWA—H 33,067 1,295 34,362
Reversal of provision F e
during the year B (8,380) — (8,380)
Utilisation = — (106) (106)
At 31st March 2023 RZE-_=F=H=+—H 24,687 1,189 25,876
Reversal of provision F A [E
during the year B (24,371) (521) (24,892)
Utilisation 18 A — (668) (668)
At 31st March 2024 R-ZZE-mMF=A=+—H 316 — 316
BORROWINGS 31 B&
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FET
Current BIHA
— Trust receipts bank loans (i) —(EFEBURRITE () 691,193 785,127
— Short-term bank loans (i) —RHASRITE R () 145,584 100,707
— Current portion of long-term —REARITERZANEE S
bank loans, secured (ii) BEA (i) 68,049 475,741
— Current portion of hire purchase —MHEBE RS
liabilities, secured (iii) B (iii) 1,584 892
— Other loans (iv) —HEMERK (iv) 9,737 6,322
916,147 1,368,789
Non-current JEBNER
- Long-term bank loans, secured (ii) —REJIRITEF - BEMA (i) 334,180 55,910
- Hire purchase liabilities, secured (i) —fBAE - A (i) 3,967 2,432
— Other loan (iv) —HMEK(iv) 5,207 6,188
343,354 64,530
Total borrowings EE48% 1,259,501 1,433,319
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31 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

Hong Kong S

As at 31st March 2024, trust receipts bank loans and short-
term bank loans were secured by the pledge of the Group’s
corporate guarantee (2023: pledge of the Group’s buildings of
HK$5,731,000 and corporate guarantee).

As at 31st March 2024, the long-term bank loans of
approximately HK$349,272,000 (2023: HK$380,804,000) were
secured by the pledge of the Group’s investment property of
approximately HK$1,280,664,000 (2023: HK$1,376,400,000)
(Note 15) and corporate guarantee. The remaining long-
term bank loans of approximately HK$52,957,000 (2023:
HK$150,847,000) were secured by corporate guarantee and
Group’s equity interests in certain subsidiaries.

The Group has certain machinery financed by hire purchase
arrangement. The rights to the assets will revert to the

financier only in the event of a default of the terms under these
agreements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 BE(HE)

B

)

(if)

(iii)

RZE-ME=RA=+—0  EEREBERTERR
EHRTEFBRREEREER( T =4
REMAL 5,731,000 T 2 W 2 B R EBER
TR -

RZTZNF=H=+—H " £349,272,000%
JL(=Z = =4 : 380,804,000/8 ) 2 KHJRITE
T AN E 49 1,280,664,000 8 7T 2 B W) £ E i
ZZ = =4 :1,376,400,000787) (£ 15) &
B ERIEE T - F#r4 52,957,000 8 (===
F : #9150,847,0008 7T) I REARITE K EE;EKI
BEREAEERE THE R RIMESEEER -

AEEBEE THEBZREBENKS - HE
ENEIRNERZEHBHATNERIESGRET
BEA -

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FTERT
Gross hire purchase liabilities HEaERRE
— minimum lease payments —REBERK
Not later than 1 year TIBRA1F 1,832 1,035
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years BN 1FETERSF 4,256 2,588
6,088 3,623
Future finance charges on hire purchase TREE AR EER (537) (299)
5,551 3,324
Total present value of hire purchase HBAENERE
is as follows: wmE
Not later than 1 year TR 14 1,584 892
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years BN 1FETERSF 3,967 2,432
5,551 3,324

As at 31st March 2024 and 20283, other loans represent loans
from a financial institution denominated in US$ and HKS$,
unsecured and repayable by quarterly instalments in accordance
with the repayment schedule as stipulated in the loan agreement
until March 2025 and September 2026 respectively. The loans
bear interest at floating rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T B R M

31 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The maturity of the Group’s borrowings in accordance
with the repayment schedule:

Within one year

Between one and two years
Between two and five years

Over five years

B8 (HE)

AEEREEARNERKHEAR 2B

T

2024
— ik

HK$’000
TR

916,147
25,180
93,950

224,224

il

1,368,789
63,036
1,494

1,259,501

1,433,319

Borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:

tEEUNIIEREHE

2024 2023

—E-NE —EIZF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET TER

HK$ 843,479 939,298
RMB 409,855 481,511
USs$ 6,167 12,510
1,259,501 1,433,319

The effective interest rates of borrowings (per annum)
at the reporting dates are as follows:

R&ER - BEZEREMNE(BF)0T

2024

RMB
HK$
Uss$

—BOmE

4.8%
6.2%
5.2%

5.4%
4.7%
4.0%

All the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March 2024
and 2023 are on floating rate basis and the carrying
amounts of the borrowings approximated their fair

values.

R-F_WER-_ZE_=F=A=+—8 -
AEEMBEREORTIPINERABREEZ

RESBEEALEEREE
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31 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The Group has the following floating rate undrawn
borrowing facilities:

INANCIAL STATEMENTS

B8 (&)
AEBEUTRERZTBEEAE -

31

2024

ZEDNE

HK$’000

FTHERT
— expiring within one year ——FREH 825,437 619,441
— expiring beyond one year ——F&3H = 70,541
825,437 689,982

32 SHARE CAPITAL

32 KA
Authorised
(Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each)

Issued and fully paid
(Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each)

EE ERTRARE
(BRO10BLZEER) (BRO10BRLZZER)
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
CLHETCH] value shares value
REAHE HE RAHE HE
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000
TR TAET TR TERT
As at 31st March 2022 RIEBE_ZFR
and 2023 —E-=F=H=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 640,414 64,041
Less: Repurchased B BEEE — — (1,810) (181)
As at 31st March 2024 R-ZE-_MF=F=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 638,604 63,860
During the year ended 31st March 2024, the Company HE_ZT-_WMF=ZA=+—RHLFE  &AQ
repurchased and cancelled the ordinary shares on the ARBAERSMEEREHEEBRET W
Stock Exchange as follows: T~

Number
of shares

Month of purchase repurc

3

February 2024 —E-mFE=R

Aggregate
consideration
paid (before
expenses)
ENKERE
(A ERBASZAT)
HK$°000
TET

Lowest
price paid
per share

=325
RIEE
HK$
BT

Highest
price paid
per share

BRXM

B=E
HKS$
BT

hased

=1
ik =
‘000
Ti

1,810 0.275 0.250 455
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33 SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company
(the“2021 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 11th
August 2021 and the previous share option scheme of
the Company adopted on 11th August 2011 (the“2011
Share Option Scheme”) was expired on 10th August
2021, notwithstanding that the share options which
have been granted and remained outstanding shall
continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the terms on which the share options
were granted, the provisions of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme and the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise
terminated or amended, the 2021 Share Option Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date (i.e. 11th August
2021) and will expire on 10th August 2031. The
purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group. Eligible participants of
the 2021 Share Option Scheme include any employee
(whether full fume or part time), executive or officers
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including
executive or non-executive directors of the Company)
and any business consultant, financial or legal adviser
of the Company or any of its subsidiary or any other
person, who satisfies the criteria prescribed by the
terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted no later than
twenty-eight (28) days from the date of grant, provided
that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after
the expiry of the period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date of the 2021 Share Option Scheme or after
the 2021 Share Option Scheme has been terminated.
The amount payable by each grantee of options to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of
options is HK$10.00.

33

e ISR M R

fB I

AARRABRESE (T = —FRAE
HEDBAARRAR =T =Z—FN\A+—H
RITHOBRRBFE RS LRS- MARF LR
R-ZT——F \A+— BERANBRER S
(ZZF——FBREAHNER=_FT=_—%F
NA+TBER - BB R RITE R R RE
REEEXN  FEETERERLGR =
T FEBREFSIGRI R EWRAT TR
1T - BRIFERIEHEFT  — T —FBK
BB ERABE (A — S —F A +—
FEEMETFREY  AKR-_FT=—%F
NA+RHE®R - —E=-—FBERETEEE
HE2EALRAEBEELER K SHER
SEBUERR XBRATHZEERRK
AN ANEBEZEEANER - —F = —
FREEAENAERSEALEREART
AL E BRI RS (T2 Bk
R THAEREEAB(BRARFH
THIERTESR)  URARRHEERHE
NEINERARER  BHIOERER - X
e T - —FRBRE S 2 GFARER
BEZEMEMAL - REBBREZZHATR
R BB R —+/\(28) BREM - R
T —FRBRER SRR A B B+ F
JERmER =T = — FREE SR LR E
M EA A E R - SBREAR AR A
BRUBERE L BORAARAINNEES
10.00 7T °
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33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 33 BREE)

The subscription price in respect of any option under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme shall be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the
grant of the relevant option and must be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the options, which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares of
HK$0.10 each. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Board of Directors but in
any event, not longer than ten (10) years from the date
of grant.

The total number of the Company’s shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options under 2021
Share Option Scheme and the options granted under
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries to each grantee (including both
exercised or outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue for the time being. Where any further grant
of options to a grantee would result in the Company’s
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such
person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of Company’'s shares in issue,
such further grant must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and
his close associates (or his associates if the grantee is
a connected person) abstaining from voting.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&EAIZRAR AR

T FRRER SR T T REARE R
BEAHEFENELERBRER 2D
BEE BERLIBEATIRSERE ()
ARARBORBELBREER(LARER
BBaRXIMEERERMBZIWTE:
(INVARFRRONEZRLBRER B R
GVEAZEXBEBE X ZHME A RE KRR
Z YT E - K (i) AR R EAE &R
0108 - ERHBREZITEMIIHES
SEE HEEROMNTSBBRGL AR
B+ (10) FHAR -

RABETE T - —FHEREASIETH
BRELREBEARDE R, SENBARNE
o] EL 4t 8 B A 51 B [A) 35 AR AR B0 BB A A
(BRETEH R RITEANERAE) M MEW
T EARED BT REETOROAET
SHEEMARTZEHITRNAI 1% o R
BRAE—TREBEERERARRAEITE
“E - FRBREEIRARR R REN
B AR IR EAMBARETSIE T HHEN
PrAERBIE M BAMERA TR ENBEREE
BETHE - CEERAEARTTEBBRE) MR
T EAREEZR(RR)ZE-—FSELBEH
ERTRBETORNEREARBEHET
B 1% A £ - BIZE - PR HBERRER
BRAE LEEE  MAERARAREER
EHMEA(K(HZARARBBEAL) HBER
NIBRERSE °
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33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The limit on the number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme, together with all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
(including the 2011 Share Option Scheme), must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company and/or its subsidiaries if this would
result in the 30% limit being exceed. In addition, the
total number of Company’s shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme (“General Limit"). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company and/or its subsidiaries shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the General Limit.

Unless otherwise imposed by the Board and stated in
the offer letter, the exercise of an option is not subject
to any performance target which must be achieved
before the options can be exercised or any minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised.

33

e ISR M R

BB R (4]

RITEMBRE-_S-_—FERENZER
HAB AR IT AV B IR A R R IB AR R B Je
SHME AR B8
—T - ERERES ) ERLERRITED
BREMAIREHTHROEE LRIEBG
T E TR A 30% © fini & 1% H G BB B
0% REE - AINBRE T - —FRKRE
Bk A DA K,k E MY B B (] H At BB
P AERT SR H BB A - Eoh - BEITERE =
T FEREGFERARA R LENE
DB ] B AL RS B RT 8IS TR LAV A
PRI Al RERTT AR B BEA R
GHEE-_FT - FRIETIERMBEAR
AIEETRNA10% ([—RREE]) - —RR
BHNAETERERE T - —FBRE
BIR AR A K,k E MY B B (] H At BB
PR St 1 RN 2 SR R B A -

REEFEXARTARBLH LT ERIN - &
A BB AR AE 1T (0 30 2B P 7 (E ] A BB U 7T 32
AERMRE B IEHREERBRAEA T1T6E
A WA 7815 A RE IR Y AR A2 HARR
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33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 33 BREE)

The 2011 Share Option Scheme expired on 10th August
2021. No options were granted or exercised, and
1,246,622 (2023: 2,343,649) share options were lapsed
under 2011 Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31st March 2024. The terms of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
options, if any, granted prior to its expiration.

Movements of share options granted under 2011 Share
Option Scheme for the year ended 31st March 2024
were as follows:

TE - FEREAIER=_ZE=_—FNA
+E| l_l/% @?\E_i V_EIE )EJ “I’ H
HFE - —FERETZETHERE
B AEHE IR B sl 77 F - B 1,246,62217 (2023
F 12,343,649 ) EREE XK — T ——
FHRBETZKADEREEF + RN KE
B URERREE R B BATE & BB AE (10
BIAI AT »

HE-_T-_W&=A=+—HL&FE"
**ﬁ%k%ﬁﬂET&ﬁZ$k%ﬁ@m
T :

Adjusted
Exercise exercise As at As at
price per price per 1st April Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period Notes share share 2023 Granted lapsed  Exercised 2024

f@E RoB-= % ZNE
RFAH BHE W BROGE SROEE mA-A BT  #B/4&M Bl
HKS$ HKS 000 000 000 000
B B H TH TH Tk

For the year ended 31st March 2024
HE-S-MEZR=T-ALEE

20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 1 0.928 0.928 2,100 - - - 2,100
19th January 2025
“Z-1% “E-RE-f-tHEZ
-F-1B _7_ﬁ¢ ATNE
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to 2 1.300 1.043 1,246 - (1,246) - -
26th November 2023
-5z ZE-ZET-A-TtRE

T-B=ftH ZECE+-Ao1RA

3,346 = (1,246) = 2,100
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33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

Movements of share options granted under 2011 Share
Option Scheme for the year ended 31st March 2023

were

as follows:

Adjusted
Exercise exercise
price per price per
Date of grant Validity period Notes share share

L]

R¥RH B e BREE  SRORE

HKS HKS
B B

For the year ended 31st March 2023
HE-SCZEZR=T-HLEE

e MR M

33 BRECE)

HE_T_—#-A=+—AItFE —F
—— R SR T B R B
T

Cancelled/
lapsed Exercised

Eiit
000
it

20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 1 0.928 0.928 2,100 — - - 2,100
19th January 2025
“5-hf ZE-15-AZtHE
-A-t8 ZEZRF-ATNA
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to 2 1.300 1.043 1,246 - - - 1,246
26th November 2023
“3-zf 3-ZE-A-feRE
+-f-t4E ZEIZET-AZTSE
16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to 23 0.670 0587 2,344 - (2,344) — —
15th November 2022
ZF-C ZE-CEt-ATARE
T-AtKA ZECCFT-ATRA
5,690 — (2,344) — 3,346
Notes: BRFE -
1) The share options were vested in four tranches, with each 1) BRESINEISE  §— Ho 3 R BEBREYN

2)

3)

tranche covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-fourth of the relevant options
and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming exercisable
from 20th of January in the years 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019
respectively and the years onwards till 19th January 2025.

The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to
17th December 2014 under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were
adjusted for the open offer completed in December 2014.

The share options were vested in five tranches, with each
tranche covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable
to the extent of one-fifth of the relevant options and with the 1st,
2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th tranche becoming exercisable from 16th
of November in the years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016
respectively and the years onwards till 15th November 2022.

Moz — (&S AT REEREN TS 2 —) -
F— B BoRFEEHEAIR-ZT AT =
T—+F T N\ER-T-NAFH—HA=1+H
BAFITE EE_Z-_RAF—A+ABLL-

2) WIE-OF+-A+tAARE-Z——FER
R ER Nz BRETEERREER T —IF
TZRAEKZ R EEHFE o

3) BRESTHRE 5855 REHEEEREND
Az —(BISZATERBERENRES Z—) -
EF— B F= FORFERHSIN=_T—=
F ZT=F -ZZT0NF - ZT—HFR=T
—NEMN+—A+ARNBRATIE EEZT =
E#+—fF+HBIE -
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33

34

SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

No options were granted under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme during the years ended 31st March 2024 and
2023.

The total number of shares available for issue upon
exercise of all outstanding share options already
granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme and
2021 Share Option Scheme is 2,100,000 shares (2023:
2011 Share Option Scheme: 3,346,622 shares and 2021
Share Option Scheme: Nil), representing 0.33% (31st
March 2023: 0.52%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31st March 2024.

The maximum number of shares available for issue
upon exercise of share option not yet granted under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share
Option Scheme is 64,123,231 shares (2011 Share
Option Scheme: Nil and 2021 Share Option Scheme:
64,123,231 shares), representing 10.04% (31st March
2023: 10.01%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31st March 2024.

RESERVES

Share Capital
Share opion ~ redemption
premium reserve reserve (i)

Statutory
reserves (i)

R e

33

34

Capital
TeServe

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB ()

BE_Z-_NMEE T -_=F=-A=1+—H
IFFE - WERE - - —FBRETEIE
I EEASAE -

BE-ZZT——FHEREAE L= =—

BREE FAAEREMERITEZ
BAREEATER - A TBITZIRDEE A
2,100,000 (= F==F: T ——F
fE#EET &l - 3,346,622 N — T — —FHEMK
BETE E)  (hARFERZE-ZNF=A
= +—BZBEBETRAN0IZ% (ZE==F
—A=+—H :052%) °

BE—_ZFT——FEREFER =T =—

BRETE FHAREMNBRERTE
B A 71T 2 R & KEE &64,123,231
BR(ZE——FERENS: BER=2F=—
FEH T E 64,123,231/ ) - th AR
AR -_ZE-_ME=ZA=+—B 20 %B1TK
AE10.04% (—E-_=FE=F=+—8:
10.01%) °

it

Cumulative

Financial foreign

assets at currency

Hedge Other FVocl translation

Tesere Tesere Teserve Teserve
EOAER
FARMEE

WAz i

Retained
eainings

BitiaE G BEG)  ERRE() et YR EhiE  SREERR ERGfE REEH 8
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Tn TEn TR TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TR
As at 1st April 2022 H-EZZERR-A 426,013 1,067 80,946 19,786 30,744 1,184 (12,145) (885) 71,949 299,145 926,794
Proft for the year ERE - - - - - - - - - 82,846 82,846
Otter compretensive incomeyfloss) ~ 2284/, (55)
(Gain on cash flow hedge bRt el - - - - - 184 - - - - 484
Curency ranslaton differences ~ §%EHZE - - - - - - - - (98.909) - 98.909)
Change in financial asses BAABE ARBRERAR
at FVOCI (Note 21) spEE () = = = = = = = 1903 = = 1903
Transaction with owners SEE\ERE DS
I their capaciy as omners ERS
Appropriation of statutory reserves  BEETHE - - - 4] - - - - - (#3) -
Lapse of share option BlREN - (257) - - - - - - - %1 -
Dividend paid FULES = = = = - - - - - (16,010) (16010)
At 315t March 2023 R-E-=E=f=1-B 426,013 800 80946 19,829 30,744 1,668 (12,145) 1,018 (26,960) 366,19 897,108
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34 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

e MR M

34 ®ER)

Cumulative
Financial foreign
Share Capital assets at currency
Share option  redemption Statutory Capital Hedge Other FVOCI  translation Retained
premium reserve  reserve (i)  reserves (i) reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings
ROARE
iARH2E
BEE -t o) Az Bithe
R ik () RRE() el bihil- 1 BhRE  SREEHE ElifE REEH b8
HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000
TR TR T4 1 71 TR TAR A% TAn TAn T
As at 1st April 2023 HZBZZEMmA-A 426,013 800 80,946 19,829 39,744 1,668 (12,145) 1,018 (26,960) 366,195 897,108
Proftfor the year Ept] = = = = - - - - - 78,782 76,782
Other comprehensive incomelloss) ~ Z#284)/(BE)
Release of exchange reserve upon KB RTRMEERE
deregistrafion of subsidiaries EjifEED = - - - - - - - 631 - 631
Loss on cash flow hedge bRt vl 3. = = - - - (1,668) - - - - (1,668)
Curency ranslaton differences ~ E%EHZE = - - - - - - - (75,949) - (75,949)
Chenge in financil assets BORBBHALBRARAD
at FVOC! (Note 21) SREE 291 - - - - - - - (2,907) - - (2,007)
Transaction with omners SEEA\NEREAY
n thei capacity as owners SRERHES
Appropriation of statutory reserves  EEEFHE - - - Iy - - - - - (12) -
Lapse of share option BREXR - (342) - - (1,166) - - - - 1,508 -
Return of capital o ErgET
non-controling interest islits = - - 1,446 (33) - - - - (1,204) 209
Shares repurchased e (280) - 461 - - - - - - (461) (280)
Dividend paid FULES = - - - - - - - - (19,212) (19,212)
At 315t March 2024 H-FMEMA=1-R 425,733 458 81,407 21,997 38,545 = (12,145) (1,889) (102,278) 424,686 876,714
Notes: Bfsx -
(i) Statutory reserves represent enterprise expansion reserve fund (i) EERBEARBEARES THEBARRL 2%

(i)

and general reserve fund set up by certain subsidiaries in
Mainland China. As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China,
the subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are
required to appropriate a portion of their after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) to the enterprise expansion reserve
fund and general reserve fund, at rates determined by their
respective boards of directors. The general reserve fund may
be used for making up losses and increasing capital, while the
enterprise expansion reserve fund may be used for increasing
capital.

The capital redemption reserve has been established upon
repurchase of shares.

(if)

REFERES R —RERED - RRPBERERRET
B AR BRRERR 7 I 48 & 2 I B R R E R Y
BEM(EEHBEFEBR) BN ELEHR
REESR - REEES  LXTVHESEESS
HEE - —RERBES N BEEHEEERIEMEE
R EE DA A EGMRA -

AARECRED N EBRD BRI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 35 FEiEHIERER

Set out below is summarised financial information for a
subsidiary that has non-controlling interests (“NCI”) that
are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for
the subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

Summarised statement of financial position

TXHEDNGA AR EE TS B E AR IEE
s (RS EER DONB AR NI
AERBE - B ARRENSRE /R AM
BRI -

Plentiful Praise Limited

BEBEBERME BHRERAF

2024 2023

—E_MF —E2-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Current assets MENEE 55 20
Current liabilities mEafE (186,477) (180,769)
Current net liabilities REFEE (186,422) (180,749)
Non-current assets EREEE 235,593 258,557
Non-current net assets EREBFEE 235,593 258,557
Net assets BEE 49,171 77,808
Accumulated NCI REFtIEEs R 89,070 97,786

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Plentiful Praise Limited

REWAREE BHRBRD A

2024 2023

—E_MFE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET

Loss for the period and HABER

total comprehensive loss REEReE (12,260) (6,715)
Loss allocated to NCI DEFIEEHEER 2R (4,659) (2,552)
Dividends paid to NCI X FHEEHUEREZRE — —

Summarised cash flows

Plentiful Praise Limited

Renelz BHRAERAF

2024 2023

—E-IEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FiExT
Cash flows from operating activities LEEB RS RE (11) (10)
Cash flows from investing activities KEEES HSRE (9,188) —
Cash flows from financing activities mEEH R RE 9,234 10

Net increase in RekEEEEZ

cash and cash equivalents B FEE 35 —
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36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 36 ZMEBEERER
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax (a) BRATEHRAIRAESEMEZRE
to net cash generated from operations is as HEHENMT
follows:
2024
—E-ME
HK$’000
FHT
Profit before income tax B BT 15 %1 A& A 85,854 93,384
Share of results of investments JEIL A
accounted for using AR ZIEE
the equity method L EE 22,750 11,297
Interest income FLEMA (916) (755)
Interest expenses FESH 92,255 76,852
Dividend income A B A — (394)
Depreciation of property, M - WEREE
plant and equipment ZITE 6,966 6,600
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEECTE 9,494 10,267
(Gain)/loss on disposals of HEWE - HEREE
property, plant and equipment z (=), k58 (361) 36
Gain on modification of lease MEE 2 = (842) (1,290)
Unrealised exchange (loss)/gain KREIREN (BB), S (353) 3,988
Release of exchange reserve upon B /&8 1 R A SR R A A
derecognition of subsidiaries ZIE R R 631 —
Fair value loss on investment properties &Y% 72 AR BEEIE 13,356 4,206
Unrealised fair value (gain)/loss on BARBEFAER
financial assets at fair value PMEERERAAEE
through profit or loss (Uz) /BB (213) 207
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment FEULBE = & Zi5 8 E
of trade and bill receivables — net (EI%), #E— 558 (2,404) 3,634
Provision for/(reversal of) FERERE (@)
write-down of inventories — net — 35 846 (71)
Reversal of onerous contracts BERL) 2 5 (24,371) (8,380)
Operating profit before working EEESEHAIZ
capital changes Rl 202,692 199,581
— Inventories —-FE 85,627 67,078
— Trade and bill receivables — RUER R & 48,740 63,264
— Prepayments, deposits —FERRE - ZER
and other receivables H th e W BR 3R 36,102 14,827
— Trade and bill payables —ERNERREE (101,222) (224,642)
— Contract liabilities —GHaE 10,027 (35,580)
— Accrued liabilities and —EEARER
other payables H fth FEA BR 3K 6,029 (593)
Net cash generated from operations #&&fT18 2 IR & /F50 287,995 83,935
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36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (CONTINUED)

36 LEBEERERE)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows,
proceeds from disposals of property, plant and
equipment comprise:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) RZFERERERT HEWHE -

BERREZAERREE

2024
—E-NE
HK$’000
TR
Net book amount (Note 14) IREDFRE (MIFE14) 170 46
Gain/(loss) on disposals of property, HEME  BEMEREZ
plant and equipment (Note 7) Wz, (E518) (B3E7) 361 (36)
Sales proceeds of disposals of HEME - WEREE2
property, plant and equipment HEPTISRIE 531 10

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing

activities

(c) MEEBH REYHR

Liabilities from financing activities

MEETHEM
Borrowing Borrowing Hire
due within due after 1 Lease purchase
1 year year liabilities liabilities
—FREH —FEEH
ZEE ZIEE HEGE HEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FAET FHET FHET
Net debt as at R-T-—F
31st March 2022 =ZA=+—RZFEH 735,857 758,919 22,414 4,182 1,521,372
Proceeds from borrowings fEEEH0E 138,007 180,000 — — 318,007
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRITEE (159,362) (382,666) — — (542,028)
Net increase in trust receipt fEERIBRERITER
bank loans R 191,529 — — — 191,529
Interest expenses S — — 472 169 641
Payment for lease liabilities/ HE8E/
hire purchase liabilities HEaEMR — — (9,853) (1,027) (10,880)
Other non-cash movements HiIERSBE 466,565 (465,866) (8,381) — (7,682)
Currency translation differences BN ZERE (4,699) (28,289) (32) — (33,020)
Net debt as at RZT==F
31st March 2023 =A=+—BZ3E% 1,367,897 62,098 4,620 3,324 1,437,939
Proceeds from borrowings ERMEHE 174,567 340,176 — 3,480 518,223
Repayment of bank borrowings ERRITEE (559,174) (9,789) — — (568,963)
Net decrease in trust receipt EREBIRRITER
bank loans SRR (93,934) — — — (93,934)
Additions R = = 38,851 = 38,851
Interest expenses FEZH — — 871 248 1,119
Payment for lease liabilities/ HERE/
hire purchase liabilities BB EMK — — (14,251) (1,501) (15,752)
Other non-cash movements Hi3ER &2 %) 54,529 (54,061) (842) — (374)
Currency translation differences &5 =% (29,322) 963 (16) — (28,375)
Net debt as at RZTZME
31st March 2024 ZR=+—BZ3ES 914,563 339,387 29,233 5,551 1,288,734

‘1 82
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

37 COMMITMENTS

(a) Commitments under operating leases

(i)

(i)

Lessor

The Group leases investment properties
under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The lease agreements
are renewable at the end of the lease
period at market rate. As at 31st March
2024, the Group had total commitments
receivable under various non-cancellable
operating lease agreements in respect of
rented premises of HK$26,541,000 (2023:
HK$27,658,000).

Lessee

The Group leases various retail outlets,
offices, warehouses and sites under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The
majority of lease agreements are renewable
at the end of the lease period at market rate.
See Note 16 for further information.

As at 31st March 2024, the Group had total
commitments payable under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements in
respect of short-term and low-value leases
of HK$2,084,000 (2023: HK$622,000) which
will be recognised as an expense in the
forthcoming consolidated income statement.

(b) Capital commitments

As at 31st March 2024, the Group had total capital
commitment of approximately HK$114,979,000

(2023:HK$130,874,000),

mainly includes

contracted but not provided for in respect of
property, plant and equipment and investment
property of approximately HK$2,165,000 (2023:
HK$5,695,000) and commitment in respect of
investments accounted for using equity method, if
called, of approximately HK$112,814,000 (2023:
HK$125,179,000).

37 AiE

B ISR M

II‘I-F

(a) EXEERSE

@)

(i)

HEA

AEEREBET AL & ZEBELH
MEEWE - YA EHEEE
BUTTISHEES - RN-_ZF-I
FZA=+—8 AEEE%F:
ZTEEBEEYWENTIHE
BEMRY HEWERERE R
26,541,000 (=& = = F :
27,658,000 7T ) °

REA

K%EE%TTﬁﬁzﬂiﬁm
FEZETERE HAE-E
BRI o REHML A EFME
[EmELATEHRESES - E—F

ERAHIFE16 °

RZE_WMF=A=+—H" K
E.EEA uTﬁIEﬁFg%4H~E&1EE{E
ERENTARDLERY  H
JE A< A HE 4R %8 5 2,084,000 7% TT
—TE T =4 622,000/ T)

HBREREERE BmR P ER A
s e

(b) EBEXRERE

R-TE-_WNE=A=+—H KAEEH
ﬁ 488 IR EHE49114,979,000 78 ﬁ(:

— =4 : 130,874,000 7T ) -

a%EMﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁZ%% ﬁ%

BB AR EYF 42,165,000 7T

:t;_—i 5,695,000 7T ) M 55
ﬁﬁgﬁ—rﬁz%\ FEARZEREEE
2 AHEH112,814,0008 T (ZE ==

&

125,179,000/ 7T) °
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'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M IEHRERNEE

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38 ARG

The major shareholder of the Company is Mr. Yao Cho
Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”), who directly owns 0.61% of
the Company’s shares and indirectly owns 13.99% and
29.82% of the Company’s shares through his controlling
companies, namely Perfect Capital International Corp.
(“Perfect Capital”, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Island and 100% owned by Mr. Yao) and
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Island, in which Mr. Yao directly holds
approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owns approximately 42.86%), respectively. The
remaining shares of the Company are held by general
public.

Mr. Yao is the Chairman of the Board of Director of the
Company.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the significant related party
transaction are disclosed below. The transactions with
related parties were conducted in the ordinary and
usual course of business in accordance with terms
agreed between the Group and its related parties.

(a) Related parties balances and transactions

Balances with related parties

RATIHFE ERE R 8B L £ %
D) BREEFAEARAOI%K G -
LA K i B H ¥ IR A FlPerfect Capital
International Corp. ([Perfect Capital] + —
FRABRZHESTMR L2 A5 - Bk
4 $5H100% # 2= ) X Huge Top Industrial
Ltd. (—FER R BERE LB ST 2 AF]
Bk EFEEERFN4881%ER RER
Perfect Capital HEFFH4)42.86% 5 ) 5
A% AN R 13.99% & 29.82% k1) °
RRABIRTROBARIESE o

EEREARFERTEER -

BREAMBRREMIBOMPESESN - EX
R AR ZWENT - BB TR ZRAKE
SH BT 0 2 RN — R K B R EHE
TRARAETT ©

(a) BABLEHRRERS

SRR ) 2 A ER

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
THT FET
Trade receivables FEUBR X
— an associate ——FHBtE AR (i) 3,925 7,593
— a joint venture ——BEEAQT (i) 321 —
4,246 7,593
Contract liabilities AHEE
— an associate — — A& R A (ii) = 1,420

The balances with the related parties are included
in “Trade and bills receivables” and “Contract
liabilities”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

38

(a) Related parties balances and transactions

(Continued)

Transactions with related parties

The following is a summary of significant related
party transactions, which were carried out in the
normal course of the Group’s business:

BB X5 (&)
(a) BMATEHRRS (&)
BEBEETZXS

BRI

RASKE L ERBIZPET

TR HERIT

2024
—EomE

HK$’000

THET

ZERE

2023
———

— ===

HK$'000

fi 3 BT FHT

Management fee income for EREWAR
services provided to REHRBT
— a joint venture ——fEEE AT (i) 15,724 24,109
— an associate — — A E A A (i) 15,281 31,619
31,005 55,728
Notes: Bz -
(i) During the years ended 31st March 2024 and 2023, (i) RBE_Z_NFEA=-_ZTE=-_=Z=A

management services were provided by an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company to HSO Group,
a joint venture of the Group, at prices mutually agreed by
both parties.

(i) During the years ended 31st March 2024 and 2023,
management services were provided by indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, to Skyline Group, an
associate of the Group, at prices mutually agreed by both
parties.

(b) Key management compensation

(b)

(i)

=t- EIJJ:@J* MARBZ —HRER
EMBERRRETRME ERMASEE—
M&E AR HSO £ERH 2 &R -

REBEZ-_FT_MNMFR-_FT=_=F=A

E‘f‘ HIEFE  AARRZHEEZER
ARREFREZEEMAER—HH

M"TSkyIme B2 EBR -

IR fE A

2024

—E-MEF

HK$’000
FHT BT
Salaries and allowances e MoRRh 13,294 14,326
Bonus TEAT 6,305 7,834

Pension costs — defined RIREHRA —HE

contribution schemes HERETE 336 406
19,935 22,566
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39

BB RR M

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 RARQTHMBRRARRFEES

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB RARIZEKE 674,181 674,803
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERTFIE - e
other receivables T oA E U BR 3R 129 120
Cash and cash equivalents B FReEE 1,168 1,627
1,297 1,747
Total assets wnEE 675,478 676,550
Equity s
Capital and reserves attributable to = ARQATEE AEML
owners of the Company B R #EE
Share capital (N 63,860 64,041
Reserves 1 610,416 611,231
Total equity MR 674,276 675,272
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables  JEstBE N EENEE 1,202 1,278
Total equity and liabilities ERREELERE 675,478 676,550
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE R AR MR

39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39 KARMBMRARRFEEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) AR EEE
Capital
Share Share option  redemption  Contributed Retained
premium reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
RiYEE BRERE ErBEREE BARER RE R ko
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TARL TARL TARL TARL THAL TARL
Note (i) Note (i)
GEAD) GEA()
At 1st April 2022 PMZEZ-FEA—H 426,013 1,059 80,946 53,986 47,940 609,944
Profit for the year ~ FE&7 — — - — 17,297 17,297

Transaction with ~— FEANEREA
owners in their ZEHET
capacity as owners H%%

Lapse of share options B RIEX M - (257) - - 257 -
Dividend paid BEffRE
- 2021/22 final -—B--/-C%
dividend RERE — — - — (9,606) (9,606)
- 2022/23 interim -—B-- /=%
dividend paid PERE — — - — (6,404) (6,404)
At 31st March 2023 R-Z-ZF 426,013 802 80,946 53,986 49,484 611,231
Zh=1-H
Profit for the year  FE &7 - - - - 18,677 18,677

Transaction with ~ FEANUEFEA
owners in their ZEBETHZS

capacity as owners
Shares repurchased  fR17 % (280) - 461 - (461) (280)
Lapse of share options B EX X - (342) - - 342 -
Dividend paid ERRE = = = = = =
~ 2022/23 final —-g--/-z& = = = = (9,606) (9,606)
dividend RERE
- 2023/24 interim -ZZ-Z /"M% - - - - (9,606) (9,606)
dividend paid RS
At 31st March 2024 RZZE-MF 425,733 460 81,407 53,986 48,830 610,416

—F=rf
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(@) Reserve movement of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The capital redemption reserve has been established
upon repurchase of shares.

(i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal values
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired at the date of
acquisition, over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange thereof.

In addition to the retained earnings, under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), contributed surplus is also available
for distribution to shareholders. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i)
the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or
(ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#Ht AR AR AR
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(a) ALARELE (H)

Wi

(i) BERBEFEBCREBRMDERY

(i) ARFHABBIERUWE B BREHNBL
B2 B E (B 4 BR B AN 1R B R ML B 7T DAME
Rz B EEMERZEZR o

BRARBEASN - RIFARE—NN—F
REVE(EIERT) - BABBTAI DK T
PRER o PR - fis (1) AN R B RES R BUR
BETEXMNEMZEE (AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS’E‘”

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
are for the Group consisting of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

40.1 Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has right to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

(i) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition
method to account for business
combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair value of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. ldentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

e ISR M R

40 HBEERSHRUE

AHEINHNERBZFHRA P BRRE T
RANEMBEEERNGTER - RIESHH
B REBRRRAEICHBFEBEER
R - A BHRREBNBEEM S ERER
NREAIREFRAEKRNEE -

40.1 B 2 &

(a) &f

B B8 X A 45 AN S [ S EL B A Il
ZCER(BREBEER) X
SERN2E-ZFEREHMYHE
HEHAZERRKZFEREN - K&
BRENEBHZEREANES
FEZELHRE - MANREHZ
ERBEEIEGE - WEARMHE
ZHIEER I AKEZ AREA
BARR - LAZIEFELILZA
REARIEARR -

(i) XFEE
REBETERE HEEA
W EEHEAR - W B
RAZEERERMEZESE
B HRREE 2 AIER A
FTELBERAEBET
ARz 2 RAEE - FTEE
ERERFBREIARESL
HTEECZERNEEXEE
ZAREBE - REBRE R
Frig 2 ARl EEREE
NS ABE M ERKE
Az AnBERE -
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

()

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is
less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.
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40.1 B A=) (&)

(a

& of ()

(1)

EEEOH(E)
B W B AR RE 2 BN TR BE AR
SRR

PR EAE - BB HE
] FEFE B R 2 R AR A BB T
WS B EM RSN
SEE AT URE  RF
BENRAEENSE N
BB - MATEEAE
O R IF R M A 5 e S AT
FrA 2t 2 BEREW
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HEBNBRTEERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(1)

(iii)

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
transactions - that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying amount of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. It means the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs.

40 HMBEERSFRRUE(F)

40.1 B A=) (&)

(a

24 ()
(i) KMEATZRERESE

(iii)

BIHAIRETE

S ECERT LEE
BN S - R DA
B — BDLA 18 SHE A A AR
PR PNOESSINT TS
25 EAHARBHRA
18 1 5546 B i 7 L Y
NEEEFEBEEDE
AR o I
I 36 1 Y R -

IR AR ©
&R 2 A

A
EASERERKEEGIE
- (B REERIR KRR
HEE Az A BEERHR
B AREEEZPHNIES
TR EAAEBERER
ARIIMERE AT - BERQ
ASEMEENRERD
PIIARREE © LEOD - SERTR
Hh 2R ATEREZERE
BT S RRIBIALE
FoERLEAREENA
BT AAR - BIERTRE
fo 2R AR S RER
DEERESHRBERAEE
MBHREENREEBEH
bz 4R -
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(b) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received

and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
a dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

40.2 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’'s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group’s share of the aggregate fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is

accounted for as goodwill.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HBEEASTBREE (&)

40.2 Associates (Continued) 40.2 & N\ (&

~

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to “share of results of investments
accounted for using the equity method - net” in
the consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

ERBE QR AR ENFE
BAFEN KA At 2 E IR AT
R RERLAI(ER) ERDEE

B e

AEBRGWBR G HEBENEA
BamRPER - MmEREWRERERE
EPHANEM 2B ATER - LHRE
HABREZEREERE - EAKEEHE—
IR & D P 2 B R F X Sk iB @ LA R B
BRE 2w (BREEAEMETTE
WHRF) B - NEREE NS — S HERE
B RIFECELZEIEERBIE
REEE RBER K

rEEEEREREREERE A RER
BEREARNBEAR ZRECHE - 0K
BERE  AEEAERESERSRN
Haﬁ%@TTH&@%%E&iﬁﬁEEF@Z%

C WRERABER T Z[BHEES
&)\EEZ&%Z%%?‘:—%%EJWﬁﬁmi
TR e

G B ERE N EIE 2 BN TR
P m MR EE - RARBEZ &6 5%
HRPHER - BEAERSREENE
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e TSR MR

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.3 Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 - Joint
Arrangements to all joint arrangements. Under
HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures depending on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor. The Group has
assessed the nature of its joint arrangements
and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity
method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investments in joint ventures include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint
venture, any difference between the cost of the
joint venture and the Group's share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the
Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures,
including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, and has
been identified as the Executive Directors that
make strategic decisions. Information relating to
segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed as
such information is not separately reported to the
CODM.

40.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the profit or loss. All foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within
“other gains - net”.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

(c)

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as
financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into
the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTSE

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

(iii) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit
or loss.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HBEEARSTHREE (&)

40.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, is stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit
or loss during the financial year in which they are
incurred.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings 2% to 20%
— Leasehold improvements 20% to 33%
— Furniture and equipment 15% to 33%
— Machinery 10% to 25%
— Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’'s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount
(Note 40.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and
are recognised within “general and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS’E‘”

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.7 Intangible assets

(a

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the Group’s
interest in net fair value of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Customer contracts

Customer contracts acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair values
at the acquisition date. Customer contracts
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the utilisation method to
allocate the cost of customer contracts over
their estimated useful life.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

"NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HiBEEARSTRREE (&)

40.8 Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation are calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the costs of leasehold land
over their terms. Land use rights are presented as
right-of-use assets on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

40.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life - for
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUSs).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.10 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through profit
or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date
— the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed
in the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit
or loss and presented in net within other
gains/(losses) in the period in which it
arises.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in “other gains - net”
in the consolidated income statement as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses (‘ECL")
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group calculates
the ECL of financial instruments in different
stages. Stage 1 refers to financial instruments
that have not had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition; Stage
2 refers to financial instruments that have
had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition but that do not have
objective evidence of impairment; Stage
3 refers to financial assets for which there
are objective evidence of impairment at the
reporting date since initial recognition. For
these assets at Stage 1, 12-month ECL are
recognised and for assets at stage 2 and 3,
life-time ECL are recognised. For financial
assets with low credit risks as at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group recognises 12-month
ECL based on the assumption that the credit
risks have not significantly increased after
initial recognition. The Group determines the
level of credit risks according to their internal
and external investment grade credit rating
and the ages of financial assets. For those
financial assets are more than 30 days past
due, they would be classified as stage 2
and 3, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

For financial assets in stage 1 and stage
2, interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the asset, that
is, without deduction for credit allowance,
and the effective interest rates. For financial
assets in stage 3, interest income is
calculated on the net carry amount, that is,
net of credit allowances, and the effective
interest rates.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(d) Impairment (Continued)

The Group recognises the provision and
reversal of ECL in profit or loss. For debt
instrument at FVOCI, the Group makes
relevant adjustments to other comprehensive
income at the same time as recognising ECL
in profit and loss.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

Impairment on bill receivables, other
receivables and deposits are measured
as either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured
as lifetime ECL, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

40.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS‘
re IR M EE

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY Ht B EERSSTHEME(E)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

40.12 Inventories 0.12FZE

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

40.13 Other receivables

If collection of other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair
value.

40.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less.

40.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.16 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Accounts
payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

40.17 Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period.

The accounting for subsequent changes in fair
value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the
nature of the item being hedged.

At the inception of the hedging, the Group
documents the economic relationship between
hedging instruments and hedged items, including
whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging
instruments are expected to offset changes in the
cash flows of hedged items. The Group documents
its risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking its hedge transactions.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is
classified as a non-current asset or liability when
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
more than 12 months; it is classified as a current
asset or liability when the remaining maturity
of the hedged item is less than 12 months or if
the counter party has the right to terminate the
hedging instruments anytime. Trading derivatives
are classified as a current asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.17

40.18

Derivatives and hedging activities (Continued)

Cash flow hedge that qualifies for hedge accounting

The effective portion of changes in the fair value
of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
cash flow hedges is recognised in hedge reserve
within equity. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss within “other gains — net”.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in
the periods when the hedged item affects profit or
loss, as follow:

e The gain or loss relating to the effective
portion of the interest rate swaps hedging
variable rate borrowings is recognised in
profit or loss within finance cost at the same
time as the interest expense on the hedged
borrowings.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan
to the extent that it is probable that some or all
of the facilities will be drawn down. In this case,
the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.19 Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisitions, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their

intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which they are

incurred.

40.20 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the year
is the tax payable on the current year's taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate
for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a
taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of

the resolution of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to
investment property that is measured at fair
value is determined assuming the property
will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are
not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where
the Company is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.

e ISR M R

HBEEASTBREE (&)

4020 EHIRIEREFR 5 8E (48)

(b)

EEFEH
HEEHRABIRERANGES
BBRR2EEACEME 2HE
EZEREREMRGEEL 29
AHIREERSN - AT > WK B
HEBZNEHER  EERER
BRI THER - WEBE RS (EH
BHBEINHHEERABE 2V
ﬁ&wu ﬁﬁEﬁQ%%‘T%&; E.qu_JZ
FERR B MBS 18 - R & 55
FHERNE AR ERZ5
EIEFT SR IR RS BR » IR FT
\m%ﬁﬁﬁ%%%XEﬁ%I
BEEBEM2HE(RED)
HBRBEMBELEMS mﬁF&1ﬁ
BEFRMSHABRERSEE
MEE °

BERRAABEAENREDE
MEEHBERENERMEHE
BHEMTE2WREEE

EIER IR B E R I A A K JE
AR EEAANEEERERE
BN EERET SRR -

fis] A2 &) BE 12 Il [0 78 T B = BE A
%ﬁ&%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ S & A A]
BgREE - AT eI
REFEMESABRE  HNYREE
HHRRELETBEEEREE °

2023/24 Annual Report |

211



212

e TSR MR

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

40.21 Employee benefits

(a

Pension obligation

The Group operates defined contribution
plan. The schemes are generally funded
through payments to insurance companies or
trustee-administered funds.

A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligation (Continued)

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits
when it is demonstrably committed to a
termination when the entity has a detailed
formal plan to terminate the employment
of current employees without possibility of
withdrawal. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonus. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

(a)

(b)

(c)
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d) Employee leave entitlements

(e)

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting
date. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
long service payments to its employees
upon termination of their employment or
retirement when the employees fulfil certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and
prior periods.

40.22 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS\

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.22 Share-based payments (Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to vest. The total
expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant date
and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated
for the purposes of recognising the expense
during the period between service commencement
period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertaking in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertaking, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.

e ISR M R

HBEEASTBREE (&)

40.22 AR B BT 2 4 (])

FEMHRIR MRS RITET AR B
B BEREHE 2R - XHRENE
& HA T (B P B 5 72 R BB IR 1 9 1 T Je
Z ) ARER -

BEAN - EREBRT - BEAEREA
M2 AR R - ARE Bz AR
BETIHERIRF R B HEE H A 5
WAz A (EhfAET

EEREHR  AREEREFMER
BRI R IHE L TRHIGR 8 2 R A
B 2 b5 - AREELZE S BERARE
RELRERE(ME) 28  AEER
TELARETREE

ERREETER  NQRKEITH
B e FTUCER 2 P 1S SR IR (AN BR 2 0] B 52
JEAE R SRR 7t AR (EE ) &
/ﬁnﬁq]

ARRAETHERARZRER TEE
s TAZEERE HESEARA-
FRERREERBHAREER  2ERY
Rz AnBEESE - WERBANE
R ERYHBRRIRE ZE M - WA
EIWNSYNCIE Sl 53

2023/24 Annual Report |

215



216

e TSR MR

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

40.23 Provision

‘!NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HiBEEARSTRREE (&)

Provisions for environment restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination
payments. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

40.24 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

40.25 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS’E‘”

e ISR M R

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

40 HMBEERSFRRUE(F)

(CONTINUED)
40.26 Leases 40267 HE
As a lessee ERAFEA

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-
lease components. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-
lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

‘!NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HiBEEARSTRREE (&)

40.26 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liabilities;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received;

° any initial direct costs; and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.
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e ISR M R

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

40 HMBEERSFRRUE(F)

(CONTINUED)
40.26 Leases (Continued) 40.26 FHE (#8)
As a lessee (Continued) ERAA (&)

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.

As a lessor

Lease income where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position based on their nature.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

"NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HiBEEARSTRREE (&)

40.27 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s owners
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
the Company’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

40.28 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value when there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to assets are deducted
against the carrying amount of the assets.

40.29 Hire purchase liabilities

Property, plant and equipment acquired under
hire purchase are capitalised in the consolidated
financial statements and depreciated in accordance
with the policy set out in Note 40.6 above. The
corresponding outstanding obligations due under
the hire purchase after deducting finance expenses
are included as liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements. Finance charges are allocated
to profit or loss over the period of the hire purchase
agreements on a straight line basis.
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